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If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 check the
following box. ☐
If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ☐
If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ☐
If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth
company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☒

Accelerated filer ☐
Smaller reporting company ☒
Emerging growth company ☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act. ☐

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further
amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act, as
amended, or until this Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to such Section 8(a), may determine.
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the Securities and Exchange Commission declares our
registration statement effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is
not permitted.
Preliminary Prospectus

Subject to Completion, dated February 10, 2022
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.
Shares of Common Stock

This is a firm commitment underwritten public offering of
shares of common stock, par value $.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), of Odyssey
Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (“Odyssey” or the “Company”), based on an assumed public offering price of $
per share, based on the last reported sales price of our
Common Stock on
, 2022.
Our Common Stock is presently quoted on the OTCQB Market (the “OTCQB”) under the stock ticker symbol of “ODII” since August 27, 2020. There is currently
limited trading activity of our Common Stock. We plan to apply to list our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol of “ODII”. No assurance can be
given that our listing application will be approved. If our Common Stock is not approved for listing on Nasdaq Capital Market, we will not consummate this offering.
We are an “emerging growth company” under the federal securities laws and will be subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.
Investing in our Common Stock is highly speculative and involves a significant degree of risk. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 13 of this prospectus for
a discussion of information that should be considered before making a decision to purchase our Common Stock.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this
prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
Per
Share
Public offering price
Underwriting discounts and commissions (1)
Proceeds to us, before expenses

$
$
$

Total
$
$
$

(1) See “Underwriting” for additional information regarding underwriting compensation. Does not include a non-accountable expense allowance equal to 1.0% of the public
offering payable to Maxim Group LLC.
We have granted the underwriter an option to purchase up to an additional $[●] of shares of Common Stock(equal to 15% of the shares of Common Stock sold in the
offering) from us at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions, and on the same terms and conditions as set forth above, for 45 days after the
date of this prospectus. If the underwriter exercises the option in full, the total public offering price will be $[●], the total underwriting discounts and commissions will be $[●],
and the total proceeds, before expenses, to us will be $[●].
The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of Common Stock to the purchasers on or about , 2022.
Sole Book Running Manager
Maxim Group LLC
The date of this prospectus is February 10, 2022.
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You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized any other person to provide you with information different from or in addition to
that contained in this prospectus. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell these securities
in any jurisdiction where an offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover
of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known or that are currently deemed immaterial may also impair our business operations. The risks and uncertainties
described in this document and other risks and uncertainties which we may face in the future will have a greater impact on those who purchase our Common Stock.
These purchasers will purchase our Common Stock at a specified fixed price, at the market price or at a privately negotiated price, and will run the risk of losing
their entire investments.
For investors outside the United States: We have not done anything that would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where
action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States. You are required to inform yourselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to this offering and the
distribution of this prospectus.
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
This summary highlights information contained in other parts of this prospectus. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that you should consider in
making your investment decision. Before investing in our Common Stock, you should read the entire prospectus carefully, including our consolidated financial statements and
the related notes included in this prospectus and the information set forth under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
When used herein, unless the context requires otherwise, references to the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, collectively with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc, a Delaware corporation.
About the Company
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 12, 2019. The Company acquired its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Odyssey Semiconductor”), on June 21, 2019 through a share exchange. Odyssey Semiconductor, formed on
April 11, 2019, commenced business operations on June 17, 2019 when it acquired its wholly-owned subsidiary, JR2J LLC (“JR2J”), from its founders, Richard Brown and
James Shealy, in exchange for shares of Odyssey Semiconductor.
The Company is a semiconductor device company developing high-voltage power switching components and systems based on proprietary Gallium Nitride (GaN)
processing technology. The premium power switching device market, which is described as applications where silicon-based (Si) systems currently perform less efficiently, is
projected to reach over $3.5 billion by 2025 and is currently dominated by the semiconductor materials silicon (Si) and silicon carbide (SiC). GaN-based systems outperform Si
and SiC based systems in every way due to the superior material properties of GaN. However, GaN devices have, to-date proven difficult to process using standard
semiconductor processing methods that are used to create Si and SiC based devices. We have developed a novel processing modification that allows GaN to be processed in a
manner that for the first time, makes high voltage GaN power switching devices both technically viable as well as reliable and manufacturable. Our mission is to disrupt the
rapidly growing premium power switching device market using with our newly developed GaN high voltage power transistor for switching applications.
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Overview of The Semiconductor Industry
The semiconductor industry was formed in 1960 when the production of semiconductors became a viable option. The global semiconductor market has grown rapidly,

from over $1 billion in 1964 to $425.96 billion in 2020 and projected to grow to $803.15 billion by 2028.
The application of semiconductors has expanded extensively from radio in the 1960s to crucial electronic components nowadays to all manufactured products with
computing or power management capabilities, ranging from computers and personal electronics to automotive goods and heavy machinery. Semiconductor devices mounted
inside many electronics appliances are important electronic components that support our everyday lives.
Integrated circuits (ICs) and electronic discrete components such as diodes (which are two-terminal electronic components that conduct current primarily in one
direction) and transistors (which are devices possessing an amplification function) are made of semiconductors.
The semiconductor industry is divided into six broad categories based on the end-use application:
●
●
●
●
●
●

Data processing: This comprises chips used in servers, computers, printers, and related hardware. This is the largest segment where semiconductors are used.
However, growth in this segment has moderated, and no breakthrough innovation is expected in the near future.
Communications: This comprises chips used in wired and wireless communication equipment such as smartphones, tablets, and broadband equipment. This segment
is growing at a faster pace.
Consumer electronics: This comprises chips used in household appliances, LCD TVs, and gaming consoles.
Industrial: This comprises chips used in scanning devices such as bar code scanners and point-of-sale terminals, medical devices such as patient monitors and
ultrasound imaging, and power supply equipment.
Automotive: This comprises chips used in electronic automotive components such as power steering and lighting.
Military and civil aerospace: This is a specialized segment where integrated circuits related to a particular application are built.

Advantage and Market Focus of the Company
Semiconductors are materials which have a conductivity between conductors (generally metals), which has full conductivity, and nonconductors or insulators (such as
most ceramics), which has negligible conductivity. The conductivity of a semiconductor material may be altered in useful ways by the deliberate, controlled introduction of
impurities into the crystal structure of the material to modulate its electrical, optical and structural properties. This process is known as doping.
Silicon (Si) is traditionally the most common semiconductor material. However, Si-based systems have proven to perform inadequately. We described the applications
where Si-based systems perform inadequately as the premium power switching device market, which was $571 million in 2018 and is projected to pass $5 billion by 2029. This
growth is largely driven by the rapid adoption of electric vehicles (EV) and hybrid electric vehicles (HEV) and the growing number of installations of renewables such as solar
and wind power as well as increased demand for more efficient industrial motor drives.
The premium power switching device market is currently dominated by the semiconductor material SiC. GaN-based systems outperform Si and SiC based systems in
every way due to the superior material properties of GaN. However, GaN devices have, to-date proven difficult to process using standard semiconductor processing methods
that are used to create Si and SiC based devices. While GaN can be implanted with ions through doping process like any other semiconductor, unlike Si or SiC, the temperature
required to activate the ions in GaN destroys the crystal, making implant and activate scheme impractical in the GaN material. The Company is working on developing
proprietary technology that allows activation of dopants in the GaN. This proprietary technology allows GaN to be processed in a manner that for the first time makes high
voltage GaN power switching devices viably manufacturable.
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The Company expects that its GaN power products will overlap the current market for SiC power switching market. Furthermore, the Company expects that its GaN
power products will exceed switching speeds and operating voltages currently attainable reliably with SiC.
GaN is both less expensive to produce and offers significant performance advantages over SiC in system efficiency and system size. Currently there are no GaN
devices in the market with ratings more than 1,000 V, which will be our strength area, however, our products will address voltages as low as 650 V.

Competition
There are many horizontal-conduction (meaning the current flows horizontally, along the surface of the wafer), high-electron-mobility transistor (HEMT) products
emerging from industry. HEMT transistors are able to operate at higher frequencies than ordinary transistors, up to millimeter wave frequencies, and are used in high-frequency
products such as cell phones, satellite television receivers, voltage converters, and radar equipment. However, horizontal-conduction device technology has difficulty scaling
beyond 650 V.
In contrast to horizontal-conduction devices, vertical-conduction (meaning the current flows from the top surface of the wafer to the bottom surface) devices could
easily have scaling beyond 650 V; however, there are currently few discrete parts available with ratings above 650 V, and none above 1,000 V. The Company believes it is
uniquely poised to enter into the >1,000 V device market and above with its vertical conduction device technology.
We expect that our competitors will include a number of larger companies, particularly in the SiC area (such as STMicro, WolfSpeed, Texas Instruments (TI), On
Semiconductor, and etc.) which have more substantial research and development budgets than us. Even smaller companies which are more targeted in their development efforts,
such as Nexgen Power Systems, Inc., may be our potential competitors. If we are unable to compete effectively with our competitors, our products or technologies may be
rendered obsolete or noncompetitive, which could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.

7

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and, for as long as we continue to be an
“emerging growth company,” we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging
growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory
vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, as an “emerging growth company,” we have
chosen to take advantage of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards, which will allow us to delay the adoption of new or revised
accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until those standards apply to private companies. Accordingly, our financial statements
may not be comparable to companies that comply with all public company accounting standards which could impact the valuation of our securities.
Corporate Information
Our office address is 9 Brown Road, Ithaca, NY 14850; telephone: (607) 351-9768.
Our corporate website address is https://www.odysseysemi.com/. Information accessed through our website is not incorporated into this prospectus and is not a part of
this prospectus.
Summary of Risk Factors
Investing in our Common Stock involves a high degree of risk. Below is a summary of material factors that make an investment in our Common Stock speculative or risky.
Importantly, this summary does not address all the risks that we face. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following and are discussed more fully in the section titled
“Risk factors”:
Risks Relating to Our Business, Growth Prospects and Operating Results
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

We face risks related to health epidemics and other outbreaks, which could significantly disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse impact on us. The
recent coronavirus outbreak could materially and adversely affect our business.
We are recently formed and are currently operating at a loss. Our lack of operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase the
risks associated with an investment in our shares of Common Stock.
Our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our executive officers and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose their services.
We may be unable to attract and retain highly skilled personnel.
There may be limitations on the effectiveness of our internal controls. Failure of our internal control over financial reporting could harm our business and financial
results.
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.
We depend on a limited number of customers and the loss of one or more of these customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
If we do not have access to capital on favorable terms, on the timeline we anticipate, or at all, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.
We may not obtain insurance coverage to adequately cover all significant risk exposures.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities.
We will be dependent on the services of third-party suppliers and contract manufacturers.
We may be subject to litigation from time to time during the normal course of business, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks Related to the Semiconductor Industry
●
●
●

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive, and our inability to compete effectively could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The semiconductor industry has experienced rapid consolidation and our inability to compete with large competitors or failure to identify attractive opportunities to
consolidate may materially adversely affect our business.
The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical, and significant downturns or upturns in customer demand can materially adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
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●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Rapid innovation and short product life cycles in the semiconductor industry can result in price erosion of older products, which may materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations.
Shortages or increased prices of raw materials could materially adversely affect our results of operations.
If we are unable to protect the intellectual property we use, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
We may be unable to maintain manufacturing efficiency, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
If we are unable to identify and make the substantial research and development investments required to remain competitive in our business, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Our products are based on novel Gallium Nitride (GaN) processing technology, which makes it difficult to predict the time and cost of product development.
Changes in tariffs or other government trade policies may materially adversely affect our business and results of operations, including by reducing demand for our
products.

Risk related to our Common Stock
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

We may not be able to maintain a listing of our Common Stock on Nasdaq.
If our Common Stock fails to maintain a listing on a national exchange such as Nasdaq, it may be considered a “penny stock,” and thereby be subject to additional sale
and trading regulations that may make it more difficult to sell.
The shares of our Common Stock may experience dilution by exercises of outstanding warrants and options.
There are a significant number of shares of Common Stock eligible for sale, which could depress the market price of such shares.
You will experience immediate and substantial dilution as a result of this offering.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and will be able take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to “emerging growth companies,” which could
make our Common Stock less attractive to investors.
Our officers and directors have significant control over shareholder matters.

●
●

Our officers have broad discretion in the use of proceeds.
We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future, and consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our Common Stock.
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THE OFFERING
Common Stock to be offered:

[●] shares of Common Stock ([●] shares if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option
in full)

Assumed public offering price:

$ per share, based on the last reported sales price of our Common Stock on , 2022

Common stock outstanding immediately before this offering:

12,726,911 shares of Common Stock (1)

Common stock to be outstanding after this offering:

[●] shares (or [●] shares if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full) (2)

Over-allotment option:

We have granted to the underwriters a 45-day option to purchase from us up to an additional 15%
of the shares of Common Stock sold in the offering, solely to cover over-allotments, if any, at the
initial public offering price, less the underwriting discounts.

Underwriter’s warrants

We have agreed to issue to the underwriter warrants to purchase a number of shares of Common
Stock equal in the aggregate to 5% of the total number of shares issued in this offering. The
underwriter’s warrants will be exercisable at a per share exercise price equal to 110% of the
public offering price per share of Common Stock sold in this offering. The underwriter’s warrants
are exercisable at any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, during the four-and-a-halfyear period commencing six months after the closing of this offering. The registration statement
of which this prospectus forms a part also registers the issuance of the shares of Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of the underwriter’s warrants. See “Underwriting” for more information.

Use of Proceeds:

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately $[●] million (or
approximately $[●] if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full), after
deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us. We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering primarily for general
corporate purposes, including working capital, funding the expansion of our business. See “Use
of Proceeds” on page 32 of this prospectus.

Proposed trading market and symbol:

Our Common Stock is presently quoted on the OTCQB under the stock ticker symbol of “ODII”.
In connection with this offering, we plan to file an application to list our shares of Common Stock
under the symbol “ODII” on the Nasdaq Capital Market. No assurance can be given that our
listing application will be approved. The closing of this offering is contingent upon the successful
listing of our Common Stock as on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

Risk Factors:

An investment in our company is highly speculative and involves a significant degree of risk. See
“Risk Factors” starting on page 13 and other information included in this prospectus for a
discussion of factors you should carefully consider before deciding to invest in shares of our
Common Stock.

Lock-up:

We, all of our directors, officers and holders of three percent (3%) or more of our shares of
Common Stock have agreed with the underwriters, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell,
transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of our Common Stock or securities convertible
into or exercisable or exchangeable for our Common Stock for a period of six months after the
closing of this offering. See “Underwriting” for more information.

(1)

As of February 10, 2022, excludes: (i) 155,966 shares of Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price of $1.50 per share, issued to Katalyst Securities
LLC, the placement agent in our August 2019 Private Placement; (ii) 89,730 shares of our Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price of $4.00 per
share, issued to GP Nurmenkari Inc., the placement agent in our March 2021 Private Placement; and (iii) 1,398,246 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of
options granted under our 2019 Equity Compensation Plan.

(2)

Excludes: (i) all the warrants and options included in footnote (1) above, and (ii) Underwriter’s Warrants issued pursuant to this offering.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA
The following tables set forth our summary historical financial data as of, and for the periods ended on, the dates indicated.The summary statements of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and the summary balance sheet data as of December 31, 2020 are derived from our audited financial statements and notes that are included
elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the summary balance sheet data as of September
30, 2021 are derived from our unaudited interim financial statements and notes that are included elsewhere in this prospectus. We have prepared the unaudited financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and on the same basis as the audited financial statements, and have included all adjustments,
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments that, in our opinion, we consider necessary for a fair statement of the financial information set forth in those statements. Our
historical results are not necessarily indicative of our results in any future period and results from our interim period may not necessarily be indicative of the results of the entire
year.
The following summary financial data should be read together with the information under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary financial data in this section are not intended to
replace our financial statements and the related notes and are qualified in their entirety by the financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Revenues

For The Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
693,074
$
1,102,071

$

Cost of Revenues

792,239

1,106,569

(99,165)

Gross Loss

(4,498 )

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative

1,073,737
1,658,994

430,592
869,643

Total Operating Expenses

2,732,681

1,300,235

(2,831,846)

(1,304,733)

Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense):
Forgiveness of PPP loan and other income
Interest expense
Total Other Income (Expense)

238,719
(14,407)
224,312
(2,607,534)

$

Net Loss

1
—
1
(1,304,732)

$

For the years ended
December 31,
Revenues
Cost of Revenues
Gross (Loss) Profit
Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Loss From Operations
Other Income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Net Loss

2020
1,374,420
1,453,005
(78,585)

$

2019
$

719,851
589,640
130,211

607,148
1,354,069
1,961,217
(2,039,802)
(3,306 )
(2,043,108)

$

155,527
1,434,089
1,589,616
(1,459,405)
1,236
(1,458,169)

$
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September 30,
2021 (unaudited)

December 31,
2020

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash
Contract assets
Accounts receivable
Deferred expenses
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total Current Assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Total Assets

3,409,429
—
48,045
4,941
35,261

$

3,497,676
103,188
894,967

272,705
62,273
10,877
185,084
33,569
564,508
103,149
986,407

$

4,495,831

$

1,654,064

$

119,205

$

187,046

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Loan payable – short term

77,278
30,000

53,858
260,447

Total Current Liabilities

226,483

501,351

Loans payable – long term
Total liabilities

554,853
781,336

621,600
1,122,951

—

—

1,272

1,143

Deferred revenue

Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding as
of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 45,000,000 shares authorized, 12,726,911 and 11,429,661 shares
issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

9,837,157
(6,123,934)

Total Stockholders’ Equity

3,714,495
$

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

4,495,831

4,046,370
(3,516,400)
531,113
$

1,654,064
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This prospectus contains “forward-looking statements,” which include information relating to management’s current view with respect to future events, future
financial performance, financial projections, strategies, expectations, competitive environment and regulation. Words such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements may include projections with respect to market size and acceptance, revenues and earnings, marketing and sales
strategies, and business operations. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and may not be accurate indications of when
such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information we have when those statements are made or management’s good faith belief
as of that time with respect to future events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in
or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

our limited operating history;
our current and future capital requirements;
our dependence on business and consumer requirements for the products that we offer;
our ability to develop products to satisfy changing customer demands or regulatory requirements;
our ability to maintain and/or protect the validity of our intellectual property;
our ability to retain key executive members;
our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel
our dependence on a limited number of customers;
the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses and capital requirements;
our ability to adequately support growth;
the competitive nature of the semiconductor industry;
our ability to identify and make the substantial research and development investments; and
the availability and affordability of raw materials.

All forward-looking statements included in this prospectus are based on information available to us on the date of this prospectus. Except to the extent required by
applicable laws or rules, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements contained above and throughout this prospectus.
The market in which the Company intends to operate in is a highly competitive business environment. The Company’s business is and will continue to be affected by
government regulation, economic, political and social conditions, and consumer response to new and existing products and services, technological developments and,
particularly in view of new technologies, the ability to protect intellectual property rights. The Company’s actual results could differ materially from management’s expectations
because of changes in such factors. Other factors and risks could also cause actual results to differ from those contained in forward-looking statements. Due to such
uncertainties and the risk factors set forth herein, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance upon such forward-looking statements.
RISK FACTORS
An investment in our Common Stock is speculative and involves a high degree of risk, including the risk of a loss of your entire investment. You should carefully
consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information contained in this prospectus before purchasing shares of our Common Stock. If any of the
following risks actually materialize, our business, financial condition, prospects and/or operations could suffer. In such event, the value of our Common Stock could decline,
and you could lose all or a substantial portion of the money that you pay for our Common Stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we are
facing. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we deem immaterial may also impair our business operations or financial condition.
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Risks Relating to Our Business, Growth Prospects and Operating Results
We face risks related to health epidemics and other outbreaks, which could significantly disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse impact on us. The recent
coronavirus outbreak could materially and adversely affect our business.
An outbreak of a new respiratory illness caused by coronavirus disease 2019 (“ COVID-19”) has resulted in millions of infections and hundreds of thousands of deaths
worldwide as of the date of filing of this prospectus, and continues to spread across the globe, including within the United States. The outbreak of COVID-19 or by other
epidemics could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If the spread of the virus worsens in regions in which we have
material operations or sales, our business activities originating from affected areas, including sales, manufacturing and supply chain related activities, and could be adversely
affected. Disruptive activities could include the temporary closure of our facilities and those used in our supply chain processes, restrictions on the shipment of our products,
business closures in impacted areas, and restrictions on our employees’ and consultants’ ability to travel and to meet with customers. If workers at one or more of our offices or
the offices of our suppliers or manufacturers become ill or are quarantined and in either or both events are therefore unable to work, our operations could be subject to
disruption. Further, if our manufacturers become unable to obtain necessary raw materials or components, we may incur higher supply costs or our manufacturers may be
required to reduce production levels, either of which may negatively affect our financial condition or results of operations.
As events are rapidly changing, we do not know how long the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures that have been introduced to respond to it will disrupt our
operations or the full extent of that disruption. Further, once we are able to restart normal business hours and operations doing so may take time and will involve costs and
uncertainty. We also cannot predict how long the effects of COVID-19 and the efforts to contain it will continue to impact our business after the pandemic is under control.
Governments could take additional restrictive measures to combat the pandemic that could further impact our business or the economy in the geographies in which we operate.
It is also possible that the impact of the pandemic and response on our suppliers, customers and markets will persist for some time after governments ease their restrictions.
These measures have negatively impacted, and may continue to impact, our business and financial condition as the responses to control COVID-19 continue.
We are recently formed and are currently operating at a loss. Our lack of operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase the
risks associated with an investment in our shares of Common Stock.

The Company was recently formed in 2019 and is currently operating at a loss. Therefore, the Company is subject to the risks involved with any speculative earlystage enterprise. There is no assurance that the Company will successfully offer, market and distribute its products or services. The Company may continue to experience net
losses and negative cash flows from operations or become only marginally profitable. The time required to reach substantial profitability is highly uncertain. There is no
assurance that the Company will be able to achieve substantial profitability or that profitability, if achieved, can be sustained on an ongoing basis. There is no assurance that
actual cash requirements will not exceed our estimates. Such risks for the Company include, but are not limited to:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

an evolving, unpredictable and unproven business model;
an intensely competitive developing market;
rapidly changing technology and unpredictable characteristics of materials and processes;
managing growth;
dependence on key personnel;
limited operating capital and limited access to credit; and
other unforeseen changes and developments.
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In order to address these risks, the Company must, among other things:
●
●
●
●
●

implement and successfully execute its business strategy;
provide superior customer service;
respond to competitive developments;
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel; and
respond to unforeseen and changing circumstances.

The Company cannot assure investors that it will succeed in addressing these risks.
Our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our executive officers and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose their services.
Our future success depends substantially on the continued services of our executive officers. We do not maintain key man life insurance on any of our executive
officers and directors. If one or more of our executive officers are unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, we may not be able to replace them readily, if at all.
Under such circumstances our business may be severely disrupted and we may incur additional expenses attempting to recruit and retain new officers.
We may be unable to attract and retain highly skilled personnel.
Our success depends on our ability to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled personnel, including research, technical, marketing, management and staff personnel. In
the semiconductor industry, the competition for qualified personnel, particularly experienced design engineers and other technical employees, is intense, particularly when the
business cycle is improving. During such periods, competitors may try to recruit our most valuable technical employees. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will be
able to retain our current personnel or recruit the key personnel we require. Loss of the services of, or failure to effectively recruit, qualified personnel, including senior
managers, could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position and on our business.
There may be limitations on the effectiveness of our internal controls. Failure of our internal control over financial reporting could harm our business and financial
results.
Proper systems of internal controls over financial accounting and disclosure are critical to the operation of a public company. Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Internal control over financial
reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary for preparation of the financial statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of our assets are made in accordance with management
authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Any failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting could limit our ability to report our
financial results accurately and timely or to detect and prevent fraud.
As we are a start-up company and a new public company, we are at the very early stages of establishing, and we may be unable to effectively establish such systems.
This would leave us without the ability to reliably assimilate and compile financial information about the Company and significantly impair our ability to prevent error and
detect fraud, all of which would have a negative impact on the Company from many perspectives. Moreover, we do not expect that disclosure controls or internal control over
financial reporting, even if established, will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud could materially adversely impact us.
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In connection with the evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 that was undertaken by management in connection with the
preparation of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and as of September 30, 2021 for our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2021, management determined that our lack of segregation of duties constituted a material weakness as of December 31, 2020 and September 30,
2021. In addition, we do not have a Chief Financial Officer and sufficient resources in the Company’s accounting function, which restricts the Company’s ability to gather,
analyze and properly review information related to financial reporting. Those functions are currently performed by our Interim Chief Executive Officer, Richard Brown. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that a reasonable possibility exists that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The Company is considering various remediation methods to
mitigate such material weakness, but has not yet adopted or implemented any plan to remedy such deficiency.
We may be unable to complete our analysis of our internal controls over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be
effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our Common Stock.
We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by our management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting for each fiscal year. This assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal
control over financial reporting, as well as a statement that our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an opinion on our internal control over financial
reporting.

If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or, if applicable, our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to
express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would cause
the price of our Common Stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC. We will also be required to disclose changes made in our internal
control and procedures on a quarterly basis.
However, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
pursuant to Section 404 until the date we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the recently enacted JOBS Act, if we continue to take advantage of the
exemptions contained in the JOBS Act. We will remain an “emerging growth company” for up to five years, although if the market value of our Common Stock that is held by
non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, we would cease to be an “emerging growth company” as of the following December 30.
At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are
documented, designed or operating. Our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any of
the foregoing occurrences, should they come to pass, could negatively impact the public perception of our company, which could have a negative impact on our stock price.
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.
Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly-traded company, interacting with public company investors and complying with
the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage the Company as a public company subject to
significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These obligations and
constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
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We depend on a limited number of customers and the loss of one or more of these customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
During the period ended September 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 28% and 85% of revenues respectively were generated from one
governmental entity pursuant to our contract with such entity, which contract was completed in 2021. One client accounted for approximately 32% of revenues for the nine
months ended September 30, 2021. No other client accounted for more than 10% of revenues. 0% and 100% of contract assets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively, are also related to this governmental client. Deferred costs and deferred revenues at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 relate to several different
clients, of which one client represents more than 75% of both categories at December 30, 2020.
Due to the concentration of revenues from a limited number of customers, if we do not receive the payments expected from any of these major customers, our revenue,
results of operation and financial condition will be negatively impacted.
In addition, we cannot assure that any of our customers in the future will not cease purchasing products or services from us in favor of products or services produced
by other suppliers, significantly reduce orders or seek price reductions in the future, and any such event could have a material adverse effect on our revenue, profitability, and
results of operations.
Furthermore, if a significant portion of our revenue is derived from customers in certain industries, a downturn or lower sales to customers in such industries could
materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
If we do not have access to capital on favorable terms, on the timeline we anticipate, or at all, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.
We currently anticipate that our current cash on hand, grant revenue and customer payments will be sufficient to fund our operations for the next 12 months. However,
we anticipate that we will routinely incur significant costs to conduct research and development, implement new manufacturing and information technologies, to increase our
productivity and efficiency, to upgrade equipment and to expand production capacity. There can be no assurance that we will realize a return on the capital expended. We also
anticipate incurring material amounts of debt to fund these requirements in the future. Significant volatility or disruption in the global financial markets may result in us not
being able to obtain additional financing on favorable terms, on the timeline we anticipate, or at all, and we may not be able to refinance, if necessary, any outstanding debt
when due, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. We currently have no commitments for any additional capital and there can be no
assurance that we will receive any such commitments, or that any commitments for capital will be on terms that are acceptable to us. Any inability to obtain additional funding
on favorable terms, on the timeline we anticipate, or at all, may cause us to curtail our operations significantly, reduce planned capital expenditures and research and
development, or obtain funds through arrangements that management does not currently anticipate, including disposing of our assets and relinquishing rights to certain
technologies, the occurrence of any of which may significantly impair our ability to remain competitive. If our operating results falter, our cash flow or capital resources prove
inadequate, or if interest rates increase significantly, we could face liquidity problems that could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.
If our estimates related to expenditures and/or expected revenue are inaccurate, our business may fail.
The success of our business is dependent in part upon the accuracy of our management’s estimates of expenditures and revenue for the next 12 months and beyond. If
such estimates are inaccurate or we encounter unforeseen expenses and delays or significant unexpected reduction of revenue, we may not be able to carry out our business plan,
which could result in the failure of our business.
If the Company cannot effectively manage growth by implementing and improving its operational and financial systems, the Company’s business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
In order to maximize the potential growth in the Company’s market opportunities, the Company may have to expand rapidly and significantly. The impetus for
expansion could place a significant strain on the management, operational and financial resources of the Company. In order to manage growth, the Company will be required to
implement and continually improve its operational and financial systems, expand operations, attract and retain superior management and train, manage and expand its
employee base. The Company can give no assurance that it will effectively manage its operations that its system, procedures, or controls will adequately support operations or
that management of the Company will successfully implement its business plan. If the Company cannot effectively manage growth, the Company’s business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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We may not obtain insurance coverage to adequately cover all significant risk exposures.

We will be exposed to liabilities that are unique to the products we provide. There can be no assurance that we will acquire or maintain insurance for certain risks, that
the amount of our insurance coverage will be adequate to cover all claims or liabilities, or that we will not be forced to bear substantial costs resulting from risks and
uncertainties of business. It also may not be possible to obtain insurance to protect against all operational risks and liabilities. The failure to obtain adequate insurance coverage
on terms favorable to us, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities.
We face a potential risk of product liability as a result of any of the products that we develop, manufacture and/or offer for sale. For example, we may be sued if any
product we develop, manufacture and/or sell allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such
product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability and
a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may
incur substantial liabilities. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability
claims may result in:
●
●
●
●
●
●

decreased demand for products that we may offer for sale;
injury to our reputation;
costs to defend the related litigation;
a diversion of management’s time and our resources;
substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; and
product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions.

We currently do not maintain any product liability insurance. We may obtain product liability insurance in the future. However, there is no guarantee that we will be
able to obtain product liability insurance or that such insurance will be affordable or sufficient. If we are unable to obtain or retain sufficient product liability insurance
coverage, it could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products we develop. Even if we obtain product liability insurance in the future, we may have to pay amounts
awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain,
sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
Warranty claims, product liability claims and product recalls could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Manufacturing semiconductors is a highly complex and precise process, requiring production in a tightly controlled, clean environment. Minute impurities in our
manufacturing materials, contaminants in the manufacturing environment, manufacturing equipment failures, and other defects can cause our products to be non-compliant with
customer requirements or otherwise nonfunctional. We face an inherent business risk of exposure to warranty and product liability claims in the event that our products fail to
perform as expected or such failure of our products results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury or property damage (or both). In addition, if any of our designed products are
or are alleged to be defective, we may be required to participate in their recall. A successful warranty or product liability claim against us in excess of our available insurance
coverage, if any, and established reserves, or a requirement that we participate in a product recall, could have material adverse effects on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Additionally, in the event that our products fail to perform as expected or such failure of our products results in a recall, our reputation may be damaged,
which could make it more difficult for us to sell our products to existing and prospective customers and could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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Since a defect or failure in our product could give rise to failures in the goods that incorporate them (and claims for consequential damages against our customers from
their customers), we may face claims for damages that are disproportionate to the revenue and profits we receive from the products involved. We plan to attempt to limit our
liability through our standard terms and conditions of sale and other customer contracts in certain instances; however, there is no assurance that such limitations will be
effective. To the extent that we are liable for damages in excess of the revenue and profits we received from the products involved, our results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.
A significant product defect or product recall could materially and adversely affect our brand image, causing a decline in our sales and profitability, and could reduce or
deplete our financial resources.
Provided we are successful in developing and selling our products, any product defect could materially harm our brand image and could force us to conduct a product
recall. This could damage our relationships with our customers. A product recall would be particularly harmful to us because we will likely have limited financial and
administrative resources to effectively manage a product recall and it would detract management’s attention from implementing our core business strategies. As a result, a
significant product defect or product recall could cause a decline in our sales and profitability and could reduce or deplete our financial resources.
We will be dependent on the services of third-party suppliers and contract manufacturers, and any disruption in or deterioration of the quality of the services delivered by
such third parties could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We plan to use third-party contractors for certain of our manufacturing activities. Our agreements with these manufacturers may require us to commit to purchase
services based on forecasted product needs, which may be inaccurate, and, in some cases, require longer-term commitments. We may be also dependent upon a limited number
of highly specialized third-party suppliers for required components and materials for certain of our key technologies. Arranging for replacement manufacturers and suppliers
can be time consuming and costly, and the number of qualified alternative providers can be extremely limited. Our business operations, productivity and customer relations
could be materially adversely affected if these contractual relationships were disrupted or terminated, the cost of such services increased significantly, the quality of the services
provided deteriorated or our forecasted needs proved to be materially incorrect.
Natural disasters and other business disruptions could cause significant harm to our business operations and facilities and could adversely affect our supply chain and our
customer base, any of which may materially adversely affect our business, results of operation, and financial condition.
We expect that our manufacturing and other facilities, as well as the operations of our third-party suppliers, are susceptible to losses and interruptions caused by floods,
hurricanes, earthquakes, typhoons, and similar natural disasters, as well as power outages, telecommunications failures, industrial accidents, and similar events. The occurrence
of natural disasters in any of the regions in which we or our suppliers will operate could severely disrupt the operations of our businesses by negatively impacting our supply
chain, our ability to deliver products, and the cost of our products. Such events can negatively impact revenue and earnings and can significantly impact cash flow, both from
decreased revenue and from increased costs associated with the event. In addition, these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease. We may in the
future carry insurance to generally compensate for losses of the type noted above, however, even if we obtain such insurance it may not be adequate to cover all losses that may
be incurred or continue to be available in the affected area at commercially reasonable rates and terms. To the extent any losses from natural disasters or other business
disruptions are not covered by insurance, any costs, write-downs, impairments and decreased revenue can materially adversely affect our business, our results of operations and
our financial condition.
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We may be subject to litigation from time to time during the normal course of business, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
From time to time in the normal course of business or otherwise, we may become subject to litigation that may result in liability material to our financial statements as
a whole or may negatively affect our operating results if changes to business operation are required. The cost to defend such litigation may be significant and may require a
diversion of our resources. There also may be adverse publicity associated with litigation that could negatively affect customer perception of our products and business,
regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are ultimately found liable. As a result, litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
There is no assurance on the future successful completion of strategic transactions by us to successfully implement our business strategies.
Our ability to complete future strategic transactions could be important to the successful implementation of our business strategies, including our strategies to
strengthen our geographic diversity and broaden its customer base. Successful completion of an acquisition or other similar transaction depends on a number of factors that are
not entirely within our control, including our ability to negotiate acceptable terms, conclude satisfactory agreements and obtain all necessary regulatory approvals. In seeking to
acquire a target company, we may face competition from other companies interested in acquiring the target company that have significantly greater financial and other resources
than us. If we need to finance a transaction, we may not be able to obtain the necessary financing on satisfactory terms and within the timeframe that would permit the
transaction to proceed. If any of these factors prevents us from completing one or more strategic transactions, we may not be able to expand our business in the manner and on
the schedule that we plan. In addition, we may incur significant costs arising from our efforts to engage in strategic transactions. These costs may exceed the returns that we
realize from a given transaction. Moreover, these expenditures may not result in the successful completion of a transaction.
Even if we complete one or more strategic transactions, we may be unable to integrate successfully the personnel and operations of a new business or achieve the
operational synergies or other benefits that we had anticipated. Moreover, we might fail to discover liabilities of a business or operating or other problems prior to completing a
transaction. We could experience adverse accounting and financial consequences, such as the need to make large provisions against the acquired assets or to write down
acquired assets. We might also experience a dilutive effect on our earnings. Depending on how any such transaction is structured, there may be an adverse impact on our capital
structure. Further, an acquisition could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management and employees or lead to increased expenses.
Risks Related to the Semiconductor Industry
The semiconductor industry is highly competitive, and our inability to compete effectively could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The semiconductor industry is highly competitive, and our ability to compete successfully depends on elements both within and outside of our control. We will face
significant competition from major global semiconductor companies as well as smaller companies focused on specific market niches. In addition, companies not currently in
direct competition with us may introduce competing products in the future.
Our inability to compete effectively could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations. Products or technologies developed by competitors that
are larger and have more substantial research and development budgets, or that are smaller and more targeted in their development efforts, may render our products or
technologies obsolete or noncompetitive. We also may be unable to market and sell our products if they are not competitive on the basis of price, quality, technical performance,
features, system compatibility, customized design, innovation, availability, delivery timing and reliability. If we fail to compete effectively on developing strategic relationships
with customers and customer sales and technical support, our sales and revenue may be materially adversely affected. Competitive pressures may limit our ability to raise
prices, and any inability to maintain revenue or raise prices to offset increases in costs could have a significant adverse effect on our gross margin. Reduced sales and lower
gross margins would materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
20

The semiconductor industry has experienced rapid consolidation and our inability to compete with large competitors or failure to identify attractive opportunities to
consolidate may materially adversely affect our business.
The semiconductor industry is characterized by the high costs associated with developing marketable products and manufacturing technologies as well as high levels of
investment in production capabilities. As a result, the semiconductor industry has experienced, and may continue to experience, significant consolidation among companies and
vertical integration among customers. Larger competitors resulting from consolidations may have certain advantages over us, including, but not limited to: substantially greater
financial and other resources with which to withstand adverse economic or market conditions and pursue development, engineering, manufacturing, marketing and distribution
of their products; longer independent operating histories; presence in key markets; patent protection; and greater name recognition. In addition, we may be at a competitive
disadvantage to our peers if we fail to identify attractive opportunities to acquire companies to expand our business. Consolidation among our competitors and integration
among our customers could erode our market share, negatively impact our capacity to compete and require us to restructure our operations, any of which would have a material
adverse effect on our business.
Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
In recent years, worldwide semiconductor industry sales have tracked the impact of the financial crisis, subsequent recovery and persistent economic uncertainty. We
believe that the state of economic conditions in the United States is particularly uncertain due to the global pandemic as well as recent and expected shifts in legislative and
regulatory conditions concerning, among other matters, international trade and taxation, and that an uneven recovery or a renewed global downturn may put pressure on our
sales due to reductions in customer demand as well as customers deferring purchases. Volatile and/or uncertain economic conditions can adversely impact sales and profitability
and make it difficult for us and our competitors to accurately forecast and plan our future business activities. To the extent we incorrectly plan for favorable economic
conditions that do not materialize or take longer to materialize than expected, we may face oversupply of our products relative to customer demand. Reduced customer spending
may in the future drive us and our competitors, to reduce product pricing, which will result in a negative effect on gross profit. Moreover, volatility in revenue as a result of
unpredictable economic conditions may alter our anticipated working capital needs and interfere with our short-term and long-term strategies. To the extent that our sales,
profitability and strategies are negatively affected by downturns or volatility in general economic conditions, our business and results of operations may be materially adversely
affected.
The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical, and significant downturns or upturns in customer demand can materially adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and, as a result, is subject to significant downturns and upturns in customer demand for semiconductors and related
products. We cannot accurately predict the timing of future downturns and upturns in the semiconductor industry or how severe and prolonged these conditions might be.
Significant downturns often occur in connection with, or in anticipation of, maturing product cycles (for semiconductors and for the end-user products in which they are used) or
declines in general economic conditions and can result in reduced product demand, production overcapacity, high inventory levels and accelerated erosion of average selling
prices, any of which could materially adversely affect our operating results as a result of increased operating expenses outpacing decreased revenue, reduced margins,
underutilization of our manufacturing capacity and/or asset impairment charges. On the other hand, significant upturns can cause us to be unable to satisfy demand in a timely
and cost efficient manner. In the event of such an upturn, we may not be able to expand our workforce and operations in a sufficiently timely manner, procure adequate
resources and raw materials, or locate suitable third-party suppliers to respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing products or to the demand for new products
requested by our customers, and our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Rapid innovation and short product life cycles in the semiconductor industry can result in price erosion of older products, which may materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations.
The semiconductor industry is characterized by rapid innovation and short product life cycles, which often results in price erosion, especially with respect to products
containing older technology. Products are frequently replaced by more technologically advanced substitutes and, as demand for older technology falls, the price at which such
products can be sold drops, in some cases precipitously. In addition, our and our competitors’ excess inventory levels can accelerate general price erosion.
Shortages or increased prices of raw materials could materially adversely affect our results of operations.
Our manufacturing processes will rely on many raw materials. Generally, we expect that our agreements with suppliers of raw materials will impose no minimum or
continuing supply obligations, and we will obtain our raw materials and supplies from a large number of sources on a just-in-time basis. From time to time, suppliers of raw
materials may extend lead times, limit supplies or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other factors beyond our control. Shortages could occur in various essential raw
materials due to interruption of supply or increased demand. If we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of raw materials in a timely manner, the costs of our raw materials
increase significantly, their quality deteriorates or they give rise to compatibility or performance issues in our products, our results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.
Our facilities and processes may be interdependent and an operational disruption at any particular facility could have a material adverse effect on our ability to produce
our products, which would materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We may utilize an integrated manufacturing platform in which multiple facilities may each produce one or more components necessary for the assembly of a single
product. If we do, an operational disruption at a facility toward the front-end of our manufacturing process may have a disproportionate impact on our ability to produce our
products. For example, if our multiple facilities rely predominantly on one third-party for manufacturing at the front-end of its manufacturing process, in the event of any
operational disruption, natural or man-made disaster or other extraordinary event at such third-party facility, we may be unable to effectively source replacement components on
acceptable terms from qualified third parties, in which case our ability to produce our products could be materially disrupted or delayed.
Conversely, if our facilities are single source facilities that only produce one of our end-products, a disruption at any such facility would materially delay or cease
production of the related product. In the event of any such operational disruption, we may experience difficulty in beginning production of replacement components or products
at new facilities (for example, due to construction delays) or transferring production to other existing facilities (for example, due to capacity constraints or difficulty in
transitioning to new manufacturing processes), any of which could result in a loss of future revenues and materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
If we are unable to protect the intellectual property we use, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
The enforceability of any patents, trademarks, copyrights, software licenses and other intellectual property (“IP”) we own may be uncertain in certain circumstances.
Effective IP protection may be unavailable, limited or not applied for in the U.S. and internationally. The various laws and regulations governing registered and unregistered IP
assets, patents, trade secrets, trademarks, mask works and copyrights to protect products and technologies are subject to legislative and regulatory change and interpretation by
courts. With respect to our IP generally, we cannot assure you that:
●
●
●
●

any of the U.S. or foreign patents and pending patent applications that we may employ in our business will not lapse or be invalidated, circumvented, challenged,
abandoned or licensed to others;
any of our pending or future patent applications will be issued or have the coverage originally sought;
any of the trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, know-how or mask works that we employ or will employ in our business will not lapse or be invalidated,
circumvented, challenged, abandoned or licensed to others; or
any of our pending or future trademark, copyright, or mask work applications will be issued or have the coverage originally sought.
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If we seek to enforce our rights, we may be subject to claims that the IP right is invalid, is otherwise not enforceable or is licensed to the party against whom we are
asserting a claim. In addition, our assertion of IP rights may result in the other party seeking to assert alleged IP rights of its own against us, which may materially adversely
impact our business. An unfavorable ruling in these sorts of matters could include money damages or an injunction prohibiting us from manufacturing or selling one or more
products, which could in turn negatively affect our business, results of operations or cash flows.
In addition, some of our products and technologies may not be covered by any patents or pending patent applications. We intend to protect our proprietary
technologies, including technologies that may not be patented or patentable, in part by confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, inventors’ rights agreements with our
collaborators, advisors, employees and consultants. We cannot assure you that these agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach or that
persons or institutions will not assert rights to IP arising out of our research. Should we be unable to protect our IP, competitors may develop products or technologies that
duplicate our products or technologies, benefit financially from innovations for which we bore the costs of development and undercut the sales and marketing of our products,
all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If our technologies are subject to claims of infringement on the intellectual property rights of third parties, efforts to address such claims could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations.
We may from time to time be subject to claims that we may be infringing third-party IP rights. If necessary or desirable, we may seek licenses under such IP rights.
However, we cannot assure you that we will obtain such licenses or that the terms of any offered licenses will be acceptable to us. The failure to obtain a license from a thirdparty for IP we use could cause us to incur substantial liabilities or to suspend the manufacture or shipment of products or our use of processes requiring such technologies.
Further, we may be subject to IP litigation, which could cause us to incur significant expense, materially adversely affect sales of the challenged product or technologies and
divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, whether or not such litigation is resolved in our favor. In the event of an adverse outcome in any such litigation,
we may be required to:
●
●
●
●
●
●

pay substantial damages;
indemnify customers or distributors;
cease the manufacture, use, sale or importation of infringing products;
expend significant resources to develop or acquire non-infringing technologies;
discontinue the use of processes; or
obtain licenses, which may not be available on reasonable terms, to the infringing technologies.

The outcome of IP litigation is inherently uncertain and, if not resolved in our favor, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results

of operations.
We may be unable to maintain manufacturing efficiency, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
We believe that our success will materially depend on our ability to maintain or improve our margin levels related to manufacturing. Semiconductor manufacturing
requires advanced equipment and significant capital investment, leading to high fixed costs, which include depreciation expense. Manufacturing semiconductor components also
involves highly complex processes that we and our competitors are continuously modifying to improve yields and product performance. In addition, impurities, waste or other
difficulties in the manufacturing process can lower production yields. Our manufacturing efficiency will be an important factor in our future profitability, and we cannot assure
you that we will be able to manufacture efficiently, increase manufacturing efficiency to the same extent as our competitors, or be successful in our manufacturing
rationalization plans. If we are unable to utilize manufacturing and testing facilities at expected levels, or if production capacity increases while revenue does not, the fixed costs
and other operating expenses associated with these facilities will not be fully absorbed, resulting in higher average unit costs and lower gross profits, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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The failure to successfully implement cost reduction initiatives, including through restructuring activities, could materially adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
From time to time, we may implement cost reduction initiatives in response to significant downturns in our industry, including relocating manufacturing to lower cost
regions, transitioning higher-cost external supply to internal manufacturing, working with our material suppliers to lower costs, implementing personnel reductions and
voluntary retirement programs, reducing employee compensation, temporary shutdowns of facilities with mandatory vacation and aggressively streamlining our overhead.
We cannot assure you that any cost reduction initiatives will be successfully or timely implemented or that they will materially and positively impact profitability.
If we are unable to identify and make the substantial research and development investments required to remain competitive in our business, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
The semiconductor industry requires substantial investment in research and development in order to develop and bring to market new and enhanced technologies and products.
The development of new products is a complex and time-consuming process and often requires significant capital investment and lead time for development and testing. We
cannot assure you that we will have sufficient resources to maintain the level of investment in research and development that is required to remain competitive.
In addition, the lengthy development cycle for our products will limit our ability to adapt quickly to changes affecting the product markets and requirements of our
customers and end-users. There can be no assurance that we will win competitive bid selection processes, known as “design wins,” for new products. In addition, design wins do
not guarantee that we will make customer sales or that we will generate sufficient revenue to recover design and development investments, as expenditures for technology and
product development are generally made before the commercial viability for such developments can be assured. There is no assurance that we will realize a return on the capital
expended to develop new products, that a significant investment in new products will be profitable or that we will have margins as high as we anticipate at the time of
investment or have experienced historically. To the extent that we underinvest in our research and development efforts, or that our investments and capital expenditures in
research and development do not lead to sales of new products, we may be unable to bring to market technologies and products that are attractive to our customers, and as a
result our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
We may be unable to develop new products to satisfy changing customer demands or regulatory requirements, which may materially adversely affect our business and
results of operations.
The semiconductor industry is characterized by rapidly changing technologies, evolving regulatory and industry standards and certifications, changing customer needs
and frequent new product introductions. Our success will be largely dependent on our ability to accurately predict, identify and adapt to changes affecting the requirements of
our customers in a timely and cost-effective manner. Additionally, the emergence of new industry or regulatory standards and certification requirements may adversely affect
the demand for our products. We plan to focus our new product development efforts on market segments and applications that we anticipate will experience growth, but there
can be no assurance that we will be successful in identifying high-growth areas or develop products that meet industry standards or certification requirements in a timely
manner. A fundamental shift in technologies, the regulatory climate or consumption patterns and preferences in our existing product markets or the product markets of our
customers or end-users could make our current products obsolete, prevent or delay the introduction of new products that we planned to make or render our current or new
products irrelevant to our customers’ needs. If our new product development efforts fail to align with the needs of our customers, including due to circumstances outside of our
control like a fundamental shift in the product markets of our customers and end users or regulatory changes, our business and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.
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Uncertainties regarding the timing and amount of customer orders could lead to excess inventory and write-downs of inventory that could materially adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.
We expect that our sales will be typically made pursuant to individual purchase orders or customer agreements, and we do not expect to have long-term supply
arrangements with our customers requiring a commitment to purchase. We expect that the agreements with our customers may allow them to cancel orders prior to shipment for
standard products and, generally prior to start of production for custom products without incurring a penalty. We anticipate to routinely generate inventory based on customers’
estimates of end-user demand for their products, which is difficult to predict. In times of under supply for certain products, some customers could respond by inflating their
demand signals. As markets level off and supply capacity begins to match actual market demands, we could experience an increased risk of inventory write-downs, which may
materially adversely affect our results of operations and our financial condition. In addition, our customers may change their inventory practices on short notice for any reason.
Furthermore, short customer lead times are standard in the industry due to overcapacity. The cancellation or deferral of product orders, the return of previously sold products, or
overproduction of products due to the failure of anticipated orders to materialize could result in excess obsolete inventory, which could result in write-downs of inventory or the
incurrence of significant cancellation penalties under our arrangements with our raw materials and equipment suppliers. Unsold inventory, canceled orders and cancellation
penalties may materially adversely affect our results of operations, and inventory write-downs, which may materially adversely affect our financial condition.
Our customers may require our products to undergo a lengthy and expensive qualification process without any assurance of product sales.
Prior to purchasing our products, our customers may require that our products undergo an extensive qualification process, which involves testing of the products in the
customer’s system as well as rigorous reliability testing. This qualification process may continue for a few months or longer. However, qualification of a product by a customer
does not ensure any sales of the product to that customer. Even after successful qualification and sales of a product to a customer, a subsequent revision to the product or
software, changes in the product’s manufacturing process or the selection of a new supplier by us may require a new qualification process, which may result in delays and in us
holding excess or obsolete inventory. After our products are qualified, it can take an additional few months or more before the customer commences volume production of
components or devices that incorporate our products. Despite these uncertainties, we will devote substantial resources, including design, engineering, sales, marketing and
management efforts, toward qualifying our products with customers in anticipation of sales. If we are unsuccessful or delayed in qualifying any of our products with a customer,

such failure or delay would preclude or delay sales of such product to the customer, which may impede our growth and cause our business to suffer.
Our products are based on novel Gallium Nitride (GaN) processing technology, which makes it difficult to predict the time and cost of product development.
Our products are based on novel GaN processing technology. Our future success depends on the successful development of high-voltage power switching components
and systems based on GaN processing technology. There can be no assurance that any development problems we experience in the future related to our products will not cause
significant delays or unanticipated costs, or that such development problems can be solved. We may also experience delays in developing a sustainable, reproducible and
manufacturing process, which may prevent us from commercializing our products on a timely or profitable basis, if at all.
Our potential future global operations may subject us to risks inherent in doing business on a global level that could adversely impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
We anticipate that a certain amount of our total revenue may be derived from countries outside of the United States, and we might maintain certain operations in these
regions. In addition, we may rely on a number of contract manufacturers whose operations are primarily located in outside of the United States. Risks inherent in doing business
on a global level include, among others, the following:
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●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

economic and geopolitical instability (including as a result of the threat or occurrence of armed international conflict or terrorist attacks);
changes in regulatory requirements, international trade agreements, tariffs, customs, duties and other trade barriers;
licensing requirements for the import or export of certain products;
exposure to different legal standards, customs, business practices, tariffs, duties and other trade barriers, including changes with respect to price protection,
competition practices, IP, anti-corruption and environmental compliance, trade and travel restrictions, pandemics, import and export license requirements and
restrictions, and accounts receivable collections;
transportation and other supply chain delays and disruptions;
power supply shortages and shutdowns;
difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including collective bargaining agreements and workers councils, exposure to foreign labor laws and other
employment and labor issues;
currency fluctuations;
currency convertibility and repatriation;
taxation of our earnings and the earnings of our personnel;
limitations on the repatriation of earnings and potential additional taxation of foreign profits in the U.S.;
potential violations by our international employees or third-party agents of international or U.S. laws relevant to foreign operations (e.g., the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (“FCPA”));
difficulty in enforcing intellectual property rights;
other risks relating to the administration of or changes in, or new interpretations of, the laws, regulations and policies of the jurisdictions in which we conduct our
business; and
the effect that the global pandemic has on the countries in which we may contract to do business.

We cannot assure you that we will be successful in overcoming the risks that relate to or arise from operating in international markets, the materialization of any of
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Changes in tariffs or other government trade policies may materially adversely affect our business and results of operations, including by reducing demand for our
products.
The imposition of tariffs and trade restrictions as a result of international trade disputes or changes in trade policies may adversely affect our sales and profitability. For
example, the U.S. government imposed, among other actions, new or higher tariffs on specified imported products originating from China in response to what it characterizes as
unfair trade practices, and China has responded by imposing and proposing new or higher tariffs on specified products including some semiconductors fabricated in the United
States. There can be no assurance that a broader trade agreement will be successfully negotiated between the United States and China to reduce or eliminate these tariffs. These
tariffs, and the related geopolitical uncertainty between the United States and China, may cause decreased end-market demand for our products from distributors and other
customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. For example, certain of our future foreign customers may respond to the
imposition of tariffs or threat of tariffs on products we produce by delaying purchase orders, purchasing products from our competitors or developing their own products.
Ongoing international trade disputes and changes in trade policies could also impact economic activity and lead to a general contraction of customer demand. In addition, tariffs
on components that we may import from China or other nations that have imposed, or may in the future impose, tariffs will adversely affect our profitability unless we are able
to exclude such components from the tariffs or we raise prices for our products, which may result in our products becoming less attractive relative to products offered by our
competitors. Future actions or escalations by either the United States or China that affect trade relations may also impact our business, or that of our suppliers or customers, and
we cannot provide any assurances as to whether such actions will occur or the form that they may take. To the extent that our sales or profitability are negatively affected by any
such tariffs or other trade actions, our business and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Changes in government trade policies could limit our ability to sell our products to certain customers, which may materially adversely affect our sales and results of
operations.
The U.S. Congress or U.S. regulatory authorities may take administrative, legislative or regulatory action that could materially interfere with our ability to make sales,
particularly in China. We could experience unanticipated restrictions on our ability to sell to certain foreign customers where sales of products and the provision of services may
require export licenses or are prohibited by government action. For example, the U.S. Department of Commerce could ban the export of U.S. products to foreign customers. The
terms and duration of any such restrictions may not be known to us in advance and may be subject to ongoing modifications. Even to the extent such restrictions are
subsequently lifted, any financial or other penalties imposed on affected foreign customers could have a negative impact on future orders. Such foreign customers may also
respond to sanctions or the threat of sanctions by developing their own solutions or adopting alternative solutions or competitors’ solutions. The loss or temporary loss of
customers as a result of such future regulatory limitations could materially adversely affect our sales, business and results of operations.
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Environmental and health and safety liabilities and expenditures could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Our future manufacturing operations may be subject to various environmental laws and regulations relating to the management, disposal and remediation of hazardous
substances and the emission and discharge of pollutants into the air, water and ground, and we may be identified as either a primary responsible party or a potentially
responsible party at sites where we or our predecessors operated or disposed of waste in the past. Our operations may also be subject to laws and regulations relating to
workplace safety and worker health, which, among other requirements, regulate employee exposure to hazardous substances. We do not currently maintain environmental

insurance to cover certain claims related to historical contamination and future releases of hazardous substances. Moreover, we cannot assure you that even if such insurance is
purchased, that it will cover any or all of our material environmental costs. In addition, the nature of our future operations may expose us to the continuing risk of environmental
and health and safety liabilities including:
●
●
●
●
●

changes in U.S. and international environmental or health and safety laws or regulations, including, but not limited to, future laws or regulations imposed in
response to climate change concerns;
the manner in which environmental or health and safety laws or regulations will be enforced, administered or interpreted;
our ability to enforce and collect under indemnity agreements and insurance policies relating to environmental liabilities;
the cost of compliance with future environmental or health and safety laws or regulations or the costs associated with any future environmental claims, including the
cost of clean-up of currently unknown environmental conditions; or
the cost of fines, penalties or other legal liability, should we fail to comply with environmental or health and safety laws or regulations.

To the extent that we face unforeseen environmental or health and safety compliance costs or remediation expenses or liabilities that are not covered by insurance, we
may bear the full effect of such costs, expense and liabilities, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
We may be subject to disruptions or breaches of our secured network that could irreparably damage our reputation and our business, expose us to liability and materially
adversely affect our results of operations.
We may routinely collect and store sensitive data, including IP and other proprietary information about our business and our customers, suppliers and business
partners. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information will be critical to our operations and business strategy. We may be subject to disruptions or
breaches of our secured network caused by computer viruses, illegal hacking, criminal fraud or impersonation, acts of vandalism or terrorism or employee error. Our security
measures and/or those of our third-party service providers and/or customers may not detect or prevent such security breaches. The costs to us to reduce the risk of or alleviate
cyber security breaches and vulnerabilities could be significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful and could result in interruptions and delays that
may materially impede our sales, manufacturing, distribution or other critical functions. Any such compromise of our information security could result in the misappropriation
or unauthorized publication of our confidential business or proprietary information or that of other parties with which we do business, an interruption in our operations, the
unauthorized transfer of cash or other of our assets, the unauthorized release of customer or employee data or a violation of privacy or other laws. In addition, computer
programmers and hackers also may be able to develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software programs that attack our systems, or that otherwise exploit any
security vulnerabilities, and any such attack, if successful, could expose us to liability to customer claims. Any of the foregoing could irreparably damage our reputation and
business, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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Sales through distributors and other third parties will expose us to risks that, if realized, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
We may sell a significant portion of our products through distributors. Distributors may sell products that compete with our products, and we may need to provide
financial and other incentives to focus distributors on the sale of our products. We may rely on one or more key distributors for a product, and the loss of these distributors could
reduce our revenue. Distributors may face financial difficulties, including bankruptcy, which could harm our collection of accounts receivable and financial results. Violations
of the FCPA or similar laws by distributors or other third-party intermediaries could have a material impact on our business. Failure to manage risks related to our use of
distributors may reduce sales, increase expenses, and weaken our competitive position, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
The failure to comply with the terms and conditions of our contracts could result in, among other things, damages, fines or other liabilities.
We expect to have a diverse customer base consisting of both private sector clients and public sector clients, including the U.S. government. Sales to our private sector
clients are generally expected to be based on stated contractual terms, the terms and conditions on our website or terms contained in purchase orders on a transaction-bytransaction basis. Sales to our public sector clients are generally expected to be derived from sales to federal, state and local governmental departments and agencies through
various contracts and programs, which may require compliance with regulations covering many areas of our operations, including, but not limited to, accounting practices, IP
rights, information handling, and security. Noncompliance with contract terms, particularly with respect to highly-regulated public sector clients, or with government
procurement regulations could result in fines or penalties against us, termination of such contracts or civil, criminal and administrative liability to the Company. With respect to
public sector clients, the government’s remedies may also include suspension or debarment from future government business. The effect of any of these possible actions or the
adoption of new or modified procurement regulations or practices could materially adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.
Risk related to our Common Stock
We may not be able to maintain a listing of our Common Stock on Nasdaq.
Assuming that our Common Stock is listed on Nasdaq Capital Market, we must meet certain financial and liquidity criteria to maintain such listing. If we violate Nasdaq’s
listing requirements, or if we fail to meet any of Nasdaq’s listing standards, our common stock may be delisted. In addition, our board of directors may determine that the cost
of maintaining our listing on a national securities exchange outweighs the benefits of such listing. A delisting of our Common Stock from Nasdaq may materially impair our
shareholders’ ability to buy and sell our Common Stock and could have an adverse effect on the market price of, and the efficiency of the trading market for, our Common
Stock. The delisting of our Common Stock could significantly impair our ability to raise capital and the value of your investment.
If our Common Stock fails to maintain a listing on a national exchange such as Nasdaq, it may be considered a “penny stock,” and thereby be subject to additional sale and
trading regulations that may make it more difficult to sell.
The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in penny stocks. Penny
stocks are generally equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 (other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or authorized for quotation on
certain automated quotation systems, provided that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system).
The OTCQB does not meet such requirements and if the price of our Common Stock is less than $5.00, our Common Stock will be deemed penny stocks. The penny stock
rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document containing
specified information. In addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to effecting any transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, a broker-dealer
must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive (i) the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt
of a risk disclosure statement; (ii) a written agreement to transactions involving penny stocks; and (iii) a signed and dated copy of a written suitability statement. If our Common
Stock becomes de-listed from Nasdaq in the future, these disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the trading activity in the secondary market for our Common
Stock, and therefore stockholders may have difficulty selling their shares.
28

FINRA sales practice requirements may also limit an investor’s ability to buy and sell our Common Stock, which could depress the price of our Common Stock.

FINRA rules require broker-dealers to have reasonable grounds for believing that an investment is suitable for a customer before recommending that investment to the
customer. Prior to recommending speculative low-priced securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about
the customer’s financial status, tax status and investment objectives, among other things. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability
that such speculative low-priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. Thus, if we are unable to maintain a listing of our Common Stock on Nasdaq, FINRA
requirements may make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our Common Stock, which may limit an investor’s ability to buy and sell
shares of Common Stock, have an adverse effect on the market for our Common Stock, and thereby depress the price of our Common Stock. In addition, it has been more
difficult in recent years for holders of “penny stocks” to deposit their shares with brokerage firms, which may limit any shareholder’s ability to sell shares of our stock should it
become a “penny stock”.
The shares of our Common Stock may experience dilution by exercises of outstanding warrants and options.
As of the date hereof, we have outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 155,966 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 89,730 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $4.00 per share, and outstanding options granted under our 2019 Equity Compensation Plan to
purchase 1,398,246 shares of Common Stock. In addition, there are 2,886,129 shares available to be issued in the future under the Amended and Restated 2019 Equity
Compensation Plan. The exercise of such outstanding options and warrants, as well as any future issuance of other warrants and options, will result in substantial dilution of the
investment of our shareholders. In addition, our shareholders may experience additional dilution if we issue Common Stock in the future for additional capital raises. Any of
such dilution may have adverse effect on the price of our Common Stock.
There are a significant number of shares of Common Stock eligible for sale, which could depress the market price of such shares.
We previously filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-234741), which is currently effective registering the resale of a total of 1,794,977
shares of Common Stock, and a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-257178), which is currently effective registering the resale of a total of 1,341,355
shares of Common Stock. The availability of such a large number of shares of Common Stock for sale in the public market could harm the market price of the stock. Further,
other shares may be offered from time to time in the open market pursuant to Rule 144, and these sales may have a depressive effect as well.
You will experience immediate and substantial dilution as a result of this offering.
As of September 30, 2021, our net tangible book value was approximately $3,714,000, or approximately $0.29 per share. Since the effective price per share of our Common
Stock being offered in this offering is substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our Common Stock, you will suffer substantial dilution with respect to
the net tangible book value of the Common Stock that you purchase in this offering. Based on the assumed public offering price of $[ ] per share being sold in this offering and
our net tangible book value per share as of September 30, 2021, if you purchase shares of Common Stock in this offering, you will suffer immediate and substantial dilution of
$[ ] per share (or $[ ] per share if the underwriters exercise the over-allotment option to purchase additional shares of common stock in full) with respect to the net tangible book
value of the Common Stock. See the section titled “Dilution” for a more detailed discussion of the dilution you will incur if you purchase securities in this offering.
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We are an “emerging growth company,” and will be able take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to “emerging growth companies,” which could
make our Common Stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and, for as long as we continue to be an
“emerging growth company,” we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging
growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory
vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, as an “emerging growth company,” we have
chosen to take advantage of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards, which will allow us to delay the adoption of new or revised
accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until those standards apply to private companies. Accordingly, our financial statements
may not be comparable to companies that comply with all public company accounting standards which could impact the valuation of our securities.
We could be an “emerging growth company” for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues
exceed $1.07 billion, (ii) the date that we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our
Common Stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, or (iii) the date on which we
have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three year period. We cannot predict if investors will find our Common Stock less attractive if we
choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Common Stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active
trading market for our Common Stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
We will incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time as a result of operating as a public company particularly after we are no longer an
“emerging growth company.”
As a public company, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we will be required to
comply with certain of the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and regulations
subsequently implemented by the SEC, including the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance
practices. We expect that compliance with these requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time consuming and
costly. In addition, we expect that our management and other personnel will need to divert attention from operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to
these public company requirements. In particular, we expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We are just beginning the process of compiling the system and processing documentation needed to comply with such
requirements. We may not be able to complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation in a timely fashion. In that regard, we currently do not have an internal audit
function, and we will need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge.
However, for as long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with
the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments not previously approved. We intend to take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.”
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After we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” we expect to incur additional management time and cost to comply with the more stringent reporting
requirements applicable to companies that are deemed accelerated filers or large accelerated filers, including complying with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur as a result of becoming a public company or the timing of such costs.
Our officers and directors have significant control over shareholder matters.
Our officers and directors own, or can own subject to exercise within a 60-day period from the date hereof, approximately 46.95% of the Company’s outstanding
Common Stock, and thus collectively have significant control over shareholder matters, such as election of directors, amendments to our Articles of Incorporation, and approval
of significant corporate transactions. As a result, the Company’s minority shareholders may have little or no effective control over our affairs.
Our officers have broad discretion in the use of proceeds.
The executive officers of the Company will have broad discretion in allocating the net proceeds of the offering, including for any of the purposes described in the
section entitled “Use of Proceeds”, which creates uncertainty for shareholders and could adversely affect the Company’s business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations. You will not have the opportunity as part of your investment decision to assess whether our management is using the net proceeds appropriately. You must rely on
the judgment of our management regarding the application of the net proceeds of this offering. Because of the number and variability of factors that will determine our use of
our net proceeds from this offering, their ultimate use may vary substantially from their currently intended use. Pending their use, we may invest our net proceeds from this
offering in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing securities. The net proceeds may be used for corporate or other purposes with which you do not agree or that do not
improve our profitability or increase our share price. The net proceeds from this offering may also be placed in investments that do not produce income or that lose value.
We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future, and consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our Common Stock.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends to holders of our Common Stock in the
foreseeable future. Consequently, investors must rely on sales of their shares after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their
investments. There is no guarantee that shares of our Common Stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our stockholders have purchased their shares.
Upon dissolution of the Company, you may not recoup all or any portion of your investment.
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the proceeds and/or assets of the Company remaining after
giving effect to such transaction, and the payment of all of our debts and liabilities will be distributed to the stockholders of Common Stock on a pro rata basis. There can be no
assurance that we will have available assets to pay to the holders of Common Stock, or any amounts, upon such a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our Company. In this
event, you could lose some or all of your investment.
If securities industry analysts do not publish research reports on us, or publish unfavorable reports on us, then the market price and market trading volume of our
securities could be negatively affected.
Any trading market for our Common Stock may be influenced in part by any research reports that securities industry analysts publish about us. We do not currently have and
may never obtain research coverage by securities industry analysts. If no securities industry analysts commence coverage of us, the market price and market trading volume of
our securities could be negatively affected. In the event we are covered by analysts, and one or more of such analysts downgrade our securities, or otherwise reports on us
unfavorably, or discontinues coverage of us, the market price and market trading volume of our securities could be negatively affected.
31

We are authorized to issue “blank check” preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could adversely impact the rights of holders of our securities.
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of blank check preferred stock. Any preferred stock that we issue in the future may rank ahead of
our securities in terms of dividend priority or liquidation premiums and may have greater voting rights than our securities. In addition, such preferred stock may contain
provisions allowing those shares to be converted into shares of Common Stock, which could dilute the value of our securities to current stockholders and could adversely affect
the market price, if any, of our securities. In addition, the preferred stock could be utilized, under certain circumstances, as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a
change in control of our company. Although we have no present intention to issue any shares of authorized preferred stock, there can be no assurance that we will not do so in
the future.
USE OF PROCEEDS
We estimate that the net proceeds to us from this offering will be approximately $[●], after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. If the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full, we estimate that our net proceeds will be approximately
$[●], after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
We plan to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures and operating expenses. We will
have broad discretion over how to use the remaining proceeds from this offering. The foregoing represents our current intentions to use and allocate the net proceeds of this
offering based upon our present plans and business conditions. Our management, however, will have broad discretion in the way that we use the net proceeds of this offering.
See “Risk Factors— Risk Related To Our Common Stock - Our officers have broad discretion in the use of proceeds.”
The timing and amount of our actual expenditures will be based on many factors, including cash flows from operations and the anticipated growth of our business. We
have not yet determined the exact amount of net proceeds to be used specifically for any particular purpose or the timing of these expenditures. Pending their use, we intend to
invest the net proceeds to us from this offering in short-term and long-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments.
DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never paid any cash dividends on our Common Stock. We anticipate that we will retain funds and future earnings to support operations and to finance the
growth and development of our business. Therefore, we do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors that our board of directors deems
relevant. In addition, the terms of any future debt or credit financings may preclude us from paying dividends.
CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our cash and our capitalization as of September 30, 2021:
●

on an actual basis;

●

on a pro forma basis to reflect the sale of [ ] shares by us in this offering at an assumed price to the public of $[ ] per share, resulting in net proceeds to us of $[ ] after
deducting (i) underwriter commissions and non-accountable expenses of $[ ] and (ii) our estimated other offering expenses of $[ ]; and

●

on a pro forma basis to reflect the sale of [ ] shares by us in this offering, assuming the underwriters elect to exercise the over-allotment option in full, at an assumed price
to the public of $[ ] per share, resulting in net proceeds to us of $[ ] after deducting (i) underwriter commissions and non-accountable expenses o f $ [ ] and (ii) our
estimated other offering expenses of $[ ].
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The as adjusted information below is illustrative only and our capitalization following the completion of this offering is subject to adjustment based on the actual public offering
price of our Common Stock and other terms of this offering determined at pricing.
You should read this table together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” “Description of Capital Stock” and our
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Cash and cash equivalents
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 45,000,000
authorized shares, 12,726,911 shares issued and outstanding,
actual; [●]authorized shares;[●] shares issued and
outstanding, as adjusted (prior to this offering)
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 45,000,000
authorized shares, 0 share issued and outstanding, actual; [●]
authorized shares; 0 share issued and outstanding, as adjusted
(prior to this offering)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$
$

Actual
3,409,429
781,336

$
$

As of September 30, 2021:
(unaudited)
Post-Offering
Pro Forma
without
Over-Allotment
Pro Forma
Option
$
$

Post-Offering
Pro Forma with
Over-Allotment
Option
$
$

1,272

$

—
9,837,157
(6,123,934)
3,714,495
4,495,831

$

$

$

If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, as adjusted cash additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity, total capitalization and shares of Common
Stock outstanding as of September, 2021 would be $[●], $[●], $[●] and [●] shares, respectively.
Except as otherwise indicated herein, the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding before this offering and that will be outstanding after this offering is based on
12,726,911 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and excludes: (i) 155,966 shares of Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price
of $1.50 per share; (ii) 89,730 shares of our Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price of $4.00 per share; and (iii) 1,398,246 shares of Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of options granted under our 2019 Equity Compensation Plan.
DILUTION
If you invest in this offering, your ownership interest will be diluted to the extent of the difference between the public offering price per share of our Common Stock and the as
adjusted net tangible book value per share of our Common Stock immediately after the closing of this offering.
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Our net tangible book value as of September 30, 2021 was approximately $3,714,000 or $0.29 per share. Net tangible book value per share is determined by dividing our total
tangible assets, less total liabilities, by the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding as of September 30, 2021. Dilution with respect to net tangible book value per
share represents the difference between the amount per share paid by purchasers of shares of Common Stock in this offering and the net tangible book value per share of our
Common Stock immediately after this offering.
After giving effect to the sale of $[●] of shares of our Common Stock in this offering at the assumed offering price of $[ ], and after deducting the estimated underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, and assuming no exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option in full, our as adjusted net
tangible book value as of September 30, 2021 would have been approximately $[ ], or $[ ] per share. This represents an immediate increase in net tangible book value of $[ ] per
share to existing stockholders. Investors purchasing our Common Stock in this offering will have paid $[ ] more than the as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this
offering. The following table illustrates this on a per share basis:
Assumed public offering price per share
Net tangible book value per share as of September 30, 2021
Increase per share attributable to new investors
As adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering
As adjusted net tangible book value per share to investors purchasing shares in this offering
Dilution in net tangible book value per share to new investors
Dilution as a percentage of purchase price in the offering

$
$

0.29
[]

$

[]

$

[]

$
$

[]
[]
[ ]%

If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full in this offering, the as adjusted net tangible book value after the offering would be $[ ] per share, the increase in as
adjusted net tangible book value per share to existing stockholders would be $[ ] per share and the dilution per share to new investors would be $[ ] per share, in each case
assuming a public offering price of $[ ] per share.
Except as otherwise indicated herein, the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding before this offering and that will be outstanding after this offering is based on

12,726,911 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and excludes: (i) 155,966 shares of Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price
of $1.50 per share; (ii) 89,730 shares of our Common Stock underlying warrants, each exercisable at a price of $4.00 per share; and (iii) 1,398,246 shares of Common Stock
issuable upon exercise of options granted under our 2019 Equity Compensation Plan.
To the extent that any outstanding options or warrants are exercised, new options, warrants or restricted stock units are issued under our stock-based compensation plans, or
new shares of preferred stock are issued, or we issue additional shares of Common Stock in the future, there will be dilution to investors participating in this offering.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our financial statements and the related notes and the
other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this
prospectus, particularly those under “Risk Factors.” When used herein, unless the context requires otherwise, references to the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, collectively with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc, a Delaware corporation.
Dollars in tabular format are presented in thousands, except per share data, or otherwise indicated. Dollars in tabular format are presented in thousands, except per share
data, or otherwise indicated.
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OVERVIEW
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 12, 2019. The Company acquired its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Odyssey Semiconductor”), on June 21, 2019. Odyssey Semiconductor commenced business operations on
June 17, 2019 when it acquired its wholly-owned subsidiary, JR2J LLC (“JR2J”), from its founders, Richard Brown and James Shealy, in exchange for shares of Odyssey
Semiconductor.
We are a semiconductor device company developing revolutionary high-voltage power switching components and systems based on proprietary Gallium Nitride (GaN)
processing technology. The premium power switching device market, which is described as applications where silicon-based (Si) systems perform insufficiently, is projected to
reach over $3.5 billion by 2025 and is currently dominated by the semiconductor material silicon carbide (SiC). GaN-based systems outperform Si and SiC based systems in
every way due to the superior material properties of GaN. However, GaN devices have, to-date proven difficult to process using standard semiconductor processing methods
that are used to create Si and SiC based devices. We have developed a novel processing modification that allows GaN to be processed in a manner that for the first time, makes
high voltage GaN power switching devices viably manufacturable. Our mission is to disrupt the rapidly growing premium power switching device market using our newly
developed GaN high voltage power transistor for switching applications.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
On September 22, 2021, Alex Behfar resigned as our Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors and a Director. On the same day, Richard Brown
was appointed as our Interim Chief Executive Officer and John Edmunds as our Chairman. As of the date of such resignation, Mr. Behfar owned stock options to purchase
2,671,785 shares of Common Stock, of which 1,911,160 unvested options were forfeited.
On October 6, 2021, in connection with Mr. Behfar’s resignation, the Company entered into a separation agreement with Mr. Behfar. Pursuant to the separation
agreement, among other things, Mr. Behfar agreed to certain waiver and release of claims in favor of the Company, and the Company agreed to pay Mr. Behfar certain
severance consideration, including payment of three months of health insurance premium and acceleration of vesting of 25,000 non-qualified stock options (granted on
September 25, 2019 and exercisable at $1.50 per share) which were to vest as of September 25, 2021.
Governmental Assistance
Paycheck Protection Program
On May 1, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $211,000 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP,
established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, as amended (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5
times of the average monthly payroll expenses of such qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable after certain time periods further defined in the
CARES Act (“Covered Period”) as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll
levels. The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the Covered Period. On March 6, 2021, the entire loan
balance was forgiven.
On February 24, 2021, the Company received $193,625 pursuant to a promissory note issued under the Paycheck Protection Program Part 2 (“PPP2”). Interest was to
accrue at 1% per annum and the note was payable in 60 monthly installments of $3,300 commencing May 2022. On November 15, 2021, the entire loan balance was forgiven.
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Economic Injury Disaster Loan Advance
On May 1, 2020, the Company received an advance in the amount of $10,000 from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) under the Economic Injury
Disaster Loan (“EIDL”) program administered by the SBA, which program was expanded pursuant to the CARES Act. Such advance amount will reduce the Company’s PPP
loan forgiveness amount described above. The Company received an additional $138,900 under this program on August 30, 2020. The loan is payable in monthly payments of
$678 including interest at 3.75% payable over 30 years.
Tomkins County Area Development Loan
On May 27, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of $50,000 from the Tomkins County Area Development (“TCAD”) Emergency Relief Loan Fund. The
loan matures after four years and bears interest in the amount of 2.5% per annum, with one year of no interest or principal payments, followed by three years of monthly
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $1,443 per month. The loan is collateralized against certain assets of the Company.
Equipment Loans
On August 21, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Broome County Industrial Development Agency (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest rate,
monthly payment of $1,775); on September 3, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Southern Tier Region Economic Development Corporation (5 year facility,
5.0% annual interest rate, monthly payment of $2,072); and on September 10, 2020, the Company received a loan of $75,000 from TCAD (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest

rate, monthly payment of $1,331). These loans were used to acquire equipment used in the laboratory, and are secured by the underlying assets of the Company.
Consulting Service
On October 18, 2019, the Company entered into an exclusive two-year consulting agreement with Akash Systems, Inc. (“Akash”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide certain consulting services to Akash in connection with process development and fabrication of GaN-on-Diamond high-electron-mobility transistors and
monolithic microwave integrated circuits. Pursuant to the agreement, Akash guaranteed to supply substrate wafers for the Company to process at least one wafer per month from
the Company for a total of 24 wafers during the term of the agreement, at a price of $85,000 per wafer for the service. The Company delivered 2 processed wafers as of
September 30, 2020, after which Akash did not provide substrate wafers with satisfactory quality to the Company for processing and the contract expired as of October 18,
2021.
COMPONENTS OF OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Revenues
Our revenues are derived from contracts with customers that require us to design, develop, manufacture, test and integrate complex equipment and to provide
engineering and technical services according to customer specifications. These contracts are often priced on a time and material type basis. Revenues on time and material type
contracts are generally recognized in each period based on the amount billable to the customer which is based on direct labor hours expended multiplied by the contractual fixed
rate per hour, plus the actual costs of materials and other direct non-labor costs. We bill customers based upon contractual terms, and accordingly, we have deferred revenues
and contract assets depending upon whether we can bill in advance of earnings or in arrears, respectively.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consist of material, labor, a portion of occupancy expenses, and other expenses directly related to our revenue contracts.
36

Research and Development
Research and development includes expenses, primarily material, labor, a portion of occupancy expenses, and other expenses incurred in connection with the research
and development of certain exploratory projects. Research and development expenses are expensed as they are incurred.
Selling, General, and Administrative
Selling, general, and administrative expenses consist of salaries, payroll taxes and other benefits, legal and professional fees, stock-based compensation, rent and office
expenses, marketing and travel and other costs associated with our operation.
Other Income
Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest income on cash balances, and other miscellaneous items.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared with nine months ended September 30, 2020
Overview
The following table presents certain information from the condensed consolidated statements of operations:
For The Nine Months Ended September 30
2021
2020
Revenues

$

Cost of Revenues

693,074

$

792,239
(99,165)

Gross Loss

Difference $

Difference %

1,102,071

$

(408,997)

-37%

1,106,569

$

(314,330 )

-28%

$

(94,667)

2105%

(4,498 )

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Loss From Operations
Other Income:
Forgiveness of PPP loan and other income

430,592
869,643

$
$

643,145
789,301

149%
91%

2,732,681

1,300,235

$

1,432,446

110 %

(2,831,846)

(1,304,733)

$

(1,527,113)

117%

$
$

238,718
(14,407)

1000%
—

$

(1,299,802)

100 %

238,719
(14,407)

Interest expense
Net Loss

1,073,737
1,658,944

$

(2,607,534)

1
—
$

(1,304,732)

Revenues
Revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $693,000 and $1,102,000, respectively, which represented a decrease of $409,000, or
37%. The timing of revenue recognition is driven by the completion of specified deliverables and the billing of time and materials over periods of time. Accordingly, the
recognition of revenue for these contracts will vary from time to time. In the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we recognized substantially all of our revenue under three
customer contracts. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company also recognized substantially all of our revenue from one of our government contract
customers. The customer contracts with governmental entities have concluded. We have a few other customers and several outstanding proposals to new customers.
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Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $792,000 and $1,107,000, respectively, which represented a decrease of
$314,000, or 28%. The base salary, facility and equipment usage fees to operate the fabrication facility during the 2021 and 2020 periods are allocated between research and
development and cost of revenues based upon the specific projects worked on during the period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we also incurred a loss of
$60,000 on one government customer contract due to costs exceeding the contract revenues. We have operated at a gross loss for the past year as our revenues are not yet
significant to cover our fixed costs of the facility.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $1,074,000 and $431,000, respectively, which represented an
increase of $643,000, or 149%. The increase was primarily attributable to an overall increase in our focus on research and development activities, which resulted in increased
wage allocation of approximately $230,000 as well as increased rent, facility fees, equipment usage costs and general lab supplies.
General and Administrative
Selling, general, and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $1,659,000 and $870,000, respectively, which
represented an increase of $789,000, or 91%. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in stock-based compensation costs related to options granted to the Chief
Executive Officer (including performance awards that related to the private placement that occurred in March 2021) and board members of approximately $866,000 as
compared to the 2020 period. Legal and professional fees were approximately $254,000 in the 2021 period as compared to $336,000 for the 2020 period.
Other Income
Other income for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 includes the forgiveness of our PPP loan of $239,000. Other income (expense) for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 includes to the sale of miscellaneous tools, and in 2020 was insignificant.
Net (Loss) Income
Net (loss) income for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $(2,607,000) and $(1,304,000), respectively, which represented a decrease of
$(1,303,000), or 100%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the increase in research and development and general and administrative expenses of approximately
$1,432,000 driven in turn by an increase in non-cash stock compensation expense of $794,000.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 Compared with Three Months Ended September 30, 2020
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Overview
The following table presents certain information from the condensed consolidated statements of operations:
For The three months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Revenues

$

Cost of Revenues
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Loss From Operations
Other Income:
Forgiveness of PPP loan and other income
Interest expense
Net Loss

$

174,952

$

Difference $

Difference %

636,070

$

(461,118)

-72%

47,969

495,915

$

(447,946 )

-90%

126,983

140,155

$

(13,172)

-9%

454,658
403,441

107,323
339,090

$
$

347,335
64,351

324%
19%

858,099

446,413

$

411,686

92%

(731,116)

(306,258)

$

(424,858)

391%

25,013
(4,560 )
(710,663 )

—
-893
(307,151 )

$
$
$

25,013
(3,667 )
(403,512 )

—
411 %
131 %

$

Revenues
Revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $175,000 and $636,000, respectively, which represented a decrease of $461,000, or
72%. We had several clients as of September 30, 2020 and two government contracts with clients concluded as of September 30, 2021. The timing of revenue recognition is
driven by the completion of specified deliverables and the billing of time and materials over periods of time. Accordingly, the recognition of revenue for these contracts will
vary from time to time. In the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized 0% and 88% respectively of our revenue under one of these government
contracts. The government contracts concluded prior to September 30, 2021.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $48,000 and $496,000, respectively, which represented a decrease of $448,000,
or 90%. The decrease was attributable to decrease labor and allocated facilities costs associated with our client projects in 2021, as major client projects finished in earlier
quarters.

Research and Development
Research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $455,000 and $107,000, respectively, which represented an
increase of $347,000, or 324%. The increase was primarily attributable to an overall increase in our focus on research and development activities, which resulted in increased
wage allocation as well as increased rent, facility fees, equipment usage costs and general lab supplies.
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General and Administrative
Selling, general, and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $403,000 and $339,000, respectively, which
represented an increase of $64,000, or 19%. The 2021 period had an increase of approximately $192,000 in stock-based compensation due to awards issued to the then Chief
Executive Officer and board members as compared to $56,000 in the corresponding 2020 period.
Other Income
Other income (expense) for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was insignificant.
Net (Loss) Income
Net (loss) income for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $(711,000) and $(307,000), respectively, which represented a decrease of
$(404,000), or 131%. The increase in the loss was primarily attributable to the increase in research and development and general and administrative expenses of approximately
$412,000 – driven in part by an increase of $82,000 in stock compensation expense.
Year ended December 31, 2020 Compared with year ended December 31, 2019
Overview
The following table presents certain information from the consolidated statements of operations:
For the year ended
December 31,
Revenues

$

Cost of Revenues

2020
1,374,420

91%

589,641

863,365

146 %

130,211

(208,796)

(160)%

607,148
1,354,069

155,527
1,434,089

451,622
(80,020)

290%
(6)%

1,961,217

1,589,616

371,602

23%

(2,039,802)

(1,459,405)

(580,397)

40%

1,453,005
(78,585)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
(Loss) Income from Operations
Other Income:
Interest income (expense), net

(3,306 )
$

(2,043,108)

$

Change %

654,569

Gross (Loss) Profit

Net (Loss)

$

Change
2019
719,851

(4,542 )

1,236
$

(1,458,169)

$

(584,939 )

(367)%
40%

Revenues
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $1,374,000 and $720,000, respectively, which represented an increase of $654,000, or 91%. We
had two principal clients as of December 31, 2020 (Akash and the government contract) as well as several smaller clients. The timing of revenue recognition is driven by the
completion of specified deliverables and the billing of time and materials over periods of time. Accordingly, the recognition of revenue for these contracts will vary from time to
time. In both the years ended December 30, 2020 and 2019, we recognized 93% and 28% of our revenue from these two principal clients. The Company remainder of the
revenue recognized for both the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was for delivery of products to other clients.
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Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $1,453,000 and $590,000, respectively, which represented an increase of $863,000, or
146%. The increase was attributable to increased labor costs and supplies associated with our revenue generating projects in the 2020 period. Also, there was an increase in
facility and equipment usage fees during the 2020 period as compared to the 2019 period in order to support the same revenue generating projects and reflect the increased
infrastructure built over the past few quarters. We also shift personnel from client projects to internal research and development projects depending on the timing of client
deliverables. We do not yet have a sufficient volume of client projects to fully utilize all of the fixed and variable operating expenses of the facility booked, thereby generating a
gross loss for 2020.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $607,000 and $156,000, respectively, which represented an increase
of $451,000, or 289%. The increase was primarily attributable to an overall increase in our focus on research and development activities, which resulted in increased wage
allocation as well as increased rent, facility fees, equipment usage costs and general lab supplies.

General and Administrative
Selling, general, and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $1,354,000 and $1,434,000, respectively, which represented
a decrease of $80,000, or 6%. The 2020 period expense was primarily attributable to payroll and employee related expenses, and legal and professional fees. During 2020, the
Company also wrote-off approximately $111,000 in previously deferred offering costs, as a component of general and administrative expenses. In 2019, the Company
subcontracted all of our labor and did not have employees until September 2019, however there was a non-cash charge of approximately $525,000 related to a stock-based
compensation charge. By comparison, the total non-cash compensation expense was approximately $623,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $571,000
during the year ended December 31, 2019. During the 2019 period, the Company also incurred significant costs associated with the reverse recapitalization transaction. The
Company has attempted to carefully manage general and administrative expenses.
Other Income (expense)
Other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily attributable to interest on the government loans, while in 2019 other income (expense) was
insignificant.
Net (Loss) Income
Net (loss) income for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $(2,043,000) and $(1,458,000), respectively, which represented an increase of
$(585,000), or 40%. The decrease was primarily attributable to an increase in research and development expenses of approximately $451,000 and a decrease in gross profit of
$209,000 due to the faster growth of fixed costs as compared to the growth in revenues, partially offset by an $80,000 decrease in general and administrative costs. This reflects
the establishment of the fabrication lab and increased emphasis on internal research projects.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity
We measure our liquidity in a number of ways, including the following:

Cash
Working Capital

$
$

September 30, 2021
3,409,429
3,271,191

$
$

December 31, 2020
273,000
63,000
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As of September 30, 2021, we had cash and working capital of $3,409,429 and $3,271,191, respectively. We received approximately $194,000 in funding from the PPP2
government loan in February 2021, which was forgiven on November 15, 2021. We expect our current cash on hand to be sufficient to meet our operating and capital
requirements for at least the next twelve months from the date of this filing. Thereafter, we may need to raise further capital, through the sale of additional equity or debt
securities, to support our future operations. Our operating needs include the planned costs to operate our business, including amounts required to fund working capital and
capital expenditures as well as research and development. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of our available funds will depend on many factors, including our
ability to successfully commercialize our products and services, competing technological and market developments, and the need to enter into collaborations with other
companies or acquire other companies or technologies to enhance or complement our product and service offerings. If we are unable to secure additional capital, we may be
required to curtail our research and development initiatives and take additional measures to reduce costs in order to conserve our cash.
Our sources and uses of cash were as follows:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $(1,665,000) and $(583,000), respectively. Net
cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 includes cash used to fund a net loss of approximately $2,608,000, reduced by $1,037,000 of
non-cash expenses, and reduced by $95,000 of net cash provided by changes in the levels of operating assets and liabilities.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 included cash provided by net loss of approximately $(1,304,000) partially offset by
$402,000 of non-cash expenses and reduced by $319,000 of net cash used in changes in the levels of operating assets and liabilities.
Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $(33,000) and $(610,000), respectively. Net cash used in
investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was primarily attributable to the purchase property and equipment, and leasehold improvements in the
laboratory.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $4,834,000 and $869,000, respectively. Net cash used in
financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was primarily attributable to expenditures to the private placement of our common stock which yielded
approximately $4.6 million in net proceeds, and the proceeds from the PPP2 loan and proceeds from the exercise of stock options. Net cash used in financing activities for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020 was primarily attributable proceeds under government loan programs of $684,000 and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of
$231,000.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our critical accounting policies are included in Note 2 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this registration statement.
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Our recently issued accounting standards are included in Note 2 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this registration statement.
BUSINESS
Background
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”), formed as a Delaware corporation on April 12, 2019, is a semiconductor device company developing
revolutionary high-voltage power switching components and systems based on proprietary Gallium Nitride (GaN) processing technology. The Company acquired its whollyowned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Odyssey Semiconductor”), on June 21, 2019. Odyssey Semiconductor commenced business
operations on June 17, 2019 when it acquired its wholly-owned subsidiary, JR2J LLC (“JR2J”), from its founders Richard Brown and James Shealy in exchange for shares of
Odyssey Semiconductor.
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Overview of The Semiconductor Industry
The semiconductor industry was formed in 1960 when the production of semiconductors became a viable option. The global semiconductor market has grown rapidly,
from over $1 billion in 1964 1 to $425.96 billion in 2020 and projected to grow to $803.15 billion by 20282 .
The application of semiconductors has expanded extensively from radio in the 1960s to crucial electronic components nowadays to all manufactured products with
computing or power management capabilities, ranging from computers and personal electronics to automotive goods and heavy machinery. Semiconductor devices mounted
inside many electronics appliances are important electronic components that support our everyday lives.
Integrated circuits (ICs) and electronic discrete components such as diodes (which are two-terminal electronic components that conduct current primarily in one
direction) and transistors (which are devices possessing an amplification function) are made of semiconductors.
The semiconductor industry is divided into six broad categories based on the end-use application:
●
●
●
●
●
●

Data processing: This comprises chips used in servers, computers, printers, and related hardware. This is the largest segment where semiconductors are used.
However, growth in this segment has moderated, and no breakthrough innovation is expected in the near future.
Communications: This comprises chips used in wired and wireless communication equipment such as smartphones, tablets, and broadband equipment. This segment
is growing at a faster pace.
Consumer electronics: This comprises chips used in household appliances, LCD TVs, and gaming consoles.
Industrial: This comprises chips used in scanning devices such as bar code scanners and point-of-sale terminals, medical devices such as patient monitors and
ultrasound imaging, and power supply equipment.
Automotive: This comprises chips used in electronic automotive components such as power steering and lighting.
Military and civil aerospace: This is a specialized segment where integrated circuits related to a particular application are built.

Advantage and Market Focus of the Company
Semiconductors are materials which have a conductivity between conductors (generally metals), which has full conductivity, and nonconductors or insulators (such as
most ceramics), which has negligible conductivity. The conductivity of a semiconductor material may be altered in useful ways by the deliberate, controlled introduction of
impurities into the crystal structure of the material to modulate its electrical, optical and structural properties. This process is known as “doping”.
1 Pines, Lawrence. \Who Are Advanced Micro Devicesf Main Competitors?. Investopedia. Accessed September 30, 2019.

https://www.investopedia.com/articles/markets/041816/who-are-advanced-micro-devices-main-competitors-amd.asp
2 https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/semiconductor-market-102365
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Silicon (Si) is traditionally the most common semiconductor material. However, Si-based systems have proven to perform inadequately. We described the applications
where Si-based systems perform inadequately as the premium power switching device market, which was $571 million in 2018 and is projected to pass $5 billion by 2029.3
This growth is largely driven by the rapid adoption of electric vehicles (EV) and hybrid electric vehicles (HEV) and the growing number of installations of renewables such as
solar and wind power as well as increased demand for more efficient industrial motor drives.
The premium power switching device market is currently dominated by the semiconductor material silicon carbide (SiC). GaN-based systems outperform Si and SiC
based systems in every way due to the superior material properties of GaN. However, GaN devices have, to-date proven difficult to process using standard semiconductor
processing methods that are used to create Si and SiC based devices. While GaN can be implanted with ions through doping process like any other semiconductor, unlike Si or
SiC, the temperature required to activate the ions in GaN destroys the crystal, making implant and activate scheme impractical in the GaN material. The Company has
developed proprietary technology that allows activation of dopants in the GaN. This proprietary technology allows GaN to be processed in a manner that for the first time makes
high voltage GaN power switching devices viably manufacturable.
The Company expects that its GaN power products will completely overlap the current market for SiC power switching market. Furthermore, the Company expects
that its GaN power products will exceed switching speeds and operating voltages currently attainable reliably with SiC.
GaN is both less expensive to produce and offers significant performance advantages over SiC in system efficiency and system size. Currently there are no GaN
devices in the market with ratings more than 1,000 V, which will be our strength area, however, our products will address voltages as low as 650 V.

What Is A Switch-Mode Power Converter
Broadly speaking, switch-mode power converters are used to efficiently transform one voltage to another for the purpose of supplying power to and from different
systems.

Simple case - Power converter (brick) converts power at 120 V wall plug to power to 18.5 V to safely charge laptops/phones:
3 Omdia: \GaN & SiC power semiconductor markets set to pass $1 billion mark in 2021. published July 22, 2020
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Advanced case - Power converters charge 400 V batteries from 120 V wall plug / Power motor at 400 V from variable battery voltage / Charge batteries from
regenerative braking to 400 V:

What Is A Power Switch
A power switch is a semiconductor device that can switch large voltages and currents at high frequency. It is the heart of any power converter. An ideal power switch
presents little resistance in the “on” state, infinite resistance in the “off” state, and can switch between “on” and “off” at high speed with no stored charge.
Different semiconductor materials are better suited to making power switches. For a given operating voltage, GaN is 1000 times less resistive than Si, and 10 times less
resistive than SiC. Lower resistance results in switches that reduce power loss. Moreover, GaN devices take up less area than Si or SiC, which lowers their capacitance, which
allows a faster system switching speed.
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Inductors and transformers typically are the largest components in the system. GaN based solutions are approximately 1/4 of the size of SiC based solutions. Smaller
passive components are cheaper than larger variants because of the requirement of less materials such as copper.
The system size of a power converter is inversely related to the switching speed at which it operates. As switching speed increases, the size of the surrounding passive
components become much smaller. GaN power converter circuits are approximately 4x smaller than SiC solutions for equivalent power ratings.

Examples of Passive Components Accompanying Switches
Furthermore, replacing SiC devices with GaN devices has the potential to reduce power loss by 40-70% compared to SiC. The diagram below compares the level of
power losses with the use of Si, Sic and GaN based systems:
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In summary, GaN-based solutions are smaller in size, cost less and yield greater efficiency comparing to Si-based or SiC-based solutions.
Comparing SiC and GaN Solutions for EVs
Our proprietary vertically conducting GaN devices are approximately 10 times smaller in chip size compared to devices fabricated from SiC, since the resistance of
GaN is approximately one-tenth of that of SiC. As such, the cost of making vertically conducting devices are significantly lower than SiC devices.

The Company expects that a significant market exists for GaN solutions, especially in the EV market. For example, there are 24 units of SiC metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistor (MOSFET) used in each Tesla Model 3 module. There were over 800,000 Tesla Model 3 units delivered as of December 2020, which
represents about 19,200,000 SiC MOSFETs. It is estimated that by 2025 each year there will be approximately 8.4 million EVs and 25 million HEVs to be sold. 4
In November 2020, Yole provided the following forecast on the power SiC market that the market is growing at a 30% Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) and
will grow to $2.5 billion by 2025. The largest segment in this market is for automotive (e.g., EV) and estimated to be $1.55 billion in 2025. Our products will completely
overlap those of SiC power devices and as such, our Total Available Market will be at least equal that of the power SiC market.
4 https://www.jpmorgan.com/global/research/electric-vehicles
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Competition and Challenges
There are many horizontal-conduction (meaning the current flows horizontally, along the surface of the wafer), high-electron-mobility transistor (HEMT) products
emerging from industry. HEMT transistors are able to operate at higher frequencies than ordinary transistors, up to millimeter wave frequencies, and are used in high-frequency
products such as cell phones, satellite television receivers, voltage converters, and radar equipment. However, horizontal-conduction device technology has difficulty scaling
beyond 650 V.

In contrast to horizontal-conduction devices, vertical-conduction (meaning the current flows from the top surface of the wafer to the bottom surface) devices could
easily have scaling beyond 650 V; however, there are currently few discrete parts available with ratings above 650 V, and none above 1,000 V. The Company believes it is
uniquely poised to enter into the >1,000 V device market and above with its vertical conduction device technology.

Demonstration of Vertical Conduction
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We expect that our competitors will include a number of larger companies, particularly in the SiC area (such as STMicro, WolfSpeed, Texas Instruments (TI),
Infineon, On Semiconductor, and etc.) which have more substantial research and development budgets than us. Even smaller companies which are more targeted in their
development efforts, such as Nexgen Power Systems, Inc., may be our potential competitors. If we are unable to compete effectively with our competitors, our products or
technologies may be rendered obsolete or noncompetitive, which could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Intellectual Property
The Company had filed three patent applications related to its technology. These are patent application numbers: 16/813337; 16/813362; and 16/814886.
The Company is continuing to actively prepare and submit new patent applications based on its proprietary technology. Furthermore, the Company continues to
perform research and development that will likely result in additional patent applications in the future.
Research & Development, and Commercialization of Our Technology

We perform research and development on GaN power switching devices as well as provide consulting services to third parties with regard to similar foundry
processing which may involve materials other than GaN. We plan to meet the following milestones for the commercialization of our GaN technology:
●

●

●

From inception to 2021:
o

Continue developing medium to high voltage GaN-based vertical conduction devices

o

Confirm specifications and packaging plans for samples of first product with customers

o

Write and submit patent applications

2022:
o

Complete initial development of first GaN-based vertical conduction product

o

Continue to write and submit patent applications

o

Provide customers with engineering samples of first product

o

Hire new CEO and develop sales and marketing capability

o

Ship first GaN-based vertical conduction product to customers (first quarter of 2022)

o

Start qualifications under qualified under Joint Electron Device Engineering Council (“JEDEC”) standards

o

Provide customers with engineering samples of second product

From 2023:
o

Expand the production of the first product

o

Ship second product
49

We plan to market our products in the following market verticals:
●

Industrial motor drives: It is estimated that motor drives consume 45% of all power generated in the world.5 Energy consumption can be drastically
reduced by using variable-frequency drives (VFDs) on induction motors. The compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of the VFD market is estimated to be
6.7% to 2025, by which year the market size of the market is estimated to be $33.1 billion.6

●

EV / HEV power systems: It is projected that electric vehicles will account for over 22% of all vehicle sales by 2030.7 We estimate that adoption of GaNbased drive systems could potentially increase efficiency by 15%. The CAGR of the EV power electronics market is estimated to be 4.48% from 20172022, and the market size is estimated to be $5.49 billion by 2022.8

●

Grid connected renewable power systems: Solar power accounted for 29% of all new electric generating capacity brought online in 2018.9 We believe that
GaN-based power conversion systems will reduce system size and increase efficiency and reliability. The CAGR of the Photovoltaic (PV) power
electronics market is estimated to be 3.9% by 2026 with a market share of $10.37 billion.10

The Company has incurred $607,148 in research expenses during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Employees
As of September 30, 2021, we have 11 full time employees and 1 part-time employee. No employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements.
Principal Offices
Our principal offices are located at 9 Brown Road, Ithaca, NY 14850.
We lease one (1) 10,000 sq.ft. facility in the State of New York for our operations. Our lease expires on November 30, 2025.
MANAGEMENT
Executive Officers and Directors
All directors hold office for one-year terms until the election and qualification of their successors. Officers are appointed by our board of directors and serve at the
discretion of the board, subject to applicable employment agreements. The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and the members of our board
of directors.
5 CleanTechnica. \Electric Motors Use 45% of Global Electricity, Europe Responding {+ Electric Motor Efficiency Infographic},. June 16, 2011.
https://cleantechnica.com/2011/06/16/electric-motors-consume-45-of-global-electricity-europe-responding-electric-motor-efficiency-infographic/.
6 https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/variable-frequency-speed-drives-vfd-vsd-market 7https://www.prnewswire.com/in/news-releases/electric-vehiclesmarket-sales-will-surge-to-4-million-units-in-2020-12-million-units-in-2025-and-21-million-units-in-2030-858019212.html
8 https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/automotive-power-electronics-market-226516353.html
9 https://www.seia.org/research-resources/solar-market-insight-report-2018-q3
10 https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/pv-inverter-market-size-worth-10-37-billion-by-2026-cagr-3-9-grand-view-research-inc-300902312.html
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Name
Richard Brown

Age
39

Position
Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technical Officer and Director

James Shealy

65

Secretary and Treasurer

John Edmunds

64

Chairman of the Board and Director

Richard Ogawa

59

Director

Michael Thompson

64

Director

Richard Brown joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and a Director on June 21, 2019. He resigned from the positions of Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman, and was appointed as Chief Technical Officer of the Company as of March 11, 2020. He was appointed our Interim Chief Executive Officer on September 13, 2021.
He received his B.S., M.S., and Ph.D. from Cornell University, all in Electrical and Computer Engineering in 2004, 2007, and 2010, respectively. His Ph.D. research was
focused on advanced dielectrics for the passivation of microwave AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. After graduation, he was a founding member of the company that became Avogy, Inc.,
where he worked on the development of vertical GaN power devices for 2 years. Prior to the founding of Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, he co-owned JR2J, LLC, a semiconductor device prototyping business, as well as working as a visiting scientist at Cornell University researching GaN based
HEMTs. Mr. Brown has over 18 years of semiconductor device experience, most of it specializing in topics relating to GaN devices. We believe that Mr. Brown’s technical
experience in the semiconductor industry and extensive knowledge of the Company from his current role as our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technical Officer
qualify him to serve on our board of directors.
James Shealy has been Secretary and Treasurer of the Company since June 21, 2019. He is a co-founder of the Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and JR2J. He received his BS from North Carolina State University in 1978, his M.S. from Rensselaer Polytechnic in 1980, and his Ph.D. from Cornell
University in 1983. After earning his doctorate, Mr. Shealy held a dual appointment at Cornell University as a research associate and at General Electric as a principal staff
scientist. In 1983 he co-founded, and has chaired, the biennial international workshop on OMVPE (organometallic vapor phase epitaxy), a technique used for growing
semiconductor crystals. He joined the faculty in 1987 and is active in developing Cornell’s laboratory research in compound semiconductor materials and related graduate
courses.
John Edmunds has been a Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee since June 22, 2021, and became Chairman of the Board since September 22, 2021. Mr. Edmunds
served as Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Inphi Corporation since January 2008. He previously served as Chief Financial Officer of Trident
Microsystems, a semiconductor company, from June 2004 to January 2008. Mr. Edmunds also served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for Oak Technology,
Inc. from January 2000 until it was acquired by Zoran Corporation in August 2003. He continued to serve as Vice President of Finance for Zoran until June 2004. Mr. Edmunds
started his career as a C.P.A. with Coopers & Lybrand in San Francisco and San Jose in 1980s. He holds a B.S. degree in finance and accounting from the University of
California, Berkeley. We believe that Mr. Edmunds’ financial experience qualifies him to be Chairman of our Audit Committee and that his financial and technical experience
in the semiconductor industry and his leadership roles in other technology companies qualify him to serve on our board of directors. Since September 2001, Mr. Edmunds has
also been serving as the interim part-time Chief Financial Officer of Mythic Inc., a late stage private artificial intelligence semiconductor company called in Redwood City,
California.
Richard Ogawa joined the Board of Directors of the Company on June 21, 2019 and joined our Audit Committee on June 22, 2021. Mr. Ogawa currently also serves on the
board of directors of Amesite Inc., an SEC reporting company in the artificial intelligence software industry, since February 2018. He has been General Counsel at Inphi
Corporation since Jan 2013, responsible for overseeing legal matters as well as corporate, intellectual property, and government affairs. Mr. Ogawa is a Registered United
States Patent Attorney and a Member of the California State Bar with more than 25 years of experience specializing in technology companies. Prior to Inphi, from January 1993
to January 2010, he was a Partner at Townsend and Townsend and Crew, a law firm focused on intellectual property. He is the founder and owner of Ogawa Professional
Corporation, his own law firm, focusing on startup companies. Since February 2008, he has been General Counsel for Soraa Laser Diode, Inc., a venture funded company by
Khosla Ventures and acquired by Kyocera Corporation in 2022, and since December 2009 has been General Counsel for MCube, Inc., a venture funded company by Kleiner
Perkins Caufield & Byers. He also held a variety of engineering and management positions at NEC Electronics from December 1984 to December 1992. He received a B.S. in
Chemical Engineering from the University of California, Davis in 1984, and a J.D. from McGeorge George School of Law, University of the Pacific in 1991. We believe that
Mr. Ogawa’s many years of legal expertise in technology companies qualifies him to serve on our board of directors and Audit Committee.
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Michael Thompson joined the Board of Directors of the Company on June 21, 2019. He received his B.S. in Applied Physics from CalTech in 1979 and M.S./Ph.D. degrees in
Applied and Engineering Physics from Cornell in 1984. After completing his Ph.D, he joined the faculty in the Department of Materials Science at Cornell University
continuing his work on the interaction of materials with intense laser sources. He has co-authored over 100 journal publications, is co-inventor on 25 patents, and has founded or
co-founded three startup companies. He was the recipient of the 2009 SEMI Award for technical contributions to the semiconductor industry. For the past 28 years, Dr.
Thompson’s research has focused extensively on the behavior of semiconductor materials under pulsed and continuous-wave laser exposure. In the late 1990’s, he was involved
in the development of melt-annealing methods to fabricate thin-film transistors on glass and flexible substrates. Over the past decade, he helped to develop the use of CW lasers
for non-melt laser annealing (LSA – Laser Spike Annealing) of ultra-shallow junctions in advanced VLSI nodes. His group currently is active in exploring new applications for
LSA both within and beyond the microelectronics community. Areas of research include dopant activation and deactivation in compound semiconductors (InGaAs, GaN,
GaO2), thin-film amorphous oxide semiconductors (IGZO), metastable phase formation in metallic glasses and complex oxides during LSA quench, mesoscale structuring of
organic and inorganic materials in the millisecond timescale, and development of novel processes for EUV and DSA lithography. He is also currently the director of the
ACCESS (AFRL Cornell Center for Epitaxial SolutionS) center focused on understanding fundamental materials issues in GaO2 power devices. We believe that Mr.
Thompson’s extensive technical experience in the semiconductor industry qualifies him to serve on our board of directors.
Advisory Board Member
Name
Khurram Khan Afridi

Age
55

Position
Advisory Board Member

Khurram Khan Afridi was appointed as an Advisory Board Member of the Company as of June 7, 2021. Mr. Afridi is an Associate Professor of Electrical and Computer
Engineering at Cornell University. He received a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering from California Institute of Technology (1989), and Master of Science
(1992) and PhD (1998) degrees in electrical engineering and computer science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). His research interests are in power
electronics and energy systems incorporating power electronic controls. Prior to joining Cornell, he was an Assistant Professor and the Goh Faculty Fellow at the University of
Colorado (CU) Boulder (2014-2018), a visiting faculty at MIT’s EECS Department (2009-2014), and the Chief Operating Officer (2000-2010) and Chief Technology Officer
(1997-2000) of Techlogix, Inc.. From 2004 to 2008 he led the development of LUMS School of Science and Engineering (SSE) as Project Director. He has also worked for the
NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Lutron Electrronics Co., Koninklijke Philips N.V (Philips), and Schlumberger Limited. He is an associate editor of the IEEE Journal of
Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics, and was the Technical Program Committee (TPC) chair for the IEEE Wireless Power Transfer Conference (WPTC) in
2015. He received the Carnation Merit Award from Caltech (1988), the BMW Scientific Award from BMW AG (1999), the Werner-von-Siemens Chair for Power Electronics
from LUMS SSE (2008), the Dean’s Professional Progress Award from CU Boulder (2015), the ECEE Department Outstanding Overall Performance Award from CU Boulder

(2016), and the National Science Foundation CAREER Award from NSF (2016). He is co-author of five IEEE prize papers.
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Significant Employee
In addition to the officers, directors and an advisory board member disclosed above, the Company also has the following significant employee:
Name
Alfred Schremer

Age
64

Position
Vice President of Research and Development

Alfred Schremer has 40 years of experience working in the field III-V semiconductors with applications in RF- and opto-electronics. He earned his PhD in Electrical
Engineering from Cornell University, investigating various aspects of semiconductor laser physics, using lasers he fabricated from epitaxial materials he grew using facilities
within the School of Electrical Engineering. He joined BinOptics Corporation at its inception in 2001, serving in various roles from Lab Manager to Director of Research,
refining the etched facet laser processes which led to the enabling of low-cost wafer scale manufacturing of Fabry-Perot and distributed feedback lasers for the data and telecom
markets. In December 2014, BinOptics was acquired by MACOM Technology Solutions Inc., where Mr. Schremer served as a Director of Engineering, supporting
manufacturing and development of etched facet lasers.
Employment and Consulting Agreements
On July 1, 2019, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, the Company entered into an agreement with Al Schremer as Vice President of
Research and Development. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Schremer an annual salary of $100,000 and a one-time grant of options to purchase
100,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.
Other than Al Schremer, we have not entered into any other employment agreement with our management or significant employees.
On April 1, 2019, JR2J, our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a one-year independent contractor agreement with Richard Ogawa, pursuant to which Mr.
Ogawa agreed to serve as a director of the Company post-Share Exchange, and provide services related to intellectual property development, intellectual property strategies and
licensing of intellectual property. This Agreement automatically renews for additional terms of one-year unless terminated in accordance with the Agreement. In consideration
for Mr. Ogawa’s services to the Company, on September 25, 2019, the Company granted Mr. Ogawa a 10-year option under the 2019 Plan to purchase 275,000 shares of
Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, half of which vested on September 25, 2020 and the balance of which vested on September 25, 2021.
On May 16, 2019, Odyssey Semiconductor, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a one-year independent contractor agreement with Alex Behfar, pursuant to
which Mr. Behfar agreed to serve as a director of the Company post-Share Exchange, and provide services related to corporate development and business strategy, and
intellectual property strategies. In consideration for Mr. Behfar’s services to the Company, on September 25, 2019, the Company granted Mr. Behfar a 10-year option under the
2019 Plan to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, half of which vested on September 25, 2020 and the balance of which vested on September
22, 2021. Mr. Behar was appointed Chief Executive Officer on September 16, 2020. Mr. Behfar tendered his resignation as Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Director of the Company, effective as of September 22, 2021.
On June 7, 2021, Khurram Khan Afridi was appointed as an Advisory Board Member to bring his extensive expertise in power systems to the Company and work with
the Company in setting up the expectations from customers in areas such as electric vehicles and solar energy. Mr. Afridi agreed to be at the facility of the Company for one
hour per week. In connection with such appointment, Mr. Afridi was granted 10-year options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $3.55 per share.
In connection with John Edmunds’s appointment as a Director and Chairman of Audit Committee of the Company on June 22, 2021, the Company agreed to pay Mr.
Edmunds (i) an annual cash compensation of $20,000; (ii) a one-time grant on June 22, 2021 of non-qualified stock options under the Company 2019 Equity Compensation Plan
to purchase 70,246 shares of Common Stock of the Company at $2.90 per share; (iii) an annual grant of non-qualified stock options under the 2019 Plan to purchase a number
of shares of common stock of the Corporation that have a value of $60,000, calculated using the fair market value of Common Stock of the Company as determined by the
Board as of the date of grant, with an exercise price equal to the closing bid price of Common Stock of the Company as of the date of grant; provided that Mr. Edmunds shall
have served on the Board for at least six months prior to the date of grant; and (iv) reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs and travel expenses in connection with his
attendance at meetings of the Board and Audit Committee.
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Legal Proceedings
There are no outstanding lawsuits or judgments against the Company or any consent decrees or injunctions to which the Company is subject or by which any of its
assets are bound and there are no claims, proceedings, actions or lawsuits in existence, or to our knowledge threatened or asserted, against the Company or with respect to any of
its assets that would materially and adversely affect the business, property or financial condition of the Company.
Corporate Governance
Governance Structure
We chose to appoint a separate Chairman of the Board who is not our Chief Executive Officer. Our board of directors has made this decision based on their belief that
an independent Chairman of the Board can act as a balance to the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board’s Role in Risk Oversight
The board of directors oversees that the assets of our company are properly safeguarded, that the appropriate financial and other controls are maintained, and that our
business is conducted wisely and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations and proper governance. Included in these responsibilities is the board’s oversight of the
various risks facing our company. In this regard, our board seeks to understand and oversee critical business risks. Our board does not view risk in isolation. Risks are
considered in virtually every business decision and as part of our business strategy. Our board recognizes that it is neither possible nor prudent to eliminate all risk. Indeed,
purposeful and appropriate risk-taking is essential for our company to be competitive on a global basis and to achieve its objectives.
While the board oversees risk management, company management is charged with managing risk. Management communicates routinely with the board and individual
directors on the significant risks identified and how they are being managed. Directors are free to, and indeed often do, communicate directly with senior management.
Our board administers its risk oversight function as a whole by making risk oversight a matter of collective consideration. Much of this work has been delegated to
committees, which will meet regularly and report back to the full board. The audit committee oversees risks related to our financial statements, the financial reporting process,

accounting and legal matters, the compensation committee evaluates the risks and rewards associated with our compensation philosophy and programs, and the nominating and
corporate governance committee evaluates risk associated with management decisions and strategic direction.
Independent Directors
Nasdaq’s rules generally require that a majority of an issuer’s board of directors must consist of independent directors. Our board of directors currently consists of four
(4) directors, of which John Edmunds, Richard Ogawa and Michael Thompson are independent within the meaning of Nasdaq’s rules.
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Committees of the Board of Directors
Our board has established an audit committee with its own charter approved by the board. The board has also approved the establishment of a compensation committee
and a nominating and corporate governance committee, each with its own charter approved by the board, to be effective as of the effective date of the registration statement of
which this prospectus is a part. The committee charters have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Upon completion of this
offering, we intend to make each committee’s charter available on our website at https://www.odysseysemi.com/.
In addition, our board of directors may, from time to time, designate one or more additional committees, which shall have the duties and powers granted to it by our board of
directors.
Audit Committee
John Edmunds and Michael Thompson, each of whom satisfies the “independence” requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq’s rules. Mr.
Edmunds currently serves on our audit committee as a member and the chairman. The board has also approved the appointment of Mr. Thompson on our audit committee, to be
effective as of the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Our board has determined that Mr. Edmunds qualifies as an “audit committee
financial expert.” The audit committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of the financial statements of our company.
The audit committee is responsible for, among other things: (i) retaining and overseeing our independent accountants; (ii) assisting the board in its oversight of the
integrity of our financial statements, the qualifications, independence and performance of our independent auditors and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iii) reviewing and approving the plan and scope of the internal and external audit; (iv) pre-approving any audit and non-audit services provided by our independent auditors; (v)
approving the fees to be paid to our independent auditors; (vi) reviewing with our chief executive officer and principal financial officer and independent auditors the adequacy
and effectiveness of our internal controls; (vii) reviewing hedging transactions; and (viii) reviewing and assessing annually the audit committee’s performance and the adequacy
of its charter.
Compensation Committee
John Edmunds and Michael Thompson, each of whom satisfies the “independence” requirements of Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq’s rules, will serve
on our compensation committee to be effective as of the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, with Mr. Edmunds serving as the
chairman. The members of the compensation committee are also “outside directors” as defined in Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
Code, and “non-employee directors” within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. The compensation committee assists the board in reviewing and approving the
compensation structure, including all forms of compensation, relating to our directors and executive officers.
The compensation committee is responsible for, among other things: (i) reviewing and approving the remuneration of our executive officers; (ii) making
recommendations to the board regarding the compensation of our independent directors; (iii) making recommendations to the board regarding equity-based and incentive
compensation plans, policies and programs; and (iv) reviewing and assessing annually the compensation committee’s performance and the adequacy of its charter.
The charter of the compensation committee has been adopted by the board, to be effective as of the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus
is a part.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Richard Ogawa and John Edmunds, each of whom satisfies the “independence” requirements of Nasdaq’s rules, will serve on our nominating and corporate
governance committee, with Mr. Ogawa serving as the chairman. The nominating and corporate governance committee assists the board of directors in selecting individuals
qualified to become our directors and in determining the composition of the board and its committees.
The nominating and corporate governance committee will be responsible for, among other things: (i) identifying and evaluating individuals qualified to become
members of the board by reviewing nominees for election to the board submitted by shareholders and recommending to the board director nominees for each annual meeting of
shareholders and for election to fill any vacancies on the board; (ii) advising the board with respect to board organization, desired qualifications of board members, the
membership, function, operation, structure and composition of committees (including any committee authority to delegate to subcommittees), and self-evaluation and policies;
(iii) advising on matters relating to corporate governance and monitoring developments in the law and practice of corporate governance; (iv) overseeing compliance with the our
code of business conduct; and (v) approving any related party transactions.
The charter of the nominating and corporate governance committee has been adopted by the board, to be effective as of the effective date of the registration statement
of which this prospectus is a part.
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The nominating and corporate governance committee’s methods for identifying candidates for election to our board of directors (other than those proposed by our
shareholders, as discussed below) will include the solicitation of ideas for possible candidates from a number of sources - members of our board of directors, our executives,
individuals personally known to the members of our board of directors, and other research. The nominating and corporate governance committee may also, from time-to-time,
retain one or more third-party search firms to identify suitable candidates.
In making director recommendations, the nominating and corporate governance committee may consider some or all of the following factors: (i) the candidate’s
judgment, skill, experience with other organizations of comparable purpose, complexity and size, and subject to similar legal restrictions and oversight; (ii) the interplay of the
candidate’s experience with the experience of other board members; (iii) the extent to which the candidate would be a desirable addition to the board and any committee
thereof; (iv) whether or not the person has any relationships that might impair his or her independence; and (v) the candidate’s ability to contribute to the effective management
of our company, taking into account the needs of our company and such factors as the individual’s experience, perspective, skills and knowledge of the industry in which we
operate.

A shareholder may nominate one or more persons for election as a director at an annual meeting of shareholders if the shareholder complies with the notice and
information provisions contained in our bylaws. Such notice must be in writing to our Company not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day nor earlier than
the close of business on the one-hundred-twentieth (120th) day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the
date of the annual meeting is advanced more than thirty (30) days prior to or delayed by more than thirty (30) days after the anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting,
notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such annual meeting and not
later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of
the date of such meeting is first made or as otherwise required by the Exchange Act. In addition, shareholders furnishing such notice must be a holder of record on both (i) the
date of delivering such notice and (ii) the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting.
Code of Business Conduct
We have adopted a code of business conduct that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees. Such code of business conduct addresses, among other things,
honesty and ethical conduct, conflicts of interest, compliance with laws, regulations and policies, including disclosure requirements under the federal securities laws, and
reporting of violations of the code.
A copy of the code of business conduct has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. We are required to disclose any
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our code of business conduct applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer,
controller, or persons performing similar functions. We intend to use our website as a method of disseminating this disclosure as well as by SEC filings, as permitted or required
by applicable SEC rules. Any such disclosure will be posted to our website within four (4) business days following the date of any such amendment to, or waiver from, a
provision of our code of business conduct.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table
The following table presents information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our chief executive officer and the other most highlycompensated executive officers (other than the chief executive officer) who were serving as executive officers during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Name and Principal Position
Alex Behfar (1)
Former Chairman and
Former Chief Executive
Officer
Richard J. Brown (2)
Interim Chief Executive
Officer and Chief
Technical Officer
James R. Shealy
Secretary and Treasurer

Year
2021

Salary
($)

Option
Awards
($)(3)

Bonus
($)

Non-equity
incentive plan
compensation
($)
0

Nonqualified
deferred
compensation
earnings
($)
0

All Other
Compensation
($)
0

Total
($)

20

0

0

20

2020
2021

10
150,000

0
0

3,483,928
137,295

0
0

0
0

0
0

4,406,125
287,295

2020
2021
2020

150,000
60,000
55,625

0
0
0

0
109,836
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

150,000
169,836
55,625

(1) Mr. Behfar was appointed as the Company’s Acting Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman on March 11, 2020, and as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman on
September 16, 2020. Mr. Behfar tendered his resignation as Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director of the Company, effective as of
September 22, 2021. This table includes compensation paid to Mr. Behfar from January 1, 2020 to March 11, 2020 as a non-employee director, and for the remainder of
2020 as an executive officer and director. Mr. Behfar received $10.00 cash compensation earned in 2020. Starting January 1, 2021 until his resignation on September 22,
2021, he received a cash compensation of $1.00 per month.
(2) Mr. Brown was Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company from June 21, 2019 to March 11, 2020, Chief Technical Officer since March 11, 2020, and also
Interim Chief Executive Officer since September 13, 2021.
(3) The amounts reported in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate fair value of stock-based compensation awarded during the year computed in accordance with the
provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718.
2019 Equity Compensation Plan
General
On June 18, 2019, our Board of Directors adopted an Equity Compensation Plan (the “2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan was approved by the stockholders on the same day.
On May 26, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the 2019 Plan to (i) increase the number of shares of
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan from 1,326,000 to 2,500,000 shares; (ii) increase the maximum aggregate number of shares, options and/or other
awards that may be granted to any one person during any calendar year from 500,000 to 1,300,000; and (iii) clarify the availability of cashless exercise as a form of
consideration. On September 16, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved the second amendment to the 2019 Plan to (i) increase
the number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan from 2,500,000 to 4,600,000; (ii) increase the maximum aggregate number of shares,
options and/or other awards that may be granted to any one person during any calendar year from 1,300,000 to 2,950,000.
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As of the date hereof, a total of 4,360,656 options have been granted under the 2019 Plan, of which 1,398,246 options are outstanding, 315,625 options have been
exercised. There are 2,886,129 shares are available to be issued in the future under the 2019 Plan.
The general purpose of the 2019 Plan is to provide an incentive to our employees, directors, consultants and advisors by enabling them to share in the future growth of
our business. Our Board of Directors believes that the granting of stock options, restricted stock awards, unrestricted stock awards and similar kinds of equity-based
compensation promotes continuity of management and increases incentive and personal interest in the welfare of our Company by those who are primarily responsible for
shaping and carrying out our long range plans and securing our growth and financial success.

Our Board of Directors believes that the 2019 Plan will advance our interests by enhancing our ability to (a) attract and retain employees, consultants, directors and
advisors who are in a position to make significant contributions to our success; (b) reward our employees, consultants, directors and advisors for these contributions; and (c)
encourage employees, consultants, directors and advisors to take into account our long-term interests through ownership of our shares.
Description of the 2019 Equity Compensation Plan
The following description of the principal terms of the 2019 Plan, as amended, is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the amended 2019 Plan,
which was filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed on April 8, 2021.
Administration. The 2019 Plan will be administered by our Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors may grant options to purchase shares of our Common Stock, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock units, restricted or unrestricted shares of our Common Stock, performance shares, performance units, other cash-based awards and other
stock-based awards. The Board of Directors also has broad authority to determine the terms and conditions of each option or other kind of equity award, adopt, amend and
rescind rules and regulations for the administration of the 2019 Plan and amend or modify outstanding options, grants and awards.
Eligibility. Persons eligible to receive options, stock appreciation rights or other awards under the 2019 Plan are employees, consultants, advisors and directors of our Company
and our subsidiaries. As of the date hereof, 12 full-time employees, one part-time employee, and two non-employee directors are eligible to participate in the 2019 Plan. The
Board of Directors may at any time and from time to time grant awards under the 2019 Plan to eligible persons on a discretionary basis.
Shares Subject to the 2019 Plan. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance in connection with options and awards granted under the 2019 Plan,
as amended, is 4,600,000, subject to customary adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions. Incentive Stock Options may be granted under the 2019
Plan with respect to all of those shares. If any option or stock appreciation right granted under the 2019 Plan terminates without having been exercised in full or if any award is
forfeited, or if shares of Common Stock are withheld to cover withholding taxes on options or other awards, the number of shares of Common Stock as to which such option or
award was forfeited, or which were withheld, will be available for future grants under the 2019 Plan. The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock with respect
to one or more awards that may be granted to any employee, director or consultant during any calendar year shall be 2,950,000 and the maximum aggregate amount of cash that
may be paid in cash during any calendar year with respect to one or more awards payable in cash shall be $200,000.
Terms and Conditions of Options. Options granted under the 2019 Plan may be either “incentive stock options” that are intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or “nonstatutory stock options” that do not meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Code. Incentive stock options
may be granted only to employees. Each option grant will be evidenced by an award agreement that will specify the terms and conditions as determined by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors will determine the exercise price of options granted under the 2019 Plan. The exercise price of stock options may not be less than the fair
market value, on the date of grant, per share of our Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the option (or 110% of fair market value in the case of incentive options granted to
a ten-percent stockholder).
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If on the date of grant the Common Stock is listed on a stock exchange or is quoted on the automated quotation system of Nasdaq, the fair market value shall generally
be the closing sale price on the last trading day before the date of grant. If no such prices are available, the fair market value shall be determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors based on the advice of a qualified valuation expert.
No option may be exercisable for more than ten years (five years in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a ten-percent stockholder) from the date of grant.
Options granted under the 2019 Plan will be exercisable at such time or times as the Board of Directors prescribes at the time of grant. No employee may receive incentive stock
options that first become exercisable in any calendar year in an amount exceeding $100,000.
Generally, the option price may be paid (a) in cash or by bank check, (b) through delivery of shares of our Common Stock having a fair market value equal to the
purchase price, (c) through cashless exercise, or (d) a combination of these methods.
No option may be transferred other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and during a recipient’s lifetime an option may be exercised only by the
recipient. Options granted under the 2019 Plan will be exercisable at such time or times as the Board of Directors prescribes at the time of grant. No employee may receive
incentive stock options that first become exercisable in any calendar year in an amount exceeding $100,000.
Stock Appreciation Rights. The Board of Directors may grant stock appreciation rights under the 2019 Plan in such amounts as the Board of Directors in its sole discretion will
determine. Each stock appreciation right grant will be evidenced by an award agreement that will specify the terms and conditions as determined by the Board of Directors. The
exercise price per share of a stock appreciation right will be determined by the Board of Directors, but will not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of our
Common Stock on the date of grant. The maximum term of any SAR granted under the 2019 Plan is ten years from the date of grant. Generally, each SAR stock appreciation
right will entitle a participant upon exercise to an amount equal to:
●

the excess of the fair market value on the exercise date of one share of our Common Stock over the exercise price, multiplied by

●

the number of shares of Common Stock covered by the stock appreciation right.

Payment may be made in shares of our Common Stock, in cash, or partly in Common Stock and partly in cash, all as determined by the Board of Directors.
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. The Board of Directors may award restricted common stock and/or restricted stock units under the 2019 Plan in such amounts as
the Board of Directors in its sole discretion will determine. The Board of Directors will determine the restrictions and conditions applicable to each award of restricted stock or
restricted stock units, as evidenced in an award agreement, which may include performance-based conditions. Dividends and other distributions with respect to restricted stock
may be paid to the holder of the shares as and when dividends are paid to stockholders, unless otherwise provided in the award agreement. Unless the Board of Directors
determines otherwise, holders of restricted stock will have the right to vote the shares.
Performance Shares and Performance Units. The Board of Directors may award performance shares and/or performance units under the 2019 Plan in such amounts as the
Board of Directors in its sole discretion will determine. Each performance unit will have an initial value that is established by the Board of Directors on or before the date of
grant. Each performance share will have an initial value equal to the fair market value of a share on the date of grant. The Board of Directors at its discretion will set
performance objectives or other vesting provisions. The Board of Directors will determine the restrictions and conditions applicable to each award of performance shares and
performance units, as evidenced in an award agreement.
Effect of Certain Corporate Transactions. In the event of a change in control (as defined in the 2019 Plan), the Board of Directors has the discretion and without the need for
the consent of any recipient of an award to take the following actions as to an outstanding award: (i) awards will be assumed, or substantially equivalent awards will be
substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation; (ii) awards will terminate upon or immediately prior to the consummation of such change in control; (iii) outstanding
awards will vest and become exercisable, or restrictions applicable to an award will lapse, in whole or in part prior to or upon consummation of such change in control, and
terminate upon or immediately prior to the effectiveness of such change in control; (iv) an award is terminated in exchange for an amount of cash and/or property, if any, equal
to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such award; (v) an award is replaced with other rights or property selected by the Board of Directors in its sole
discretion; or (vi) any combination of the foregoing.
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Amendment, Termination. The Board of Directors may at any time amend, alter, amend the terms of awards in any manner not inconsistent with the 2019 Plan, provided that
no amendment shall adversely affect the rights of a participant with respect to an outstanding award without the participant’s consent. In addition, our board of directors may at
any time amend, suspend, or terminate the 2019 Plan, provided that (i) no such amendment, suspension or termination shall materially and adversely affect the rights of any
participant under any outstanding award without the consent of such participant and (ii) to the extent necessary to comply with any applicable law or stock exchange rule, the
Company will obtain stockholder consent of amendment to the plan.
Tax Withholding
As and when appropriate, we have the right to require each optionee purchasing shares of Common Stock and each grantee receiving an award of shares of Common
Stock under the 2019 Plan to pay any federal, state or local taxes required by law to be withheld.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table presents information regarding the outstanding options held by each of our directors and named executive officers as of December 31, 2021. None
of our directors or named executive officers held any outstanding restricted stock unit or other equity awards as of December 31, 2021.

Grant
Date

Name
Richard Ogawa
Michael Thompson
James Shealy
Richard Ogawa
Michael Thompson
John Edmunds
Richard Ogawa
Michael Thompson
John Edmunds
Richard Ogawa
John Edmunds
Richard Brown
James Shealy

9/25/2019
11/5/2019
11/5/2019
5/30/2021
5/30/2021
6/16/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021
12/30/2021

total

Option Awards
Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised Options
Exercisable
Unexercisable
(#)
(#)
275,000
25,000
11,583
—
—
—
2,500
2,500
2,500
2,917
1,667
—
—

18,417
50,000
50,000
70,246
17,500
17,500
17,500
32,083
18,333
100,000
80,000

323,667

471,579

Exercise price
($)
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Expiration
Date

1.50
1.50
1.50
3.93
3.93
2.90
1.77
1.77
1.77
1.77
1.77
1.77
1.77

9/25/2029
11/5/2029
11/5/2024
5/30/2031
5/30/2031
6/16/2031
12/30/2031
12/30/2031
12/30/2031
12/30/2031
12/30/2031
12/30/2026
12/30/2026
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The grant of options and other awards under the 2019 Plan is discretionary, and we cannot determine now the specific number or type of options or awards to be
granted in the future to any particular person or group.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
The table below shows the compensation paid to our directors during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Name
John Edmunds(1)
Richard Ogawa
Michael Thompson
(1)
(2)

Year
2021
2020
2021
2020
2021
2020

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

Option
Awards(2)
196,428
—
216,195
—
159,449
—

Total
$
$
$
$
$
$

196,428
—
216,195
—
159,449
—

John Edmunds was appointed onto the Board on June 22, 2021. He was not a director of the Company during 2020.
The amounts reported in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate fair value of stock-based compensation awarded during the year computed in accordance with
the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718.

On April 1, 2019, JR2J, our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a one-year independent contractor agreement with Richard Ogawa, pursuant to which Mr.
Ogawa agreed to provide services related to intellectual property development, intellectual property strategies and licensing of intellectual property. This Agreement
automatically renews for additional terms of one-year unless terminated in accordance with the Agreement. In consideration for Mr. Ogawa’s services to the Company, on
September 25, 2019, the Company granted Mr. Ogawa a 10-year option under the 2019 Plan to purchase 275,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, half of
which vested on September 25, 2020 and the balance of which vested on September 25, 2021.
In connection with John Edmunds’ appointment as a Director and Chairman of Audit Committee of the Company on June 22, 2021, we have agreed to pay Mr.
Edmunds (i) an annual cash compensation of $20,000; (ii) a one-time grant on June 22, 2021 of non-qualified stock options under the Company 2019 Equity Compensation Plan
to purchase 70,246 shares of Common Stock of the Company at $2.90 per share; (iii) an annual grant of non-qualified stock options under the 2019 Plan to purchase a number
of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation that have a value of $60,000, calculated using the fair market value of Common Stock of the Company as determined by the
Board as of the date of grant, with an exercise price equal to the closing bid price of Common Stock of the Company as of the date of grant; provided that Mr. Edmunds shall
have served on the Board for at least six months prior to the date of grant; and (iv) reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs and travel expenses in connection with his
attendance at meetings of the Board and Audit Committee.
Other than the above-mentioned cash compensation paid to Mr. Edmunds as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of Audit Committee of the Company, our nonemployee directors do not receive any cash compensation for serving on the Board of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, our non-employee directors did not receive any option grants.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted the following options to our non-employee directors: (i) on June 2, 2021, 10-year non-qualified
stock options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $3.93 per share to each of Richard Ogawa and Michael Thompson; (ii) on December 30, 2021, 10-year
non-qualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to each of John Edmunds, Richard Ogawa and Michael Thompson; and
(iii) on December 30, 2021, 10-year non-qualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares and 35,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to John Edmunds
(for providing service to the Company as Chairman of the Board) and Richard Ogawa, respectively.
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In addition, we have agreed to reimburse the directors of travel and other expenses in connection with their performance of duties as directors of the Company.
Other than disclosed above, we do not have other agreements or arrangements with our non-employee directors to compensate them for serving on our board.
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS
The following table sets forth the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned as of February 10, 2022 by:
●

each of our named executive officers;

●

each of our directors;

●

all of our directors and current executive officers as a group; and

●

each of our stockholders who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our Common Stock

Beneficial ownership is determined based on the rules and regulations of the Commission. A person has beneficial ownership of shares if such individual has the
power to vote and/or dispose of shares. This power may be sole or shared and direct or indirect. Applicable percentage ownership in the following table is based on the total of
12,726,911 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the date hereof. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage
ownership of that person, shares of Common Stock that are subject to options or warrants held by that person and exercisable as of, or within 60 days hereof. These shares,
however, are not counted as outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person(s). Except as may be indicated in the footnotes to this table
and pursuant to applicable community property laws, each person named in the table has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of Common Stock set forth
opposite that person’s name. Unless indicated below, the address of each individual listed below is c/o Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., 9 Brown Road, Ithaca, NY
14850.
Common Stock Beneficially Owned Prior to
this Offering(1)

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Richard J. Brown, Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technical
Officer and Director
James R. Shealy, Secretary and Treasurer
John Edmunds, Chairman of the Board and Director
Richard Ogawa, Director
Michael Thompson, Director
All Executive Officers and Directors (5 persons)
Greater than 5% Stockholders
Mark Tompkins

Common Stock Beneficially Owned After
this Offering(2)
Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership
Percent of class

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial
Ownership

Percent of class

2,731,251(1)
2,743,750(2)
142,085(3)
328,335(4)
30,000(5)
5,975,421

21.46
21.56
1.11
2.52
*
46.95

2,731,251
2,743,750
17,085
328,335
30,000
5,975,421

2,816,033(6)

22.13

2,816,033

[]
[]
[]
[]
[]
[]
[]
[]

* Less than 1%.
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(1)

Includes (i) 2,658,334 shares of Common Stock issued in connection with the Share Exchange; (ii) 66,667 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private
placement in June 2019; and (iii) 6,250 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private placement in March 2021.

(2)

Includes (i) 2,658,333 shares of Common Stock issued in connection with the Share Exchange; (ii) 66,667 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private
placement in June 2019; and (iii) 18,750 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private placement in March 2021.

(3)

Includes (i) 125,000 shares of Common Stock purchased on the open market in October 2021; (ii) vested options to purchase 5,417 shares of Common Stock at
the price of $1.77 per share, granted under the Company’s 2019 Plan; (iii) options exercisable within 60 days to purchase an aggregate of 2,500 shares of
Common Stock at the price of $1.77 per share; and (iv) options exercisable within 60 days to purchase an aggregate of 1,667 shares of Common Stock at the
price of $1.77 per share. In addition, Mr. Edmunds also owns the following: (i) options to purchase 70,246 shares of Common Stock at the price of $2.90 per
share, which will vest over 4 years in equal annual installments starting from June 22, 2022; (ii) options to purchase 17,500 shares of Common Stock at the
price of $1.77 per share, which will vest quarterly in 6 equal installments starting from June 30, 2022; and (iii) options to purchase 18,333 shares of Common
Stock at the price of $1.77 per share, which will vest quarterly in 8 equal installments starting from April 30, 2022.

(4)

Includes (i) 16,667 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private placement in August 2019; (ii) 20,000 shares of Common Stock purchased at a private
placement in March 2021; (iii) vested options to purchase 275,000 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share, granted under the Company’s 2019
Plan; (iv) vested options to purchase 2,500 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.77 per share; and (v) vested options to purchase 2,917 shares of Common
Stock at the price of $1.77 per share. In addition, Mr. Ogawa also owns (i) options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at $3.93 per share, half of
which will vest as of June 2, 2022 and the other half June 2, 2023; (ii) options to purchase 17,500 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.77 per share,
which will vest quarterly in 6 equal installments starting from June 30, 2022; and (iii) options to purchase 32,083 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.77
per share, which will vest quarterly in 8 equal installments starting from April 30, 2022.

(5)

Includes (i) vested options to purchase 25,000 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share, granted under the Company’s 2019 Plan; and (ii) vested
options to purchase 2,500 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.77 per share. Mr. Thompson also owns (i) options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common
Stock at $3.93 per share, half of which will vest as of June 2, 2022 and the other half June 2, 2023; and (ii) options to purchase 17,500 shares of Common Stock
at the price of $1.77 per share, which will vest quarterly in 6 equal installments starting from June 30, 2022.

(6)

Includes (i) 2,741,033 shares of Common Stock; and (ii) 75,000 shares of Common Stock held by Montrose Capital Partners Limited, over which Mr.
Tompkins has voting, dispositive or investment powers. Mr. Tompkins’ address is Apt. 1, Via Guidino 23, 6900 Lugano-Paradiso, Switzerland.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Unless described below, since April 12, 2019 (inception), there are no transactions or series of similar transactions to which we were a party or will be a party, in
which:
●

the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of the Company’s total assets at year-end for the last two completed
fiscal years; and

●

any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of the foregoing persons, had
or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

On April 1, 2019, JR2J, our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a one-year independent contractor agreement with Richard Ogawa, pursuant to which Mr.
Ogawa agreed to serve as a director of the Company post-Share Exchange, and provide services related to intellectual property development, intellectual property strategies and
licensing of intellectual property. This Agreement automatically renews for additional terms of one-year unless terminated in accordance with the Agreement. In consideration
for Mr. Ogawa’s services to the Company, on September 25, 2019, the Company granted Mr. Ogawa a 10-year option under the 2019 Plan to purchase 275,000 shares of
Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, half of which vested on September 25, 2020 and the balance of which vested on September 25, 2021.
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On May 16, 2019, Odyssey Semiconductor, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a one-year independent contractor agreement with Alex Behfar, pursuant to
which Mr. Behfar agreed to serve as a director of the Company post-Share Exchange, and provide services related to corporate development and business strategy, and
intellectual property strategies. In consideration for Mr. Behfar’s services to the Company, on September 25, 2019, the Company granted Mr. Behfar a 10-year option under the
2019 Plan to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.50 per share, half of which vested on September 25, 2020 and the remaining on September 22, 2021.
This agreement was terminated when Mr. Behfar resigned from the positions of Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors and a Director of the Company on
September 22, 2021.
On June 17, 2019, Odyssey Semiconductor entered into a Contribution Agreement (the “Contribution Agreement”) with Richard Brown and James Shealy, who
collectively owned 100% of the membership interests of JR2J. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, Messrs. Brown and Shealy contributed their membership interests in
JR2J to Odyssey Semiconductor, in exchange for a total of 5,316,667 shares of Common Stock of Odyssey Semiconductor. Following the transactions contemplated under the
Contribution Agreement, JR2J became the wholly-owned subsidiary of Odyssey Semiconductor.
On June 18, 2019, Odyssey Semiconductor issued 350,000 shares of immediately vested Common Stock to Jeffrey Shealy for cash proceeds of $350 in connection
with services provided by Mr. Shealy. On June 21, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the shares of Odyssey Semiconductor through a share exchange with stockholders of
Odyssey Semiconductor, pursuant to which Mr. Shealy exchanged 350,000 shares of common stock of Odyssey Semiconductor to the same number of shares of the Company’s
Common Stock. Jeffrey Shealy is brother of James Shealy, an officer and a principal owner of the Company. The shares issued to Mr. Shealy had an issuance date fair value
(based upon a contemporaneous private offering of our Common Stock at $1.50 per share) of $1.50 per share, or $525,000 in total.
On March 11, 2020, in connection with his appointment as the Company’s Acting Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman, Mr. Behfar was granted options to
purchase 375,000 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share, that vest ratably on a monthly basis over two years and options to purchase 125,000 shares of
Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share, which vested in March 2021. On July 17, 2020, Mr. Behfar was granted options to purchase 600,000 shares of Common Stock at
the price of $1.50 per share that vest ratably on a monthly basis over 20 months and options to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share which
vested on March 30, 2021. On September 16, 2020, in connection with his appointment as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Mr. Behfar was granted
options to purchase 1,637,410 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share that will vest ratably on a monthly basis over 24 months starting from March 11, 2022.
Upon Mr. Behfar’s resignation as Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director of the Company, effective as of September 22, 2021, a total of
1,911,160 unvested options were forfeited.
In connection with Mr. Edmunds’s appointment as a Director and Chairman of Audit Committee of the Company, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Edmunds (i) an
annual cash compensation of $20,000; (ii) a one-time grant on June 22, 2021 of non-qualified stock options under the Company 2019 Equity Compensation Plan to purchase
70,246 shares of Common Stock of the Company at $2.90 per share; (iii) an annual grant of non-qualified stock options under the 2019 Plan to purchase a number of shares of
Common Stock of the Company that have a value of $60,000, calculated using the fair market value of Common Stock of the Company as determined by the Board as of the
date of grant, with an exercise price equal to the closing bid price of Common Stock of the Company as of the date of grant; provided that Mr. Edmunds shall have served on the
Board for at least six months prior to the date of grant; and (iv) reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket costs and travel expenses in connection with his attendance at
meetings of the Board and Audit Committee.
On December 30, 2021, the board of directors approved the following grants to our officers and directors under the 2019 Plan: (i) 10-year non-qualified stock options
to purchase 20,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to each of John Edmunds, Richard Ogawa and Michael Thompson, non-employee directors of the
Company; (ii) 10-year non-qualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares and 35,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to John Edmunds (for providing
service to the Company as Chairman of the Board) and Richard Ogawa, respectively; and (iii) 5-year options to purchase 100,000 shares and 80,000 shares of Common Stock at
a price of $1.77 per share to Richard Brown and James Shealy, respectively.
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In March 2021, the Company sold 1,251,625 shares of common stock at $4.00 per share for gross proceeds of $5,006,500 in connection with a private placement of
securities. The costs associated with such issuance were $407,445 in cash and warrants to purchase 89,730 shares of Common Stock of the Company with a term of 5 years and
an exercise price of $4.00 per share. An aggregate of $480,000 of proceeds were raised from related parties (including an aggregate of $430,000 from Alex Behfar’s family
member, Richard Brown, Richard Ogawa and James Shealy), representing approximately 10% of the total gross proceeds.
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
Our authorized capitalization consists of 50,000,000 shares, which include (i) 45,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $.0001 per share, of which 12,726,911
shares of Common Stock are issued and outstanding as at the date of this prospectus, and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $.0001 per share, of which no shares

are issued and outstanding.
Common Stock
Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder thereof to one (1) vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of Common Stock.Holders of shares of
Common Stock are not entitled to cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to receive such dividends as the board of
directors may, from time to time, declare out of Company funds legally available for the payment of dividends. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company, holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to receive pro rata all of the assets of the Company available for distribution to shareholders.
Shareholders do not have any pre-emptive rights to subscribe for or purchase any stock or other securities of the Company. The Common Stock is not convertible or
redeemable. Neither the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation nor its By-Laws provide for pre-emptive rights.
Preferred Stock
The Preferred Stock of the Company shall be issued by the Board of Directors in one or more classes or one or more series within any class and such classes or series
shall have such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences, limitations or restrictions as the Board of Directors may determine from
time to time.
Warrants
As of the date of this prospectus, we had issued (i) five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 155,966 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per
share to the placement agent in the August 2019 Private Placement, and (ii) five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 89,730 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price
of $4.00 per share to the placement agent in the March 2021 Private Placement.
Underwriter’s Warrants
Upon the closing of this offering, there will be up to [ ] shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the representative’s warrants, assuming a public offering
price of $[ ] per share. See “Underwriting—Underwriter’s Warrants” below for a description of the Underwriter’s Warrants.
Options
As of the date of this prospectus, there are 1,398,246 outstanding options to purchase our Common Stock with exercise prices within the range of $1.50 to $3.93 per
share.
65

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Vstock Transfer, LLC is the transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock.
MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Information
We received approval from the OTCQB Market to trade our Common Stock under the ticker symbol of “ODII” as of August 27, 2020. There is currently limited
trading volume for our Common Stock. We plan to apply to list our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol of “ODII”. No assurance can be given that
our listing application will be approved.
Future sales of substantial amounts of our shares in the public market could adversely affect market prices prevailing from time to time and could impair our ability to
raise capital through the sale of our equity securities.
Holders
As of the date of this prospectus, there are 73 record holders of our Common Stock.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table summarized the compensation plan under which equity securities of the Company are authorized for issuance as of the end of fiscal year 2021.

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)

Plan category
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2019 Equity
Compensation Plan
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total

1,643,942
—
1,643,942

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(b)

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column
(a))
(c)

$

2.23

2,886,129

$

—
2.23

—
2,886,129

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Based on our shares outstanding as of September 30, 2021, on the closing of this offering, a total of [ ] shares of Common Stock will be outstanding if the underwriters
do not exercise the over-allotment option. Of these shares, all of the Common Stock sold in this offering by us, plus any shares sold by us on the exercise of the underwriters’
option to purchase additional Common Stock, plus 2,147,120 shares of Common stock currently outstanding and held by public shareholders will be freely tradable in the
public market without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless these shares are held by “affiliates,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the
Securities Act.
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The remaining shares of Common Stock will be, and shares of Common Stock underlying stock options and warrants currently outstanding, will be on issuance,
“restricted securities,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. These restricted securities are eligible for public sale only if they are registered under the
Securities Act or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, which is summarized below. Restricted securities may also be sold
outside of the United States to non-U.S. persons in accordance with Rule 904 of Regulation S.
As a result of the lock-up agreements described below and subject to the provisions of Rules 144 under the Securities Act, a large number of restricted shares of our
Common Stock that are beneficially owned by our executive officers, directors and holders of our 3% or more of our Common Stock will be available for sale in the public
market upon expiration of the six month lock-up agreements.
Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, once we have been subject to public company reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act for at least 90 days, an eligible stockholder is entitled to sell such shares without complying with the manner of sale, volume limitation, or notice provisions of Rule 144,
subject to compliance with the public information requirements of Rule 144. To be an eligible stockholder under Rule 144, such stockholder must not be deemed to have been
one of our affiliates for purposes of the Securities Act at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale and must have beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at
least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates. If such a person has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least one
year, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, then such person is entitled to sell such shares without complying with any of the requirements of
Rule 144, subject to the expiration of the lock-up agreements described below.
In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effect, our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are entitled to sell shares upon expiration of the
lock-up agreements described below. Beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, within any three-month period, such stockholders may sell a number of shares that
does not exceed the greater of: 1% of the number of common stock then outstanding, or the average weekly trading volume of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market
during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to such sale.
Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are also subject to certain manner of sale provisions and notice requirements
and to the availability of current public information about us.
Form S-8 Registration Statement
We intend to file a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act with the SEC to register the offer and sale of shares of our common stock that are
issuable under our 2019 Plan. Such registration statement will become effective immediately on filing. Shares covered by these registration statements will then be eligible for
sale in the public markets, subject to vesting restrictions, any applicable lock-up agreements described below, and Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates.
Lock-up Arrangements
Pursuant to certain “lock-up” agreements, we, our executive officers, directors and holders of our 3% or more of our common stock and securities exercisable for or
convertible into our common stock outstanding immediately upon the closing of this offering have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to offer, sell, assign, transfer,
pledge, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of or announce the intention to otherwise dispose of, or enter into any swap, hedge or similar agreement or arrangement that
transfers, in whole or in part, the economic risk of ownership of, directly or indirectly, engage in any short selling of any common stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for any common stock, whether currently owned or subsequently acquired, without the prior written consent of the underwriters, for a period of six
months from the date of effectiveness of the offering.
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UNDERWRITING
Maxim Group LLC (“Maxim” or the “underwriter”) is acting as the lead managing underwriter and sole book running manager in connection with this offering and we
have entered into an underwriting agreement with Maxim on the date of this prospectus. Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, we have agreed to
sell to the underwriter, the underwriter has agreed to purchase from us, on a firm commitment basis, shares, at the public offering price per share less the underwriting discounts
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus.
The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriter is obligated to purchase all the shares in the offering if any are purchased, other than those covered by the
over-allotment option described below. The underwriting agreement also provides that if the underwriter defaults, the offering may be terminated.
Over-Allotment Option
We have granted to Maxim a 45-day option to purchase up to an aggregate of additional shares of common stock (equal to 15% of the number of shares sold in the
offering), at the public offering price per share, less underwriting discounts and commissions. If any of these additional shares are purchased, Maxim will offer the additional
shares on the same terms as those on which the shares are being offered. The option may be exercised only to cover any over-allotments of our shares.
Underwriting Discounts and Commissions
Maxim proposes initially to offer the shares of common stock to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to dealers at
those prices less a concession not in excess of $ per share. An underwriting discount or spread of 7.0% of the public offering price shall be provided to Maxim. We have also
agreed to pay Maxim a non-accountable expense allowance equal to 1.0% of the public offering price. If all of the shares offered by us are not sold at the public offering price,
Maxim may change the public offering price and other selling terms by means of a supplement to this prospectus.
The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discount, non-accountable expense allowance, and proceeds, before expenses, to us. The information
assumes either no exercise or full exercise by the underwriter of the over-allotment option.
Total
Without
OverAllotment
Option

Per Share
Public offering price
Underwriting discount (7.0%)

$
$

—
—

$
$

Total With
Full OverAllotment
Option
—
—

$
$

—
—

Non-accountable expense allowance (1.0%)
Proceeds, before expenses, to us

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

We have agreed to be responsible and pay for all expenses related to the offering including all filing fees, legal fees and communication expenses relating to the
registration of the securities to be sold in the offering (including the over-allotment securities). Upon Maxim’s request, we will provide funds to pay all fees, expenses and
disbursements in excess of the $25,000 advance provided to Maxim upon execution of the engagement letter for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. The maximum amount of
legal fees, costs and expenses incurred by Maxim that we shall be responsible for shall not exceed $125,000. The underwriting agreement, however, provides that in the event
the offering is terminated, any advance expense deposits paid to the underwriter will be returned to the extent that offering expenses are not actually incurred in accordance with
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) Rule 5110(f)(2)(C).
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Underwriter’s Warrant
We have agreed to issue to Maxim (or its permitted assignees) warrants to purchase up to a total of shares of common stock (5.0% of the shares of common stock sold
in this offering). The warrants will be exercisable at any time, and from time to time, in whole or in part, during the period commencing 180 days following the closing of this
offering and expiring five (5) years from the closing of this offering, which period is in compliance with applicable FINRA rules. The warrants are exercisable at a per share
price equal to $ per share, or 110% of the public offering price per share in the offering (based on the assumed public offering price of $ per share). The warrants have been
deemed compensation by FINRA and are therefore subject to a 180-day lock-up pursuant to Rule 5110(e)(1)(A) of FINRA. Maxim (or permitted assignees under Rule 5110(e)
(2)(B)) will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or hypothecate these warrants or the securities underlying these warrants, nor will they engage in any hedging, short sale,
derivative, put, or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of the warrants or the underlying securities for a period of 180 days from the effective
date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. In addition, the warrants provide for registration rights upon request, in certain cases. The demand
registration rights provided will not be greater than five years from the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus in compliance with applicable
FINRA rules. The piggyback registration rights provided will not be greater than seven (7) years from the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is
a part in compliance with applicable FINRA rules. We will bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the securities issuable on exercise of the warrants other than fees
and expenses associated with a second demand right and underwriting commissions incurred and payable by the holders. The exercise price and number of shares issuable upon
exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, extraordinary cash dividend or our recapitalization, reorganization,
merger or consolidation. However, the warrant exercise price or underlying shares will not be adjusted for issuances of shares of common stock at a price below the warrant
exercise price.
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Right of First Refusal
Subject to the closing of this offering and certain conditions set forth in the underwriting agreement, for a period of eighteen (18) months after the closing of the
offering, the underwriter shall have a right of first refusal to act as sole managing underwriter and book-runner or as sole placement agent for any and all future public or private
equity, equity-linked or debt (excluding commercial bank debt) offerings undertaken during such period by us, or any of our successors or subsidiaries.
Tail Financing Payments
If we terminate our engagement agreement with Maxim, other than for cause, and we subsequently complete any public or private financing any time during the
eighteen (18) months after such termination with any investors directly introduced to the Company by Maxim, then Maxim shall be entitled to receive the same compensation
for such offering as it would have been entitled to in connection with this offering.
Lock-Up Agreements
Our officers, directors and certain holders or 3% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of the effective date of the registration statement of which
this prospectus forms a part, have entered into customary “lock up” agreements in favor of Maxim pursuant to which such persons and entities have agreed, for a period of six
months after the offering is completed, that they shall neither offer, issue, sell, contract to sell, encumber, grant any option for the sale of or otherwise dispose of any our
securities without Maxim’s prior written consent, including the issuance of shares of common stock upon the exercise of currently outstanding options approved by Maxim.
Indemnification
We have agreed to indemnify Maxim against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and liabilities arising from breaches of representations
and warranties contained in the underwriting agreement and to contribute to payments that the underwriter may be required to make for these liabilities.
Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Penalty Bids
In connection with this offering, the underwriter may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of our common stock. Specifically, the
underwriter may over-allot in connection with this offering by selling more shares than are set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. This creates a short position in our
common stock for its own account. The short position may be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of shares
common stock over-allotted by the underwriter is not greater than the number of shares of common stock that it may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a naked short
position, the number of shares of common stock involved is greater than the number of shares common stock in the over-allotment option. To close out a short position, the
underwriter may elect to exercise all or part of the over-allotment option. The underwriter may also elect to stabilize the price of our common stock or reduce any short position
by bidding for, and purchasing, common stock in the open market.
The underwriter may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter or dealer repays selling concessions allowed to it for distributing a security
in this offering because the underwriter repurchases that security in stabilizing or short covering transactions.
Finally, the underwriter may bid for, and purchase, shares of our common stock in market making transactions, including “passive” market making transactions as
described below.
These activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of our common stock at a price that is higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the absence of
these activities. The underwriter is not required to engage in these activities, and may discontinue any of these activities at any time without notice. These transactions may be
effected on the Nasdaq Capital Market, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.
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In connection with this offering, the underwriter and selling group members, if any, or their affiliates may engage in passive market making transactions in our
common stock immediately prior to the commencement of sales in this offering, in accordance with Rule 103 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act. Rule 103 generally
provides that:
●

a passive market maker may not effect transactions or display bids for our common stock in excess of the highest independent bid price by persons who are not passive
market makers;

●

net purchases by a passive market maker on each day are generally limited to 30% of the passive market maker’s average daily trading volume in our common stock
during a specified two-month prior period or 200 shares, whichever is greater, and must be discontinued when that limit is reached; and

●

passive market making bids must be identified as such.

Certain Relationships
Maxim or its affiliates may engage in transactions with, and may perform, from time to time, investment banking and financial advisory services for us in the ordinary
course of their business and for which they would receive customary fees and expenses. However, except as disclosed in this prospectus, we have no present arrangements with
the underwriter for any further services.
International Selling Restrictions
Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the underwriter that would permit a public offering of the securities offered by this prospectus in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The securities offered by this prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any
other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any such securities be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances
that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this prospectus comes are advised to inform
themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a
solicitation of an offer to buy any securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.
Electronic Distribution
A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the web sites maintained by the underwriter, or selling group members, if any, participating in this offering
and the underwriter may distribute prospectuses electronically. The underwriter may agree to allocate a number of shares to selling group members for sale to their online
brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the underwriter and selling group members that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other
allocations.
Discretionary Accounts
The underwriter does not intend to confirm sales to any accounts over which it has discretionary authority without first receiving a written consent from those
accounts.
LEGAL MATTERS
Robinson & Cole, LLP, 1055 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, CT 06901 has acted as our counsel in connection with the preparation of this prospectus and the
issuance of an opinion relating to the validity of the securities offered in this prospectus. Fox Rothschild LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota, has acted as counsel to the Underwriter
in connection with this Offering.
EXPERTS
The balance sheets of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes, included in this registration statement have been audited by Marcum
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon, appearing elsewhere in this registration statement, and are included in reliance on such
report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
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DISCLOSURE OF COMMISSION POSITION OF INDEMNIFICATION
FOR SECURITIES ACT LIABILITIES
Our directors and officers are indemnified to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law. At present, the Company has purchased director and officer liability
insurance to cover certain liabilities our directors and officers may incur in connection with their services to us for up to certain amount.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers or persons controlling persons the registrant
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of ours in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection
with the securities being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate
jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such
issue.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act, with respect to the Common Stock offered by this prospectus. This
prospectus, which is part of the registration statement, omits certain information, exhibits, schedules and undertakings set forth in the registration statement. For further
information pertaining to us and our Common Stock, reference is made to the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. Statements
contained in this prospectus as to the contents or provisions of any documents referred to in this prospectus, although not necessarily complete, include the material provisions
of such document, and in each instance where a copy of the document has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, reference is made to the exhibit for a more
complete description of the matters involved.
The registration statement, including all exhibits and amendments to the registration statement, has been filed electronically with the SEC, which are publicly available
through the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov.
Prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement, we have voluntarily filed periodic reports with the SEC. Upon the effectiveness of the registration statement, we

will be subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and, in accordance with the Exchange Act, will file reports, proxy and information statements and other
information with the SEC. Such annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy and information statements and other information can be inspected and copied at the locations set
forth above. We also anticipate making these documents publicly available, free of charge, on our website at www.odysseysemi.com as soon as reasonably practicable after
filing such documents with the SEC. Information on, or accessible through, our website is not part of this prospectus.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2021
(unaudited)

December 31,
2020

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash
Contract assets
Accounts receivable
Deferred expenses
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total Current Assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Total Assets

3,409,429
—
48,045
4,941
35,261

$

3,497,676
103,188
894,967

272,705
62,273
10,877
185,084
33,569
564,508
103,149
986,407

$

4,495,831

$

1,654,064

$

119,205
77,278
30,000

$

187,046
53,858
260,447

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Loan payable – short term
Deferred revenue
Total Current Liabilities
Loans payable – long term
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)

226,483

501,351

554,853
781,336
—

621,600
1,122,951
—

Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively

—

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 45,000,000 shares authorized, 12,726,911 and 11,429,661
shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

—

1,272
9,837,157
(6,123,934)

Total Stockholders’ Equity

1,143
4,046,370
(3,516,400)

3,714,495
$

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

4,495,831

531,113
$

1,654,064

See notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)
For The Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Revenues

$

Cost of Revenues

693,074

$

792,239

1,102,071
1,106,569

(99,165)

Gross Loss

(4,498)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense):
Forgiveness of PPP loan and other income
Interest expense
Total Other Income (Expense)

1,073,737
1,658,994

430,592
869,643

2,732,681

1,300,235

(2,831,846)

(1,304,733)

238,719
(14,407)
224,312

1
—
1

Net Loss

$

(2,607,534)

$

(1,304,732)

Net Loss Per Share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.21)
(0.21)

$
$

(0.12)
(0.12)

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

12,320,979
12,320,979

11,173,008
11,173,008

See notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
F-3

For The three months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Revenues
Cost of Revenues

$

174,952

$

636,070

47,969

495,915

Gross Profit

126,983

140,155

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative

454,658

107,323

403,441

339,090

Total Operating Expenses

858,099

446,413

Loss From Operations

(731,116)

(306,258)

Other Income (expense):
Other income
Interest expense
Total Other Income (Expense)
Net Loss

$

25,013
(4,560)
20,453
(710,663)

$

—
(893 )
(893 )
(307,151)

$
$

(0.06)
(0.06)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

Net Loss Per Share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

12,726,911
12,726,911

11,199,703
11,199,703

See notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
(Unaudited)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
$

$

11,429,661
—
45,625
1,251,625
—
—
12,726,911

Stock-based compensation
Net loss three months ended June 30, 2021
Balance June 30, 2021

—
—
12,726,911

—
—
1,272

223,155
—
9,615,807

—
(1,001,760)
(5,413,271)

—
223,155
(1,001,760)
4,203,808

Stock-based compensation
Net loss three months ended September 30, 2021
Balance September 30, 2021

—
—
12,726,911

—

221,350
—
9,837,157

—
(710,663)
(6,123,934)

221,350
(710,663)
3,714,495

1,272

4,046,370
678,918
68,434
5,006,375
(407,445)
—
9,392,652

$

$

(3,516,400)
—
—
—
—
(895,111)
(4,411,511)

Balance December 31, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Sale of shares of common stock
Costs of stock sale
Net loss three months ended March 31, 2021
Balance March 31, 2021

$

1,143
—
4
125
—
—
1,272

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

$

$

$

531,113
678,918
68,438
5,006,500
(407,445)
(895,111)
4,982,413
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Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

Balance December 31, 2019
Stock-based compensation
Net loss three months ended March 31, 2020
Balance March 31, 2020

11,159,661
—
—
11,159,661

1,116
—
—
1,116

3,017,940
63,880
—
3,081,820

(1,473,292)
—
(502,495)
(1,975,787)

1,545,764
63,880
(502,495)
1,107,149

Stock-based compensation
Net loss three months ended June 30, 2020

—
—
11,159,661

—
—
1,116

116,613
—
3,198,433

—
(495,086)
(2,470,873)

116,613
(495,086)
728,676

153,750
—
—
11,313,411

15
—
—
1,131

230,609
148,781
—
3,577,823

—
—
(307,151)
(2,778,024)

230,624
148,781
(307,151)
800,930

Balance June 30, 2020
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Net loss three months ended September 30, 2020
Balance September 30, 2020

$

$

See notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
For The Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Forgiveness of PPP loan and other
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Contract assets
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue

$

Total Adjustments

2020

(2,607,534)

$

(1,304,732)

1,123,423
(210,680)
124,631

329,274
—
72,811

62,273
(37,168)
(1,693)
180,143
(67,843)
(230,447)

430,732
(184,418)
55,657
29,547
93,636
(106,000)

942,639

721,239

(1,664,895)

(583,493)

(32,505)

(610,487)

(32,505)

(610,487)

4,599,055
193,625
(26,956)
68,438
—
—

—
684,580
(1,175)
230,624
(40,742)
(4,560)

Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities

4,834,162

868,727

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Restricted Cash

3,136,762

(325,253)

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities
Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Net Cash from Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of costs
Proceeds from government loans
Repayment of government loans
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Payment of deferred offering costs
Payment of deferred loan costs

Cash and Restricted Cash – Beginning Of Period

375,855

Cash and Restricted Cash – End Of Period
Cash and Restricted Cash Consisted of the Following:
Cash
Restricted cash
Cash and Restricted Cash
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest

798,283

$

3,512,617

$

473,030

$

$

$

3,409,429
103,188
3,512,617

$

370,220
102,810
473,030

$

6,911

$

100

See notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 1 – Nature of Operations and Liquidity
Organization and Operations
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (“Odyssey Technologies”) was incorporated on April 12, 2019 under the laws of the State of Delaware. Odyssey Technologies,
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. (“Odyssey Semiconductor”) and Odyssey Semiconductor’s wholly owned subsidiary, JR2J, LLC (“JR2J”)
(collectively, the “Company”), is a semiconductor device company developing high-voltage power switching components and systems based on proprietary Gallium Nitride
(“GaN”) processing technology.
COVID-19
The extent of the impact and effects of the recent outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the operation and financial performance of our business will depend on future
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, related travel advisories and restrictions, the consequential potential of staff shortages, and project
development delays, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. If demand for the Company’s services or the Company’s ability to service customers are
impacted for an extended period, especially as it relates to major customers, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

Liquidity and Financial Condition
As of September 30, 2021, the Company had a cash balance, working capital and accumulated deficit of approximately $3,410,000, $3,270,000 and $6,100,000, respectively.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company generated a net loss of approximately $2,600,000.
The Company believes its current cash on hand is sufficient to meet its operating obligations and capital requirements for at least twelve months from the issuance of these
financial statements. Thereafter, the Company may need to raise further capital through the sale of additional equity or debt securities or other debt instruments to support its
future operations. The Company’s operating needs include the planned costs to operate its business, including amounts required to fund working capital and capital
expenditures. The Company’s future capital requirements and the adequacy of its available funds will depend on many factors, including the Company’s ability to successfully
commercialize its products and services, competing technological and market developments, and the need to enter into collaborations with other companies or acquire other
companies or technologies to enhance or complement its product and service offerings. There is also no assurance that the amount of funds the Company might raise will enable
the Company to complete its development initiatives or attain profitable operations. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing on a timely basis, it may have to
curtail its development, marketing and promotional activities, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations, and ultimately, the Company could be forced to discontinue its operations and liquidate.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes to the significant accounting policies included in the condensed consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2021 and for the
year then ended, which were previously filed, except as disclosed in this note.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete
financial statements. In the opinion of management, such statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring items) which are considered necessary for a
fair presentation of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company as of September 30, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021
and 2020. The results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full year ending December 31,
2021 or any other period. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related
disclosures included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 which have been filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 8, 2021, as amended on Form 10-K/A on May 28, 2021.
Use of Estimates
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and the amounts disclosed in the related notes to the financial statements. The Company’s significant estimates used in these financial statements include,
but are not limited to, fair value calculations for equity securities, stock-based compensation, the collectability of receivables, the recoverability and useful lives of long-lived
assets, and the valuation allowance related to the Company’s deferred tax assets. Certain of the Company’s estimates could be affected by external conditions, including those
unique to the Company and general economic conditions. It is reasonably possible that these external factors could have an effect on the Company’s estimates and could cause
actual results to differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents in the financial statements. As of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no cash equivalents. The Company has cash on deposits in several financial institutions which, at times, may be
in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance limits. The Company has not experienced losses in such accounts and periodically evaluates the
creditworthiness of its financial institutions. The Company reduces its credit risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash was comprised of cash held as a security deposit in connection with the Company’s operating lease. See Note 8 – Commitments and Contingencies – Operating
Lease for additional details.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, once the asset is placed in service.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, which do not extend the economic useful life of the related assets, are charged to operations as incurred, and expenditures which
extend the economic life are capitalized. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of their respective lease.
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the costs and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss on disposal
is recognized in the statement of operations for the respective period.
The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its
carrying amount.
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Asset
Computer and office equipment
Lab equipment
Leasehold improvements
Machinery
Furniture

Useful lives (years)
5
5
shorter of useful life or lease term
7-15
7

Fair Value of Stock Options and Warrants
The risk-free interest rate was determined from the implied yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term consistent with the expected term of the
instrument being valued. Option forfeitures are accounted for at the time of occurrence. The expected term used is the estimated period of time that warrants or options are
expected to be outstanding. The Company utilizes the “simplified” method to develop an estimate of the expected term of “plain vanilla” employee options. For investor
warrants and non-employee options, the expected term used is the contractual life of the instrument being valued. The Company does not yet have a trading history to support
its historical volatility calculations. Accordingly, the Company is utilizing an expected volatility figure based on a review of the historical volatility of comparable entities over
a period of time equivalent to the expected life of the instrument being valued.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue under ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”). The Company determines revenue recognition through the
following steps:
●
●
●
●
●

Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer;
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance obligation.

A majority of the Company’s revenues are generated from contracts with customers that require it to design, develop, manufacture, test and integrate complex equipment and to
provide engineering and technical services according to customer specifications. These contracts are often priced on a time and material type basis. Revenues on time and
material type contracts are generally recognized in each period based on the amount billable to the customer which is based on direct labor hours expended multiplied by the
contractual fixed rate per hour, plus the actual costs of materials and other direct non-labor costs.
The timing of the Company’s revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment by its customers. A receivable is recorded when revenue is recognized prior to
payment and the Company has an unconditional right to payment. Alternatively, when payment precedes the provision of the related services, the Company records deferred
revenue until the performance obligations are satisfied. Contract assets are comprised of unbilled contract receivables related to revenues earned but not yet invoiced to
customers.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, there was no revenue recognized from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous
periods.
The Company generates revenue from government contracts that reimburse the Company for certain allowable costs for funded projects. For contracts with government
agencies, when the Company has concluded that it is the principal in conducting the research and development expenses and where the funding arrangement is considered
central to the Company’s ongoing operations, the Company classifies the recognized funding received as revenue. The Company has determined that revenue generated from
government grants is outside the scope of ASC 606 and, as a result, the Company recognizes revenue upon incurring qualifying, reimbursable expenses. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized approximately $418,000 and $900,000, respectively, of grant revenue. During the three months ended September
30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized approximately $0 and $450,000, respectively, of grant revenue.
Deferred Expenses
Deferred expenses consist of labor, materials and other costs that are attributable to customer contracts that the Company has not completed its performance obligation under the
contract and, as a result, has not recognized revenue. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, deferred expenses were approximately $5,000 and $185,000,
respectively.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award. The fair value of the award is
measured on the grant date. The fair value amount is then recognized over the period during which services are required to be provided in exchange for the award, usually the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of an award, the Company issues new shares of common stock out of its authorized shares.
Net (Loss) Income per share of Common Stock

Basic net (loss) income per share of Common Stock is computed by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of vested shares of Common Stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per share of Common Stock is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common and dilutive commonequivalent shares outstanding during each period.
The following shares were excluded from the calculation of weighted average dilutive shares of Common Stock because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:
As of September 30,
2021
Warrants
Options
Total

2020
245,696
2,042,857
2,288,553

155,966
1,736,250
1,892,216

Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of items that have been included or excluded in the financial statements or
tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their respective financial reporting
amounts (“temporary differences”) at enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The Company has recorded a full
valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets for all periods, due to the uncertainty of future utilization.
The Company utilizes a recognition threshold and measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. Management has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s financial statements as of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The Company does not expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within twelve months of the reporting date.
The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax related interest as interest expense and penalties as selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 requires an entity to recognize assets and liabilities arising from
a lease for both financing and operating leases. ASU 2016-02 will also require new qualitative and quantitative disclosures to help investors and other financial statement users
better understand the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The FASB issued ASU No. 2018-10 “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases”
(“ASU 2018-10”), ASU No. 2018-11 “Leases (Topic 842) Targeted Improvements” (“ASU 2018-11”) in July 2018, and ASU No. 2018-20 “Leases (Topic 842) – Narrow
Scope Improvements for Lessors” (“ASU 2018-20”) in December 2018. ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-20 provide certain amendments that affect narrow aspects of the
guidance issued in ASU 2016-02. ASU 2018-11 allows all entities adopting ASU 2016-02 to choose an additional (and optional) transition method of adoption, under which an
entity initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of
adoption. Pursuant to ASU 2019-10 the effective date for ASC 842 was deferred an additional year. The Company expects to recognize operating lease right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet upon adoption of this ASU. The Company is currently evaluating these ASUs and their impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Note 3 – Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses consisted of the following:
September 30, 2021
Insurance
Total

$
$

December 31, 2020

35,261
35,261

$
$

33,569
33,569

Note 4 – Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:
September 30, 2021
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Credit cards payable
Other
Total

$

$

29,850
61,803
13,130
14,422
119,205
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 5 – Property and Equipment

December 31, 2020
$

$

80,548
46,650
49,045
10,803
187,046

Property and equipment consisted of the following:
September 30, 2021

December 31, 2020

Computer and office equipment
Lab equipment
Furniture
Leasehold improvements
Machinery
Subtotal
Accumulated Depreciation

$

2,807
15,606
43,705
450,374
627,641
1,140,133
(245,166)

$

2,807
15,606
43,705
422,318
623,190
1,107,626
(121,219)

Property and Equipment, net

$

894,967

$

986,407

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was approximately $42,000 and $30,400 (which was primarily recorded within cost of sales) for the
quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was approximately $ 125,000 and $73,000
(which was primarily recorded within cost of sales) for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Equity
Authorized Capital
The Company is authorized to issue 45,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.
The holders of the Company’s Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. No preferred shares have been issued through September 30, 2021.
Common Stock Transactions
In March 2021, the Company sold 1,251,625 shares of Common Stock at $4.00 per share for gross proceeds of $5,006,500 in connection with a private placement of securities.
The costs associated with such issuance were $407,445 in cash and warrants to purchase 89,730 shares of Common Stock of the Company with a term of 5 years and an exercise
price of $4.00 per share. An aggregate of $ 480,000 of proceeds were raised from related parties (including an aggregate of $430,000 from Alex Behfar’s family member,
Richard Brown, Richard Ogawa and James Shealy), representing approximately 10% of the total gross proceeds.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 7 – Equity Compensation Plan
On June 18, 2019, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders, respectively, approved the 2019 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2019 Plan”). Under
the 2019 Plan, 1,326,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company were authorized for issuance. The 2019 Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, rights to purchase Common Stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock, performance shares and performance units to employees,
directors and consultants of the Company and its affiliates. The 2019 Plan requires the exercise price of stock options to be not less than the fair value of the Company’s
Common Stock on the date of grant, or 110% of fair value in the case of incentive options granted to a ten-percent stockholder.
On March 11, 2020, the Company granted the following ten-year options to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the Company’s then
newly appointed Executive Chairman and Acting Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan: (i) an option to purchase 965,850 shares of Common Stock that vests ratably on
a monthly basis over two years and (ii) an option to purchase 321,950 shares of Common Stock that vests based on performance criteria to be mutually agreed to by the Board
and the executive. The grant was reduced to 500,000 options, including 375,000 options and 125,000 options respectively under the two categories, due to limitations under the
2019 Plan. The terms of the 125,000 performance-based options were established in the quarter ended September 30, 2020. The terms of the performance-based options were
met during the quarter ended March 31, 2021.
On May 26, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the 2019 Plan to (i) increase the number of shares of
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan by 1,174,000 shares, such that a total of 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock are now authorized for issuance under
the 2019 Plan; (ii) increase the maximum aggregate number of shares, options and/or other awards that may be granted to any one person during any calendar year from
500,000 to 1,300,000; and (iii) clarify the availability of cashless exercise as a form of consideration.
On July 16, 2020, the Company granted the following ten-year options to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the Company’s then
Executive Chairman and Acting Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan: (i) an option to purchase 600,000 shares of Common Stock that vests ratably on a monthly basis
over one year and (ii) an option to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock that vests based on specified performance criteria.
On September 16, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the 2019 Plan to increase the number of shares of
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan from 2,500,000 shares to 4,600,000 shares.
On September 22, 2020, the Company granted ten-year options to purchase shares1,637,410 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the Company’s
then Chairman and Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan that vests ratably on a monthly basis over two years commencing March 11, 2022.
From June 1 to June 22, 2021, the Company granted five and ten-year options to purchase388,246 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.90 to $3.93 per share to
employees, an advisory board member and board members under the 2019 Plan that vest over two to five years.
On September 22, 2021, upon the resignation of our then Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, a total of1,911,160 unvested options that he received on September 25, 2019,
March 11, 2020, July 16, 2020 and September 22, 2020 were forfeited as of such date. On such date, the Company also provided the acceleration of 25,000 unvested stock
options issued on September 25, 2019, which were to vest as of September 25, 2021. The impact of the modification of the stock option was not material.
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FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
Note 7 – Equity Compensation Plan – continued
The stock option activity from January 1, 2021 through September 30, 2021 is as follows:

Shares
Balance, January 1, 2021
Options granted
Options exercised
Options converted
Options forfeited or expired
Balance, September 30, 2021
Vested shares at September 30, 2021

3,257,410
388,246
(45,625)
—
(1,911,160)
1,688,871
983,667

Weighted-Average
Exercise
Price per share

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(years)

1.50
3.69
1.50
—
1.50
2.00
1.50

9.0
9.4
—
—
—
7.5
8.1

$

$

The Company has estimated the fair value of all stock option awards as of the date of grant by applying the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In applying the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, the Company used the following assumptions for 2021 and 2020 issuances:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term
Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Grant date fair value of common stock

$

1.1%
7.5 years
81%
0
2.45/share

$

1.75%
10 years
78%
0.00%
1.50/share

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of approximately $1,123,000
($1,023,000 of which was included within general and administrative expenses, $69,000 of which was included in research and development expenses and $31,000 of which
was included within cost of revenues on the consolidated statements of operations). During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized stock-based
compensation expense related to stock options of approximately $329,000 ($198,000 of which was included within general and administrative expenses, $70,000 of which was
included in research and development expenses and $61,000 of which was included within cost of revenues on the consolidated statements of operations).
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Note 7 – Equity Compensation Plan – continued
During the three months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of approximately $221,000 ($192,000
of which was included within general and administrative expenses, $27,000 of which was included in research and development expenses and $2,000 of which was included
within cost of revenues on the consolidated statements of operations). During the three months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized stock-based compensation
expense related to stock options of approximately $180,000 ($101,000 of which was included within general and administrative expenses, $36,000 of which was included in
research and development expenses and $43,000 of which was included within cost of revenues on the consolidated statements of operations).
As of September 30, 2021, there was unamortized stock-based compensation of approximately $1,300,000 which the Company expects to recognize over 1.7 years. At
September 30, 2021, the intrinsic value of outstanding and vested stock options was approximately $547,000 and $413,000, respectively.
Note 8 – Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation, Claims, and Assessments
From time to time, the Company is involved in various disputes, claims, liens and litigation matters arising out of the normal course of business which could result in a material
adverse effect on the Company’s combined financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation,
fines and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated. As of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no outstanding claims or litigation and had no liabilities recorded for loss contingencies.
Operating Lease
On August 21, 2019, the Company entered into a lease for a 10,000 square foot facility consisting of lab and office space. The lease requires monthly payments of $16,667 and
expires on November 30, 2025. The Company has arranged for a $100,000 letter of credit in favor of the landlord in lieu of a security deposit, which is included as restricted
cash on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The minimum lease payments for the years ending December 31 are
approximately as follows: $200,000 in each of 2020 to 2023 and $350,000 thereafter.
Note 9 – Concentrations
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, approximately 60% of revenues were generated from two government entities. Both of these contracts were completed as
September 30, 2021. At September 30, 2021, deferred costs and deferred revenues are attributable to one customer contract.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, substantially all revenues were generated from a government entity pursuant to our contract with a governmental
entity and amounted to approximately 60% and 83% of total revenues, respectively.
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Note 10 – Government Loans
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On May 1, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $211,000 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP, established as part
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, as amended (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average
monthly payroll expenses of such qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable after certain time periods further defined in the CARES Act (the “Covered
Period”) as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan
forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the Covered Period. The outstanding balance was included in long term loans
payable at December 31, 2020. On March 6, 2021, the entire loan balance was forgiven.
On February 24, 2021, the Company received $193,625 pursuant to a promissory note issued under the Paycheck Protection Program Part 2 (“PPP2”). Interest accrues at1%
per annum and the note is payable in 60 monthly installments of $3,300 commencing May 2022.
Economic Injury Disaster Loan Advance
On May 1, 2020, the Company received an advance in the amount of $10,000 from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) under the Economic Injury Disaster Loan
(“EIDL”) program administered by the SBA, which program was expanded pursuant to the CARES Act. Such advance amount will reduce the Company’s PPP loan forgiveness
amount described above. The Company received an additional $138,900 under this program on August 30, 2020. The loan is payable in monthly payments of $678 including
interest at 3.75% payable over 30 years.
Tomkins County Area Development Loan
On May 27, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of $50,000 from the Tomkins County Area Development (“TCAD”) Emergency Relief Loan Fund. The
loan matures after four years and bears interest in the amount of 2.5% per annum, with one year of no interest or principal payments, followed bythree years of monthly
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $1,443 per month. The loan is collateralized by certain assets of the Company. The outstanding balance is included in long
term loans payable.
Equipment Loans
On August 20, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Broome County Industrial Development Agency (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest rate, monthly
payment of $1,775); on September 2, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Southern Tier Region Economic Development Corporation (5 year facility, 5.0%
annual interest rate, monthly payment of $2,072) ; and on August 28, 2020, the Company received a loan of $75,000 from TCAD (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest rate,
monthly payment of $1,331). These loans were used to acquire equipment used in the laboratory, and are secured by the underlying assets of the Company.
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Note 10 – Government Loans – continued
The loans are summarized as follows:
September 30, 2021

December 31, 2020

Principal outstanding
Deferred loan costs, net of amortization
Subtotal
Less current portion

$

635,855
(3,724)
632,131
(77,278)

$

679,866
(4,408)
675,458
(53,858)

Total long term portion

$

554,853

$

621,600

Interest expense on the above debt instruments was approximately $14,000 and $5,000 was recognized for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2021,respectively.
Interest expense of approximately $1,400 was recognized for the quarter and nine-months ended September 30, 2020.
Note 11 – Restatement of stock compensation expense
In calculating our stock based compensation expense for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, we identified errors in our previously issued financial statements as of June 30, 2021
related to the measurement of vested stock options. We assessed the materiality of this error in accordance with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, “Materiality” and SAB No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”), using both the rollover method and the iron curtain method, as defined in SAB 108, and concluded the error were immaterial to the prior
period but, if corrected in the current period, would have been material to the current quarter. Under SAB 108, such prior-period misstatements which, if corrected in the current
period would be material to the current period, must be corrected by adjusting the prior-period financial statements. Correcting prior-period financial statements for such
immaterial misstatements does not require previously filed reports to be amended.
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, correction of this error decreased our stock based compensation expense, general and administrative expenses, total operating
expenses and net loss by $313,323. Loss per share decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 by $0.02 in each period, to $0.08 per share and $0.16 per share,
respectively. Further, additional paid in capital and accumulated deficit at June 30, 2021 also decreased by $313,323.
Note 12 – Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated events that have occurred after the balance sheet and through November 17, 2021. Based upon the evaluation, the Company did not identify any

recognized or non-recognized subsequent events that would have required adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Marcum llp
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
Melville,NY
April 7, 2021
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2020
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash
Contract assets
Accounts receivable
Deferred expenses
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current Assets
Restricted cash
Deferred offering costs
Property and equipment, net
Total Assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Loans payable – short term
Total Current Liabilities
Loans payable – long term, net of unamortized debt issuance costs
Total Liabilities

$

$

$

December 31,
2019

272,705
62,273
10,877
185,084
33,569
564,508
103,149
—
986,407
1,654,064

$

187,046
260,447
53,858
501,351
621,600
1,122,951

$

$

697,141
543,944
1,480
111,548
147,065
1,501,178
101,141
83,983
389,845
2,076,147

218,005
312,378
—
530,383
—
530,383

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31 ,2020 and 2019
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 45,000,000 shares authorized, 11,429,661 and 11,159,661
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively

—

—

1,143

1,116

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total Stockholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

$

4,046,370
(3,516,400)
531,113
1,654,064

3,017,940
(1,473,292)
1,545,764
2,076,147

$

See notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended
December 31,
Revenues
Cost of Revenues
Gross (Loss) Profit

$

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Loss From Operations

2020
1,374,420
1,453,005
(78,585)

2019
$

719,851
589,640
130,211

607,148
1,354,069
1,961,217
(2,039,802)

Other Income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Net Loss
Net Loss Per Share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of shares of Common Stock :
Basic
Diluted

155,527
1,434,089
1,589,616
(1,459,405)

$

(3,306)
(2,043,108)

$

1,236
(1,458,169)

$
$

(0.18)
(0.18)

$
$

(0.18)
(0.18)

11,229,966
11,229,966

8,264,416
8,264,416

See notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

Balance – January 1, 2019
Dividend to shareholder
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Sale of common stock and related stock based compensation
Equity of Odyssey Semiconductor Inc. at the time of the
reverse capitalization
Stock-based compensation
Net loss – year ended December 31, 2019

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
5,316,667
$
532

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
(532 )

1,926,327
350,000

192
35

2,429,282
524,965

3,566,667

357
—
—

2,126
62,099
—

—

Balance – December 31, 2019
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Net loss – year ended December 31, 2020

11,159,661

Balance – December 31, 2020

11,429,661

$

270,000
—
$

1,116
—
27
—

$

1,143

$

Accumulated
Deficit
$
184,877
(200,000)

$

4,046,370

$
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2,483
62,099
(1,458,169)

—
(1,458,169)

3,017,940
623,457
404,973
—

See notes to these consolidated financial statements.

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
$
184,877
(200,000)
2,429,474
525,000

(1,473,292)
—

$

(2,043,108)
(3,516,400)

$

1,545,764
623,457
405,000
(2,043,108)
531,113

For the years ended
December 31,
2020
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Write off of deferred offering costs and other
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Contract assets
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Total Adjustments
Net Cash Used In Operating Activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash acquired in reverse capitalization
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

$

2019

(2,043,108)

$

623,457
123,875
111,311

Proceeds from government loans
Payment of deferred loan costs
Payment of government loans
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceed from sale of common stock, net of costs
Payment of offering costs related to sale of common stock
Payment of deferred offering costs
Dividend to stockholders prior to reverse capitalization
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Restricted Cash
Cash and Restricted Cash – Beginning Of Year
Cash and Restricted Cash – End Of Year
Cash and Restricted Cash Consisted of the Following:
Cash
Restricted cash

$
$
$

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the quarter ended for:
Interest
Supplemental information – Issuance of warrant to placement agent
Fixed assets purchased on account
Accrual of deferred offering costs

$
$

(1,458,169)
580,178
—
5,341

481,671
(9,397)
92,538
(73,536)
(30,959)
(51,931)
1,267,029
(776,079)

(214,882)
690
(145,026)
(104,627)
(37,052)
312,378
397,000
(1,061,169)

(686,915)
—
(686,915)

(367,005)
2,483
(364,522)

684,580
(4,560)
(4,714)
405,000
—
—
(39,740)
—
1,040,566

—
—
—
—
2,445,603
(16,129)
(30,512)
(200,000)
2,198,962

(422,428)
798,282
375,854

773,271
25,011
798,282

272,705
103,149
375,854

2,200
—
20,598
—

$
$
$

$
$

697,141
101,141
798,282

—
148,202
—
53,471

See notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
Note 1 – Business Organization, Reverse Recapitalization and Liquidity
Organization and Operations
Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (“Odyssey Technologies”) was incorporated on April 12, 2019 under the laws of the State of Delaware. Odyssey Technologies,
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. (“Odyssey Semiconductor”) and Odyssey Semiconductor’s wholly owned subsidiary, JR2J, LLC (“JR2J”)
(collectively, the “Company”), is a semiconductor device company developing high-voltage power switching components and systems based on proprietary Gallium Nitride
(“GaN”) processing technology.
Reverse Recapitalization and Common Control Merger
On June 17, 2019, Odyssey Semiconductor entered into a contribution agreement with 100% of the members of JR2J (“Contribution Agreement”). Pursuant to the Contribution
Agreement, the members of JR2J agreed to transfer 100% of their membership interests in JR2J to the Odyssey Semiconductor in exchange for the issuance of an aggregate of
5,316,667 shares of Common Stock of Odyssey Semiconductor (the “Contribution”). In connection with the Contribution Agreement, JR2J became a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Odyssey Semiconductor. Odyssey Semiconductor and JR2J were determined to be entities held under common control through identical common ownership. Accordingly,
the effect of the merger was retrospectively applied to all financial statement periods presented herein and the historical financial statements of Odyssey Semiconductor and
JR2J are combined.
On June 21, 2019, Odyssey Technologies entered into a share exchange agreement (the “Share Exchange Agreement”) with Odyssey Semiconductor and100% of the
stockholders of Odyssey Semiconductor (the “Semiconductor Stockholders”). On June 21, 2019 (the “Closing Date”), the Company closed the transaction contemplated by the
Share Exchange Agreement. Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the Semiconductor Stockholders agreed to transfer an aggregate of 5,666,667 shares of Common
Stock of Odyssey Semiconductor to Odyssey Technologies in exchange for Odyssey Technologies’ issuance of an aggregate of 5,666,667 shares of its Common Stock to the

Semiconductor Stockholders (the “Share Exchange”). On the Closing Date, Odyssey Semiconductor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Odyssey Technologies, the
Semiconductor Stockholders beneficially owned approximately 61.37% of Odyssey Technologies’ Common Stock on a fully-diluted basis, Odyssey Technologies began
operating Odyssey Semiconductor’s business of developing high-voltage power switching components and systems, and all directors and officers of Odyssey Technologies
resigned and were replaced by the directors and officers of Odyssey Semiconductor.
The closing of the Share Exchange was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization under the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805-40. The condensed consolidated statements of operations herein reflect the historical results of Odyssey Semiconductor prior to the
completion of the reverse recapitalization since it was determined to be the accounting acquirer, and do not include the historical results of operations for Odyssey Technologies
prior to the completion of the reverse recapitalization. Odyssey Technologies’ assets and liabilities are consolidated with the assets and liabilities of Odyssey Semiconductor as
of the Closing Date. Odyssey Semiconductor’s retained earnings are being carried forward as the Company’s retained earnings.
COVID-19
The extent of the impact and effects of the recent outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the operation and financial performance of our business will depend on future
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, related travel advisories and restrictions, the consequential potential of staff shortages, and project
development delays, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. If demand for the Company’s services or the Company’s ability to service customers are
impacted for an extended period, especially as it relates to major customers, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
Liquidity and Financial Condition
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had a cash balance, working capital and accumulated deficit of approximately$273,000, $63,000 and $3,516,000, respectively. During
the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company generated net loss of approximately $2,043,000.
In February 2021, the Company received approximately $68,000 from the exercise of stock options to purchase 45,625 shares of Common Stock. On February 24, 2021, the
Company received $193,625 pursuant to a promissory note issued under the Paycheck Protection Program Part 2 (“PPP2”). Interest accrues at1% per annum and the note is
payable in 60 monthly installments of $3,300 commencing May 2022. On March 30, 2021, the Company received the proceeds of the first closing pursuant to an offering of its
Common Stock. The Company sold 1,251,625 shares of Common Stock at $4.00 per share for gross proceeds of $5,006,500 (after expenses, net proceeds were approximately
$4.6 million). Warrants equal to 8% of the common shares sold, other than to certain parties that were excluded from fees (“Excluded Counterparties”), will be issued to the
placement agent with a 5 year exercise period and an exercise price of $4.00 per share. The Company may sell up to an additional 2,498,375 shares pursuant to this offering.
The maximum number of shares in the offering is 3,750,000, but includes up to 250,000 shares that the Company can sell to Excluded Counterparties without incurring fees
(cash or warrants) to the placement agent.
The Company believes its current cash on hand and the above mentioned funding in the first quarter of 2021 is sufficient to meet its operating obligations and capital
requirements for at least twelve months from the issuance of these financial statements. Thereafter, the Company may need to raise further capital through the sale of additional
equity or debt securities or other debt instruments to support its future operations. The Company’s operating needs include the planned costs to operate its business, including
amounts required to fund working capital and capital expenditures. The Company’s future capital requirements and the adequacy of its available funds will depend on many
factors, including the Company’s ability to successfully commercialize its products and services, competing technological and market developments, and the need to enter into
collaborations with other companies or acquire other companies or technologies to enhance or complement its product and service offerings. There is also no assurance that the
amount of funds the Company might raise will enable the Company to complete its development initiatives or attain profitable operations. If the Company is unable to obtain
additional financing on a timely basis, it may have to curtail its development, marketing and promotional activities, which would have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, and ultimately, the Company could be forced to discontinue its operations and liquidate.
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and the amounts disclosed in the related notes to the financial statements. The Company’s significant estimates used in these financial statements include,
but are not limited to, fair value calculations for equity securities, stock-based compensation, the recognition and collectability of receivables, the recoverability and useful lives
of long-lived assets, and the valuation allowance related to the Company’s deferred tax assets. Certain of the Company’s estimates could be affected by external conditions,
including those unique to the Company and general economic conditions. It is reasonably possible that these external factors could have an effect on the Company’s estimates
and could cause actual results to differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents in the financial statements. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had no cash equivalents. The Company has cash on deposits in several financial institutions which, at times, may be in excess of
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance limits. The Company has not experienced losses in such accounts and periodically evaluates the creditworthiness of
its financial institutions. The Company reduces its credit risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
Company had $22,705 and $346,746, respectively, on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance limits.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash was comprised of cash held as a security deposit in connection with the Company’s operating lease. See Note 10 – Commitments and Contingencies – Operating
Lease for additional details.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at their contractual amounts, less an estimate for uncollectible amounts. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there wereno allowances for
uncollectable amounts determined to be necessary. Management estimates the allowance for bad debts based on existing economic conditions, the financial conditions of the
customers, and the amount and age of past due accounts. Receivables are considered past due if full payment is not received by the contractual due date. Past due accounts are
generally written off against the allowance for bad debts only after all collection attempts have been exhausted.
Deferred Expenses
Deferred expenses consist of labor, materials and other costs that are attributable to customer contracts that the Company has not completed its performance obligation under the
contract and, as a result, has not recognized revenue. As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, deferred expenses were approximately $185,000 and $112,000,
respectively.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, once the asset is placed in service.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, which do not extend the economic useful life of the related assets, are charged to operations as incurred, and expenditures which
extend the economic life are capitalized. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of their respective lease.
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the costs and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss on disposal
is recognized in the statement of operations for the respective period.
The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its
carrying amount.
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:
Asset
Computer and office equipment
Lab equipment
Leasehold improvements
Machinery
Furniture

Useful lives (years)
5
5
shorter of useful life or lease term
7-15
7

Offering Costs
Deferred offering costs, which primarily consist of direct, incremental professional fees incurred in connection with a debt or equity financing, are capitalized as non-current
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Once the financing closes, the Company reclassifies such costs as either discounts to notes payable or as a reduction of proceeds
received from equity transactions so that such costs are recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital. If the completion of a contemplated financing was deemed to be no
longer probable, the related deferred offering costs would be charged to general and administrative expense in the consolidated financial statements. At December 31, 2020, the
Company wrote off the previously capitalized offering costs.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company measures the fair value of financial assets and liabilities based on the guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”) which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements.
ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market
for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity
to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. ASC 820 describes three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair value:
Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable
Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable (for example, cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, such as cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash, and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying amounts of the Company’s debt approximates fair value since it is tied to governmental programs and the
restrictions related therein.
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Fair Value of Stock Options and Warrants
The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to estimate the fair value of stock options and warrants, using input factors described below. The risk-free interest rate was
determined from the implied yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term consistent with the expected term of the instrument being valued. Option
forfeitures are accounted for at the time of occurrence. The expected term used is the estimated period of time that warrants or options are expected to be outstanding. The
Company utilizes the “simplified” method to develop an estimate of the expected term of “plain vanilla” employee options. For investor warrants and non-employee options, the
expected term used is the contractual life of the instrument being valued. The Company does not yet have a trading history to support its historical volatility calculations.
Accordingly, the Company is utilizing an expected volatility figure based on a review of the historical volatility of comparable entities over a period of time equivalent to the
expected life of the instrument being valued.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue under ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”). The Company determines revenue recognition through the

following steps:
●
●
●
●
●

Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer;
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance obligation.

A majority of the Company’s revenues are generated from contracts with customers that require it to design, develop, manufacture, test and integrate complex equipment and/or
to provide engineering and technical services according to customer specifications. Revenues on time and material type contracts are generally recognized in each period based
on the amount billable to the customer which is based on direct labor hours expended multiplied by the contractual fixed rate per hour, plus the actual costs of materials and
other direct non-labor costs. Certain contracts are billable upon the achievement of specific milestones, such as the delivery of prototypes or finished products, and revenue is
recognized typically upon the delivery of the products. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was no revenue recognized from performance obligations
satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods.
The timing of the Company’s revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment by its customers. A receivable is recorded when revenue is recognized prior to
payment and the Company has an unconditional right to payment. Alternatively, when payment precedes the provision of the related services, the Company records deferred
revenue until the performance obligations are satisfied. Contract assets are comprised of unbilled contract receivables related to revenues earned but not yet invoiced to
customers.
The Company generates revenue from government contracts that reimburse the Company for certain allowable costs for funded projects. For contracts with government
agencies, when the Company has concluded that it is the principal in conducting the research and development expenses and where the funding arrangement is considered
central to the Company’s ongoing operations, the Company classifies the recognized funding received as revenue. The Company has determined that revenue generated from
government grants is outside the scope of ASC 606 and, as a result, the Company recognizes revenue upon incurring qualifying, reimbursable expenses. During the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized approximately $1,170,000 and $560,000, respectively, of grant revenue.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award. The fair value of the award is
measured on the grant date. The fair value amount is then recognized over the period during which services are required to be provided in exchange for the award, usually the
vesting period. Upon the exercise of an award, the Company issues new shares of Common Stock out of its authorized shares.
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Research and Development
Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred.
Income Taxes
As described in Note 1 – Business Organization, Reverse Recapitalization and Liquidity, beginning on June 21, 2019, the operations of the Company are subject to federal and
state income taxes.
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of items that have been included or excluded in the financial statements or
tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their respective financial reporting
amounts (“temporary differences”) at enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The Company has recorded a full
valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets for all periods, due to the uncertainty of future utilization.
The Company utilizes a recognition threshold and measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. Management has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s financial statements as of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company does not expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within twelve months of the reporting date.
The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax related interest as interest expense and penalties as selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.
Net loss per share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted net loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common and dilutive common-equivalent shares
outstanding during each period.
The following shares were excluded from the calculation of weighted average dilutive shares of Common Stock because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:
As of December 31,
2020
Warrants
Options
Total

2019
155,966
3,257,410
3,413,376

155,966
590,000
745,966

Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified in order to conform to current year presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on previously reported results of
operations or income per share.
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma information gives effect to the Company’s conversion from a tax exempt entity into a tax paying entity beginning in September 2019. During the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company has estimated its pro forma income tax provision using a combined federal and state (New York) effective tax rate of 27.6%. No tax
benefit was recorded for pro forma purposes for the year ended December 31, 2019, as it was deemed that the recovery of a pro forma deferred tax asset would not meet the
“more likely than not” threshold. Therefore, a full pro forma valuation reserve would be established, such that no pro forma tax benefit would be recorded. Pro forma
information is therefore unchanged from the actual results for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 requires an entity to recognize assets and liabilities arising from
a lease for both financing and operating leases. ASU 2016-02 will also require new qualitative and quantitative disclosures to help investors and other financial statement users
better understand the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The FASB issued ASU No. 2018-10 “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases”
(“ASU 2018-10”), ASU No. 2018-11 “Leases (Topic 842) Targeted Improvements” (“ASU 2018-11”) in July 2018, and ASU No. 2018-20 “Leases (Topic 842) – Narrow
Scope Improvements for Lessors” (“ASU 2018-20”) in December 2018. ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-20 provide certain amendments that affect narrow aspects of the
guidance issued in ASU 2016-02. ASU 2018-11 allows all entities adopting ASU 2016-02 to choose an additional (and optional) transition method of adoption, under which an
entity initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of
adoption. Pursuant to ASU 2019-10 the effective date for ASC 842 was deferred an additional year. The Company expects to recognize operating lease right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet upon adoption of this ASU. The Company is currently evaluating these ASUs and their impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3 – Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

Insurance
Rent
Professional fees
Deposit
Other
Total

$

$

December
31, 2020
33,569
—
—
—
—
33,569

$

$

December
31, 2019
100,061
908
17,500
20,958
7,638
147,065

Note 4 – Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
December
31, 2020
Computer and office equipment
Lab equipment
Furniture
Leasehold improvements
Machinery
Subtotal
Accumulated Depreciation
Property and Equipment, net

$

$

2,807
15,606
43,705
422,318
623,190
1,107,626
(121,219)
986,407

$

$

December
31, 2019
2,807
15,606
—
140,056
241,285
399,754
(9,909)
389,845

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was approximately $111,000 and $5,000 (which was recorded within cost of sales) for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2020, depreciation expense of approximately $52,000 was recorded within cost of sales, $26,000
recorded within general and administrative expenses, $23,000 recorded within research and development, and $10,000 recorded within deferred costs.
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Note 5 – Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:
December
31, 2020
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related costs
Credit cards payable
Insurance
Other

$

80,548
46,650
49,045
—
10,803

December
31, 2019
$

90,720
51,115
56,759
14,982
4,429

$

Total

187,046

$

218,005

Note 6 – Related Party Transactions
Common Stock
On June 18, 2019, the Company issued 350,000 shares of immediately vested Common Stock for cash proceeds of $350 in connection with services provided to the Company.
The shares were issued to an immediate family member of one of the Company’s members of management who is also a principal owner. The shares had an issuance date fair
value of $1.50 per share, or $525,000 in total. As a result, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $524,650 on the date of issuance.
Note 7 – Stockholders’ Equity
Reverse Recapitalization
See Note 5 – Business Organization, Reverse Recapitalization – Reverse Recapitalization and Liquidity for additional details.
Authorized Capital
The Company is authorized to issue 45,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.
The holders of the Company’s Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. No preferred shares have been issued through December 31, 2020.
Common Stock Transactions
See Note 5 – Related Party Transactions for additional details.
On June 21 and August 5, 2019, the Company sold an aggregate of 1,776,346 shares of Common Stock at $1.50 per share to accredited investors for aggregate gross and
net cash proceeds of $2,664,513 and $2,204,502, respectively, which included issuance costs of $460,011 consisting of legal and professional fees, which were charged to
additional paid-in capital upon issuance of the Common Stock. In addition, the Company issued to the Company’s placement agent immediately vested five-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 155,966 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The warrants were determined to be classified within
stockholders’ equity and had an issuance date fair value of $148,202. As a result, the Company recognized the warrants by recording a debit and credit to additional paid-in
capital.
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On September 24, 2019, the Company sold an aggregate of 149,981 shares of Common Stock at $1.50 per share to accredited investors for aggregate cash proceeds of
$224,972.
Note 8 – Equity Compensation Plan
On June 18, 2019, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders, respectively, approved the 2019 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2019 Plan”). Under
the 2019 Plan, 1,326,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company were authorized for issuance. On September 16, 2020 the Board of Directors and a majority of the
Company’s shareholders approved an increase in the Plan to authorize 4,600,000 shares. The 2019 Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock
options, rights to purchase Common Stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock, performance shares and performance units to employees, directors and
consultants of the Company and its affiliates. The 2019 Plan requires the exercise price of stock options to be not less than the fair value of the Company’s Common Stock on
the date of grant, or 110% of fair value in the case of incentive options granted to a ten-percent stockholder.
On September 25, 2019 and November 5, 2019, the Company granted ten-year options to purchase an aggregate of 350,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of
$1.50 per share to non-employee directors and consultants of the Company. Such options vest one-half on each of the two annual anniversaries of the date of grant.
On November 5, 2019, the Company granted five-year options to purchase an aggregate of 240,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to
employees. Such options vest ratably over three years on each annual anniversary of the date of grant.
On March 11, 2020, the Company granted the following ten-year options to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the Company’s newly
appointed Executive Chairman and Acting Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan: (i) an option to purchase 965,850 shares of Common Stock that vests ratably on a
monthly basis over two years and (ii) an option to purchase 321,950 shares of Common Stock that vests based on performance criteria to be mutually agreed to by the Board and
the executive. The grant was reduced to 500,000 options, including 375,000 options and 125,000 options respectively under the two categories, due to limitations under the
2019 Plan. The terms of the 125,000 performance-based options were established in the quarter ended September 30, 2020.
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On May 26, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the 2019 Plan to (i) increase the number of shares of
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan by 1,174,000 shares, such that a total of 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock are now authorized for issuance under
the 2019 Plan; (ii) increase the maximum aggregate number of shares, options and/or other awards that may be granted to any one person during any calendar year from
500,000 to 1,300,000; and (iii) clarify the availability of cashless exercise as a form of consideration.
On July 16, 2020, the Company granted the following ten-year options to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the Company’s Executive
Chairman and Acting Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan: (i) an option to purchase 600,000 shares of Common Stock that vests ratably on a monthly basis overone
year and (ii) an option to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock that vests based on specified performance criteria.
On September 16, 2020, the Board of Directors and a majority of the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the 2019 Plan to increase the number of shares of
Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2019 Plan from 2,500,000 shares to 4,600,000 shares.
On September 22, 2020, the Company granted a ten-year options to purchase shares1,637,410 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to the
Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer under the 2019 Plan that vests ratably on a monthly basis over two years commencing March 11, 2022.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, received $10.00 cash compensation in 2020. Starting January 1, 2021, he receives a cash compensation of $1.00 per month.
The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price per share

Shares
Balance, January 1, 2019
Options granted
Balance, January 1, 2020
Options granted (1)
Options exercised
Options converted
Options forfeited or expired
Balance, December 31, 2020 (1)
Vested shares at December 31, 2020
(1)

—
590,000
590,000
2,937,410
(270,000)
—
—
3,257,410
196,208

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(years)

—
1.50
1.50
1.50
1.50
—
—
1.50
1.50

$

$

—
7.8
7.8
9.5
—
—
—
9.1
8.9

Includes the 325,000 options exercisable at $1.50 which vest based upon performance criteria. The criteria was not met as of December 31, 2020 and, as such, the
Company did not recognized any expense for such options through December 31, 2020.

The Company has estimated the fair value of fixed stock option awards as of the date of grant by applying the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In applying the BlackScholes option pricing model, the Company used the following assumptions for 2020 and 2019 issuances:
2020
0.62 -1.75%
10 years
78%
0.00%
$1.50/share

Risk-free interest rate
Expected term
Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Grant date fair value of common stock

2019
1.60% to 1.72%
3.5 -5.75 years
77 – 79%
0.00%
$1.50/share

During the years ended December 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company granted options with a weighted average grant date fair value of $1.20 and $0.93 per share, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of approximately $623,000 ($420,000 of which
was included within general and administrative expenses, $67,000 of which was included in research and development expenses, $13,000 of which was included in deferred
costs and $123,000 of which was included within cost of revenues). The criteria of the performance-based awards were not met as of December 31, 2020, and therefore no
expense has been recognized for such awards. As of December 31, 2020, there was unamortized stock-based compensation of approximately $ 3,300,000, which the Company
expects to recognize over 1.6 years.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of approximately $62,000 ($47,000 of which was included within
general and administrative expenses, $9,000 of which was included within cost of revenues on the consolidated statements of operations and $7,000 of which was included
within deferred expenses as of December 31, 2019 on the consolidated balance sheet).
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Note 9 – Income Taxes
As described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Income Taxes, the operations of the Company became subject to United States Federal and New York
State income taxes on June 21, 2019.
The Company does not have any current income tax provision (other than state minimum income taxes, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations) due to losses. The deferred tax benefit has been offset by an increase in the valuation allowance of $545,000 and
$213,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The provision for income taxes for the taxable periods ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 differs from the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:
Tax benefit at the Federal statutory rate
State tax, net of Federal benefit
Permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Effective income tax rate

21.0%
6.6%
9.5%
(37.1)%
0%

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets at December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,
2020
Deferred taxes assets:
Net operating loss carryforward
Stock compensation expense
R&D Credit

$

2019
526,000
166,000
64,000

$

200,000
13,000
—

Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

756,000
(756,000)
$

Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance

—

213,000
(213,000)
$

—

The income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 differed from the amounts computed by applying the US federal income tax rate of 21 % primarily
because of the increase in the valuation allowance, which resulted in an effective tax rate of zero for both years.
At December 31, 2020, the Company had approximately $2,100,000 of net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards that may be available to offset future Federal taxable income
indefinitely and New York State taxable income through 2039. The utilization of NOL carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to limitations under
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state statutes as a result of ownership changes that could occur in the future. If necessary, the deferred tax assets will be
reduced by any carryforward that expires prior to utilization as a result of such limitations, with a corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance.
The Company has assessed the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 requires
that such a review considers all available positive and negative evidence, including the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax
planning strategies. ASC 740 requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is “more likely than not” that all, or a portion of, deferred tax assets will not be realized.
After the performance of such a review as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, management believes that uncertainty exists with respect to future realization of its deferred tax
assets and has, therefore, established a full valuation allowance as of those dates.
Management has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s financial statements as of December 31,
2020 or 2019. The Company does not expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within twelve months of the reporting date. No tax audits were commenced
or were in process for the taxable periods ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. No tax related interest or penalties were incurred during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019.
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Note 10 – Commitments and Contingencies
Litigations, Claims, and Assessments
From time to time, the Company is involved in various disputes, claims, liens and litigation matters arising out of the normal course of business. While the outcome of these
disputes, claims, liens and litigation matters cannot be predicted with certainty, after consulting with legal counsel, management does not believe that the outcome of these
matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s combined financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from
claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be
reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had no liabilities recorded for loss contingencies.
Operating Lease
On August 21, 2019, the Company entered into a lease for a 10,000 square foot facility consisting of lab and office space. The lease requires monthly payments of $16,667 and
expires on November 30, 2025. The Company has arranged for a $100,000 letter of credit in favor of the landlord in lieu of a security deposit, which is included as restricted
cash on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The minimum lease payments for the years ending December 31 are approximately as follows:
$200,000 in each of 2021 to 2024 and $183,000 in 2025. Rent expense was $215,028 and $72,788 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Note 11 – Concentrations
The Company had 6 and 2 customers during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately85% of revenues were generated from one governmental entity (“Governmental client”) pursuant to our contract with
such entity. No other client accounted for more than 10% of revenues. 100% of contract assets as of December 31, 2020 are also related to this Governmental client. Deferred
costs and deferred revenues at December 31, 2020 relate to three different clients, of which one client represents more than 75% of both categories.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, revenues were generated from the Governmental client pursuant to our contract with such entity, and amounted to approximately
78% of total revenues. Revenues pursuant to sale of products to other clients were approximately22% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019.100% of the
contract assets as of December 31, 2019 was from the Government client. Deferred costs and deferred revenues at December 31, 2019 relate to two different clients.
Note 12 – Government Loans
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On May 1, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $211,000 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP, established as part
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, as amended (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the average
monthly payroll expenses of such qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are forgivable after certain time periods further defined in the CARES Act (the “Covered
Period”) as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan
forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the Covered Period. The outstanding balance is included in long term loans payable.
On March 6, 2021, the entire loan balance was forgiven.
Economic Injury Disaster Loan Advance
On May 1, 2020, the Company received an advance in the amount of $10,000 from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) under the Economic Injury Disaster Loan
(“EIDL”) program administered by the SBA, which program was expanded pursuant to the CARES Act. Such advance amount will reduce the Company’s PPP loan forgiveness
amount described above. The Company received an additional $138,900 under this program on August 30, 2020. The loan is payable in monthly payments of $678 including
interest at 3.75% payable over 30 years.
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Tomkins County Area Development Loan
On May 27, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of $50,000 from the Tomkins County Area Development (“TCAD”) Emergency Relief Loan Fund. The
loan matures after four years and bears interest in the amount of 2.5% per annum, with one year of no interest or principal payments, followed by three years ofmonthly
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $1,443 per month. The loan is collateralized by certain assets of the Company. The outstanding balance is included in long
term loans payable.
Equipment Loans
On August 20, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Broome County Industrial Development Agency (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest rate, monthly
payment of $1,775); on September 2, 2020, the Company received a loan of $100,000 from Southern Tier Region Economic Development Corporation (5 year facility, 5.0%
annual interest rate, monthly payment of $2,072) ; and on August 28, 2020, the Company received a loan of $75,000 from TCAD (5 year facility, 2.5% annual interest rate,
monthly payment of $1,331). These loans were used to acquire equipment used in the laboratory, and are secured by the underlying assets of the Company.
The loans are summarized as follows:
December
31, 2020
Principal outstanding
Deferred loan costs, net of amortization
Subtotal
Less current portion

$

679,866
(4,408)
675,458
(53,858)

Total long term portion

$

621,600

Interest expense on the above debt instruments was approximately $5,000 was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2020. Expected payments under the above loans as
of December 31, 2020 are summarized as follows:
December 31,
2020

Payments expected for year ended
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
thereafter
Subtotal
Less interest portion
Total debt balance

$

60,087
194,110
194,110
77,615
58,860
219,712
804,494
(124,628)

$

679,866

Note 13 – Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated events that have occurred after the balance sheet and through the date the financial statements were issued. Based upon the evaluation, the
Company did not identify any recognized or non-recognized subsequent events that would have required adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements, except as
disclosed below
In February 2021, the Company received approximately $68,000 from the exercise of stock options to purchase 45,625 shares of Common Stock.
On February 24, 2021, the Company received $193,625 pursuant to a promissory note issued under the
Paycheck Protection Program
Part 2 (“PPP2”). Interest accrues at 1% per annum and the note is payable in 60 monthly installments of $3,300 commencing May 2022.
On March 30, 2021, the Company received the proceeds of the first closing pursuant to an offering of its Common Stock. The Company sold1,251,625 shares of Common
Stock at $4.00 per share for gross proceeds of $5,006,500 (after expenses, net proceeds were approximately $4.6 million). Warrants equal to 8% of the common shares sold,
other than to certain parties that were excluded from fees (“Excluded Counterparties”), will be issued to the placement agent with a 5 year exercise period and an exercise price
of $4.00 per share. The Company may sell up to an additional 2,498,375 shares pursuant to this offering. The maximum number of shares in the offering is 3,750,000, but
includes up to 250,000 shares that the Company can sell to Excluded Counterparties without incurring fees (cash or warrants) to the placement agent.
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ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
[ ] Shares
Common Stock
PROSPECTUS

Sole Book-Running Manager
Maxim Group LLC
, 2022
You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. No one has been authorized to provide you with any information other than that contained in this
prospectus. We take no responsibility for any other information others may give to you. We are not, and the underwriters are not, making an offer to sell securities in any
jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. This prospectus is dated as of the date set forth on the cover hereof. You should not assume that the information contained
in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than that date.
Until , 2022 (25 days after the date of this prospectus), all dealers that buy, sell or trade our Common Stock, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to
deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers’ obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
ITEM 13. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION
Our estimated expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution of the securities being registered are:
SEC Registration Fee
Nasdaq Listing Fee
FINRA Filing Fee
Accounting Fees and Expenses
Legal Fees and Expenses
Transfer agent fees and expenses
Printing and related fees
Miscellaneous
Total

$

$

ITEM 14. INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that a corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party
to an action by reason of the fact that he or she was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with such action if he or she
acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful, except that, in the case of an action by or in right of the corporation, no indemnification may
generally be made in respect of any claim as to which such person is adjudged to be liable to the corporation. The Company’s Bylaws provide that it will indemnify its directors
and officers against expenses actually and necessarily incurred in connection with the defense of any action, suit, or proceeding in which they, or any of them, were made
parties, or a party, by reason of being or having been directors or officers or a director or officer of the Company, or of such other corporation, except in relation to matters as to
which any such director or officer or person shall have been adjudged in such action, suit, or proceeding to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of any
duty owed to the Company.
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Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to provide in its certificate of incorporation that a director of the corporation shall
not be personally liable to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duties as a director, except for liability for any: (i) breach of a
director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders; (ii) act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (iii)
unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or (iv) transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit. The Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation provides that its directors are not personally liable to the Company or its stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of fiduciary duties to the fullest extent
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law. These limitations of liability do not apply to liabilities arising under federal securities laws and do not affect the
availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission.
Section 145(g) of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the corporation. We have purchased director and officer liability insurance to cover liabilities our directors and officers may incur in connection
with their services to us for up to $2 million.
[The Company has entered into indemnity agreements with its officers or directors.] There is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers,
employees or agents in which indemnification will be required or permitted. We are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding that may result in a claim for such
indemnification.
ITEM 15. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
Since April 2019, the Company made sales of the following unregistered securities:
Original Issuances of Stock
From our inception to mid-June 2019, we sold an aggregate of 3,566,667 shares of our Common Stock to eleven accredited investors at a price of $.001 per share.
August 2019 Private Placement
On August 5, 2019, the Company completed a private placement (the “August 2019 Private Placement”) of a total of 1,776,346 shares of Common Stock, at a price of
$1.50 per share. The Company raised a total of $2,664,513 from 44 accredited investors.
The Company paid its placement agent of the August 2019 Private Placement a total compensation for its services of (i) a total cash commission of $233,945; and (ii)
five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 155,966 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share.

Share Exchange with Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc.
On June 21, 2019, simultaneous with the first closing of the August 2019 Private Placement, the Company acquired from shareholders of Odyssey Semiconductor an
aggregate of 5,666,667 shares of common stock which were all of the issued and outstanding securities of Odyssey Semiconductor, in exchange for the issuance of 5,666,667
shares of Common Stock to all shareholders of Odyssey Semiconductor. Following the share exchange, Odyssey Semiconductor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.
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September 2019 Private Placement
On September 24, 2019, the Company completed a private placement (the “September 2019 Private Placement”) of a total of 149,981 shares of Common Stock, at a
price of $1.50 per share. The Company raised a total of $224,972 from two accredited investors.
March 2021 Private Placement
On March 30, 2021, the Company sold a total of 1,251,625 shares of Common Stock in a private placement (the “March 2021 Private Placement”), at a price of $4.00
per share. The Company raised a total of $5,006,500 from 48 accredited investors.
Grants Under the 2019 Plan
In consideration for services to be provided to the Company, the Company granted the following options to purchase shares of Common Stock at $1.50 per share under
the 2019 Plan: a 10-year option to purchase 275,000 shares to Richard Ogawa as of September 25, 2019, a 10-year option to purchase 50,000 shares to Alex Behfar as of
September 25, 2019, and a 10-year option to purchase 25,000 shares to Mike Thompson as of November 5, 2019.
On November 5, 2019, the Company granted 5-year options to purchase an aggregate of 240,000 shares of Common Stock at $1.50 per share to nine employees under
the 2019 Plan.
On March 11, 2020, Alex Behfar was appointed as the Company’s Acting Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman, in connection with which appointment he
was granted an option under the 2019 Plan to purchase 375,000 shares of Common Stock that vests ratably on a monthly basis over two years and an option to purchase 125,000
shares of Common Stock which vested on March 30, 2021.
On September 16, 2020, in connection with his appointment as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Mr. Behfar was granted options to purchase
1,637,410 shares of Common Stock at the price of $1.50 per share that will vest ratably on a monthly basis over 24 months starting from March 11, 2022.
On June 2, 2021, the Company granted 5-year options to purchase an aggregate of 168,000 shares of Common Stock at $3.93 per share to eight employees under the
2019 Plan. On the same day, the Company granted 10-year options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $3.93 per share to each of Richard Ogawa and
Michael Thompson, non-employee directors of the Company.
On June 7, 2021, Khurram Khan Afridi was appointed as an Advisory Board Member of the Company. In connection with such appointment, Mr. Afridi was granted
10-year options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $3.55 per share.
On June 22, 2021, John Edmunds was appointed Director of the Company and later was appointed Chairman of the Board on September 13, 2021. In connection with
Mr. Edmunds’s appointment as a Director and Chairman of Audit Committee of the Company, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Edmunds (i) a one-time grant on June 22, 2021
of non-qualified stock options under the Company 2019 Equity Compensation Plan to purchase 70,246 shares of Common Stock of the Company at $2.90 per share; and (ii) an
annual grant of non-qualified stock options under the 2019 Plan to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock of the Company that have a value of $60,000, calculated
using the fair market value of Common Stock of the Company as determined by the Board as of the date of grant, with an exercise price equal to the closing bid price of
Common Stock of the Company as of the date of grant; provided that Mr. Edmunds shall have served on the Board for at least six months prior to the date of grant.
On December 30, 2021, the board of directors approved the following grants under the 2019 Plan: (i) 10-year non-qualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares of
Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to each of John Edmunds, Richard Ogawa and Michael Thompson, non-employee directors of the Company; (ii) 10-year nonqualified stock options to purchase 20,000 shares and 35,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to John Edmunds (for providing service to the Company as
Chairman of the Board) and Richard Ogawa, respectively; (iii) 5-year options to purchase 100,000 shares and 80,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $1.77 per share to
Richard Brown and James Shealy, respectively; and (iv) 5-year options to purchase an aggregate of 150,000 shares of Common Stock at $1.77 per share to eight employees.
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Securities Act Exemptions
We deemed all of the above offers, sales and issuances of our shares of Common Stock and warrants (except described under “Grants Under the 2019 Plan”) to be
exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, including Regulation D and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, relative to
transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. All purchasers of securities in transactions exempt from registration pursuant to Regulation D represented to us that
they were accredited investors and were acquiring the shares for investment purposes only and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution thereof and that
they could bear the risks of the investment and could hold the securities for an indefinite period of time. The purchasers received written disclosures that the securities had not
been registered under the Securities Act and that any resale must be made pursuant to a registration statement or an available exemption from such registration.
We deemed the grants of stock options prior to February 14, 2020 (starting from such date the Company became subject to Exchange Act reporting requirements)
described above under “Grants Under the 2019 Plan” and issuances of Common Stock upon exercise of such options to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in
reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act. The Rule 701 exemption is not available to Exchange Act reporting companies. In general, the Company is eligible to rely on the
Rule 701 exemption to offer and sell securities to any of its employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors in connection with a written compensatory benefit plan or
other written agreement in compliance with Rule 701 under the Securities Act before the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Subject to
any applicable lock-up agreements, beginning 90 days after we become subject to the public company reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, under Rule 701 our affiliates
may resell shares in reliance on Rule 144 without having to comply with the holding period requirement thereunder, and non-affiliates of the Company can resell shares in
reliance on Rule 144 without having to comply with Rule 144’s current public information and holding period requirements thereunder.
All certificates representing the securities issued in the transactions described in this Item 15 included appropriate legends setting forth that the securities had not been
offered or sold pursuant to a registration statement and describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities. There were no underwriters employed in connection
with any of the transactions set forth in this Item 15.

ITEM 16. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Exhibit No.

Description

1.1*

Form of Underwriting Agreement

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

3.2

Bylaws of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15,
2019, File No. 333- 234741)

4.1*

Form of Underwriter’s Warrant

4.2

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No.
333- 234741)

5.1*

Opinion of Robinson & Cole LLP

10.1

Form of Pre-Share Exchange Common Stock Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)
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10.2

Form of Share Exchange Agreement, by and among Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. and its Shareholders
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.3

Form of Pre-Share Exchange Lock-Up Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15,
2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.4

Form of Pre-Share Exchange Indemnity Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15,
2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.5

Form of Subscription Agreement for Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.’s August 2019 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.6

Form of Registration Rights Agreement for Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.’s August 2019 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.7

Form of Subscription Agreement for Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.’s September 2019 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.8

Form of Registration Rights Agreement for Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.’s September 2019 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.9

Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. 2019 Equity Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.9a

Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2019 Equity Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed on April 8, 2021)

10.10

Form of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (Employee) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.10a

Form of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (Director) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10a to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.11

Agreement by and between of JR2J, LLC and the Advanced Research Projects Agency-Energy, an Agency of Department of Energy, dated September 22,
2017 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.12

Sublease Agreement, dated August 21, 2019, by and between Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. and Macom Technology Solutions, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.13

Consulting Agreement, dated April 1, 2019, by and between JR2J, LLC and Richard Ogawa (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)
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10.14

Consulting Agreement, dated May 16, 2019, by and between JR2J, LLC and Alex Behfar (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.15

Consulting Agreement, dated October 18, 2019, by and between Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. and Akash Systems, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.15 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.16

Contribution Agreement, dated June 17, 2019, by and among Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc., Richard J. Brown and James R. Shealy (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.16 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

10.17

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2019, by and between Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. and Al Schremer (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 15, 2020, File No. 333-234741)

10.18

Agreement, dated May 6, 2019, by and between Odyssey Semiconductor, Inc. and Katalyst Securities LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 15, 2020, File No. 333-234741)

10.19

Form of Subscription Agreement for March 2021 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2020 filed on April 8, 2021)

10.20

Form of Registration Rights Agreement for March 2021 Private Placement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2020 filed on April 8, 2021)

10.21*

Form of Indemnity Agreement

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
November 15, 2019, File No. 333- 234741)

23.1

Consent of Marcum LLP (Filed herewith.)

23.2*

Consent of Robinson & Cole LLP (Included in Exhibit 5.1.)

24.1

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Registration Statement)

99.1

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Registrant

99.2

Charter of Audit Committee (Filed herewith.)

99.3

Charter of Compensation Committee (Filed herewith.)

99.4

Charter of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (Filed herewith.)

107

Filing Fee Table (Filed herewith.)

* To be filed by amendment
ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
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(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”);
(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment
thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation
from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in
the “Calculation of Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement; and
(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to
such information in the registration statement;
(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration
statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A (§230.430A of this chapter),
shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a
registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration
statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement
that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy
as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant
of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized, in the city of Ithaca, State of New York on February 10, 2022.
ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
By:

/s/ Richard J. Brown
Name: Richard J. Brown
Title: Interim Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned officers and directors Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), do hereby constitute and appoint Alex Behfar as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him
and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments, exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith) to this Registration Statement and any subsequent registration statement filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, which relates to this Registration Statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done
in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.
Person

Capacity

Date

/s/ Richard J. Brown
Richard J. Brown

Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technical Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 10, 2022

/s/ John Edmunds
John Edmunds

Chairman of the Board and Director

February 10, 2022

/s/ Richard Ogawa
Richard Ogawa

Director

February 10, 2022

/s/ Michael Thompson
Michael Thompson

Director

February 10, 2022
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EXHIBIT 23.1
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT
We consent to the inclusion in this Registration Statement of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. on Form S-1 of our report dated April 7, 2021 with respect to our
audits of the consolidated financial statements of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2020, which report appears in the Prospectus, which is part of this Registration Statement. We also consent to the reference to our Firm under the
heading “Experts” in such Prospectus.
/s/ Marcum llp
Marcum llp
Melville, NY
February 10, 2022

EXHIBIT 99.1
ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Code of Business Conduct
Innovation with Integrity
February 9 th , 2022

Message from the Chief Executive Officer of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc.
Dear Teammates,
Our success is driven by how people perceive the Odyssey brand. Having a reputation as a trustworthy and ethical corporation among customers, investors, employees and
within the communities in which we serve and live is necessary to maintain a positive brand perception in the semiconductor business.
To achieve this, we must have a high-caliber workforce that continuously holds itself to the highest standards. The Odyssey Corporation Code of Business Conduct is designed
to support our efforts and guide our performance to meet the highest ethical standards within the workplace. It is our responsibility to understand and act upon the Code of
Conduct as we conduct business day to day.
Our collective ability to model our high-performance culture traits, including a commitment to behavior above reproach, is key to our customer experience, brand perception
and financial performance.
Thank you for contributing to the legacy of integrity we enjoy at Odyssey.
Rick Brown, Co-Founder and CEO
Page 2

Introduction
Our standards of business conduct serve as an important resource for employees in support of day-to-day decision making. Our standards represent the core of how we create the
solid foundation of trust and success that is reflected in our relationships with customers, suppliers, shareholders, and each other.
The Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. Code of Business Conduct (the “Code”) is applicable toall officers and employees of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies,
Inc. and its controlled subsidiaries, directly or indirectly (hereinafter collectively “Odyssey” or the “Company”), and the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”). The
Code establishes the basic foundation of Odyssey’s ethics by communicating our philosophy and commitment to all of our employees, customers, other stakeholders and the
communities in which we do business. The Code should be used as a resource when questions of legal or ethical appropriateness arise on the job. It is not a comprehensive
rulebook, but rather a statement of how we commit to do business. We are bound by the Code and the specific operational policies of Odyssey.
The Board of the Company adopted this Code in order to: (a) promote honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest; (b)
promote full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that the Company files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) and in other public communications made by the Company; (c) promote compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations; (d) promote the
protection of Company assets, including corporate opportunities and confidential information; (e) promote fair dealing practices; (f) deter wrongdoing; and (g) ensure
accountability for adherence to the Code.
It is important that you are aware of, and never intentionally violate, relevant laws and regulations. Violating laws, regulations, or this Code, or encouraging others to do so,
exposes Odyssey to risk, including risk to its reputation, and therefore, may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.
You should understand that violations of laws or regulations may also result in legal proceedings and penalties including, in some circumstances, civil and criminal penalties
that could affect you personally in addition to a risk of adverse consequences to Odyssey.
You should also be alert to changes in the law or new requirements that may affect your business unit, as well as new products or services that may be subject to special legal
requirements.
Our Responsibilities
As members of Odyssey’s team, we all have a personal responsibility to uphold and ensure the letter and spirit of our Code in our individual roles, every single day. As an
Odyssey employee, this means you must understand and comply with all of our policies, laws and regulations that apply to your job, even if you feel pressured to do otherwise.
Our Code also requires you to seek guidance if you have questions or concerns and to cooperate fully in any investigation of suspected violations of the Code that may arise in
the course of your employment.
Periodically, you may be asked to provide a written certification that you have reviewed and understand the Code, comply with its standards, and are not personally aware of
any violations of the Code by others. This certification is your pledge to live up to the Code and its expectations and to promptly raise concerns about any situation that you
think may violate the Code. Employees who violate the Code put themselves, fellow employees, and the Company at risk and are subject to disciplinary action up to and
including termination of employment.
Making Good Decisions
Recognizing ethical issues and doing the right thing in all Odyssey business activities is your responsibility. When engaging in business activities for the Company, consider the
following:
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●

What feels right or wrong about the planned action?

●

Is the planned action consistent with the Code and Odyssey policies?

●

How will the planned action appear to your manager, Odyssey executives, the Board, or the general public?

●

Would another person’s input help to evaluate the planned action?
Asking Questions

You are obligated to report violations of the Code, the law, or any other company policy or procedure. If you have questions or concerns, you should discuss it with your
supervisor, any member of your management team, a Human Resources representative or contact the Hotline (see below under “Reporting Channels”) where you can report
your concern confidentially or anonymously. You may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination, for your failure to do so.
Commitment to Non-Retaliation
Any employee who reports a violation will be treated with dignity and respect and will not be subjected to any form of discipline or retaliation for reporting in good faith.
Retaliation against anyone who provides information or otherwise assists in an investigation or proceeding regarding any conduct that the employee believes in good faith
constitutes a violation of applicable laws or regulations, the Code, or Odyssey’s related policies is prohibited and will, in and of itself, be treated as a violation of the Code.
Reporting Channels
If you think that an actual or possible violation has occurred, it’s important to report your concerns immediately to your supervisor, the head of Human Resources or the hotline
hosted by a third party vendor (Hotline).
The Hotline is available 24 hours a day. You may use either of the following methods to file a report on the Hotline: [ ].
You are encouraged to identify yourself when reporting a possible violation and Odyssey will make every effort to protect your identity if you do so. You may, however, report
a suspected violation anonymously by calling of filing a report via the Hotline or by sending a written letter to Odyssey’s Head of Human Resources at Odyssey Semiconductor
Technologies, Inc., 9 Brown Rd, Ithaca, NY 14850.
If the report pertains to concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters, the employee should direct the report to the Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors. This report may be made in person, in writing, or via the Hotline, and may be anonymous, at the employee’s discretion, through the following:
●

Contact the Chairman of the Audit Committee by email at ACChair@Odyssey.com

●

Contact the Chairman of the Audit Committee by mail at Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc., Attn: Audit Committee Chairman, c/o Odyssey Corporation,9
Brown Rd, Ithaca, NY 14850 (This correspondence will be forwarded directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee.)

●

Contact the Hotline

Employees submitting a report on an anonymous basis are strongly encouraged to keep a copy of the report (if made in writing) and a record of the time and date of their
submission, as well as a description of the matter as reported if the report was not in writing.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, nothing in this Code is intended to restrict or discourage an employee from directly contacting the appropriate government authority
to report an actual or possible violation of law.
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Complying with the Code of Business Conduct
To maintain the highest standards of integrity, we must dedicate ourselves to complying with the Code, company policies and procedures and applicable laws and regulations.
Violations of the Code not only damage the Company’s standing in the communities we serve--they may also be illegal. Employees involved in violating the Code will likely
face negative consequences.
Odyssey will take the appropriate disciplinary action in response to each case, up to and including termination. In addition, employees involved in violations of the Code may be
subject to government fines or criminal or civil liability.
If a law conflicts with a policy in this Code, employees must comply with the law. If a local custom conflicts with a policy in the Code, employees must comply with the Code.
Waivers
Odyssey will waive application of the policies set forth in the Code only where circumstances warrant granting a waiver based on the best interests of Odyssey and its
stockholders. Any waiver pertaining to an employee must be approved by the Head of Human Resources and the CEO. Waivers of the Code for directors and executive officers
may be made only by those members of the Board of Directors not involved in the possible waiver and must be promptly disclosed as required by law or regulation.
Discrimination
Having a diverse workforce--made up of team members who bring a wide variety of skills, abilities, experiences and perspectives--is essential to our success. We are committed
to the principles of equal employment opportunity, inclusion and respect.
Harassment and Abusive Conduct
Every employee has a right to a work environment free from harassment and abusive conduct, regardless of whether the harasser or abuser is a co-worker, supervisor, manager,
customer, vendor or visitor.
Workplace Safety and Violence Prevention
We are committed to the protection of our employees and property. Threats, intimidation and violence in our workplace will not be tolerated.
Substance Abuse

Alcohol and drug abuse can endanger the health, safety and security of our employees and our customers, adversely affect the quality and effectiveness of our company
operations and potentially harm fellow employees, the communities we live in and our company reputation.
Employee Information Privacy
Odyssey respects the confidentiality of the personal information of employees. This includes employee medical and personnel records.
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Proprietary and Confidential Information
One of our most important assets is our confidential information. As an employee of Odyssey, you may learn of information about the Company that is confidential and
proprietary. You also may learn of information before that information is released to the general public. Employees who have received or have access to confidential
information should take care to keep this information confidential.
Confidential or proprietary information includes, among other things, any non-public information concerning Odyssey, including its business, financial performance, results or
prospects, any information that might be of use to competitors or harmful to Odyssey or its customers if disclosed, such as business, marketing and service plans, financial
information, product architecture, source codes, engineering and manufacturing ideas, designs, processes, databases, materials, customer or vendor lists, pricing strategies,
personnel data, personally identifiable information pertaining to our employees, customers or other individuals (including, for example, names, addresses, telephone numbers
and social security numbers), and similar types of information provided to us by our customers, suppliers and partners.
You are expected to keep confidential and proprietary information confidential unless and until that information is released to the public through approved channels (usually
through a press release, an SEC filing or a formal communication from a member of senior management). Every employee has a duty to refrain from disclosing to any person
such confidential or proprietary information until that information is disclosed to the public through approved channels.
You should also take care not to inadvertently disclose confidential information. Materials that contain confidential information, such as memos, notebooks, computer disks and
laptop computers, should be stored securely. Unauthorized posting or discussion of any information concerning our business, information or prospects on the Internet is
prohibited. You may not discuss our business, information or prospects in any “chat room,” regardless of whether you use your own name or a pseudonym. All company
emails, voicemails and other communications are presumed confidential and should not be forwarded or otherwise disseminated outside of Odyssey, except where required for
legitimate business purposes.
Assets, Resources, and Electronic Access
All employees must protect our company assets, such as equipment, inventory, supplies, cash, and information. Treat company assets with the same care you would if they
were your own. Use our company resources only to conduct company business. No employee may commit theft, fraud or embezzlement, or misuse company property.
Odyssey provides an array of information and technology resources intended to maximize our efficiency in carrying out your job such as: e-mail, computers, computer
applications, networks, the internet, the intranet, facsimile machines, cell phones, pagers, other wireless communication devices, telephones, and voice mail systems.
Please remember that these tools are company property and must be used in a manner that reflects positively on Odyssey and all who work here.
Occasional, limited personal use of these resources is permitted, but cannot interfere with your work performance, or the work performance of your colleagues. We cannot
tolerate inappropriate or illegal use of these assets and reserve the right to take appropriate disciplinary actions, as needed, up to and including termination of employment. Such
inappropriate use of these resources can include the following:
●

Hacking

●

Pirating software or video/audio files

●

Soliciting

●

Distributing literature for outside entities

●

Sending inappropriate e-mail

●

Accessing inappropriate web sites (such as those advocating hate, violence, sexually explicit material, or promoting illegal activities)
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●

Distributing confidential, proprietary or trade secret information of Odyssey outside the Company

●

Committing any unlawful or illegal act, including harassment, libel or fraud in violation of applicable law, trafficking in contraband of any kind or espionage

Odyssey reserves the right to monitor and inspect, without notice, the use of its information and technology resources, including mobile phones, computers, laptops, tablets, and
other devices.
All employees are expected to protect our assets and ensure their efficient use. Theft, carelessness and waste have a direct impact on our profitability. Our property, such as
office supplies, computer equipment, buildings and products, are expected to be used only for legitimate business purposes, although incidental personal use may be permitted.
You may not, however, use our corporate name, any brand name or trademark owned or associated with Odyssey or any letterhead stationery for any personal purpose.
All data residing on or transmitted through our computing and communications facilities, including email and word processing documents, is the property of Odyssey and
subject to inspection, retention and review by our company, with or without an employee’s or third party’s knowledge, consent or approval, and in accordance with applicable
law. Any misuse or suspected misuse of our assets must be immediately reported to your supervisor or the Head of Human Resources.
Proper Use of Electronic Media
The Company uses global electronic communications and resources as routine parts of our business activities. However, they can present risks. Therefore, it is essential that
electronic resources used to perform company business are protected to ensure that these resources are accessible for business purposes and operated in a cost- effective manner,

that the Company’s reputation is protected, and that we minimize the potential for legal risk.
Electronic media, such as telephones, fax machines, personal computers, data storage units or thumb drives, e- mail, voice mail, and pagers are provided to us to enable us to do
our job at Odyssey. Each of us has a responsibility to protect these systems and the data that is contained on them from misuse, improper access, damage, and theft.
Even when use of Odyssey’s electronic media for limited personal purposes is permitted, such use is not private.As noted above, anything sent or received using the Company’s
electronic media may be reviewed by Odyssey and others at our discretion and direction.
Remember: Be just as careful and professional with electronic media such as e-mails, instant and text messaging, and other similar forms of communication as you would when
writing a formal letter.
●

Never use electronic media to initiate, save, or send items that are hostile, harassing, offensive, threatening, or otherwise inappropriate.

●

Do not use electronic media to initiate, save, or send chain letters or other widespread non-business distributions.

●

Do not use electronic media to initiate or participate in any malicious, unauthorized, or fraudulent use of company resources.

●

Think before you use Odyssey’s electronic media for non-business purposes and comply with the policies of your business unit.

Remember: The unauthorized transmission of company data, access to inappropriate internet sites, and the transmission of inappropriate e-mails are examples of misuse of
technology.
Use of the Company’s networks is both a necessity and a privilege. If you have access to our information systems and computer networks, you are responsible for using the
highest standards of behavior in all of your usage and communications. When you access our networks from remote locations (for example, at home or from other noncompany locations), you are subject to the same standards of use as are employees who access our networks while on company premises. Our networks and information
systems are for legitimate company- related business purposes. Limited personal use may be acceptable if it is authorized by your work location and does not interfere with your
job responsibilities.
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In addition to the prohibitions discussed above under “Assets, Resources, and Electronic Access,” do not use Odyssey’s networks for the following:
●

Soliciting for commercial, charitable, religious or political causes

●

Damaging computer equipment, software or data

●

Interfering with or disrupting network users, services or equipment.

You are also required to comply with Odyssey’s IT policies, practices, and other information security policies that govern the proper use of electronic media.
Social media is of growing importance in the marketplace. It enables us to learn from and share information with our stakeholders, as well as communicate with the public about
the Company. In addition to following all company policies, a general rule to remember when utilizing social media is to think about the effect of statements that you make.
Keep in mind that these transmissions are permanent and easily transferable, and can affect the Company’s reputation and relationships with coworkers and customers.
When using social media tools or forums, ensure that you do not disclose non-public information or make comments on behalf of Odyssey without proper authorization.
Protecting Customer/Third Party Information Privacy
Keeping customer information secure and using it appropriately is a top priority for the Company. We must safeguard any confidential information customers or third parties
share with us. We must also ensure that such information is used only for the reasons for which the information was gathered, unless further use is allowed by law.
Customer or third party information includes any information about a specific customer/third party, including such things as name, address, phone numbers, financial
information, etc. We do not disclose any information about a third party without the written approval unless legally required to do so (for example, under a court- issued
subpoena).
Intellectual Property and Protecting IP
Our intellectual property is among our most valuable assets. Intellectual property refers to creations of the human mind that are protected by various national laws and
international treaties. Intellectual property includes copyrights, patents, trademarks, trade secrets, design rights, logos, expertise, and other intangible industrial or commercial
property. We must protect and, when appropriate, enforce our intellectual property rights. We also respect the intellectual property belonging to third parties. It is our policy to
not knowingly infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others.
As an employee, you signed a confidential information and invention assignment agreement. The things you create for Odyssey belong to the Company. Your work product for
Odyssey includes, but is not limited to inventions, discoveries, ideas, improvements, software programs, artwork, and works of authorship. This work product is the Company’s
property (it does not belong to individuals) if it is created or developed, in whole or in part, on company time, as part of your duties or through the use of company resources or
information. To ensure that the Company receives the benefit of work done by outside consultants, it is essential that an appropriate agreement or release be in place before any
work begins. Please review your Confidential Information and Invention Assignment Agreement for additional information regarding our intellectual property and the
protection thereof.
We value and encourage the protection of our intellectual property (such as patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks) and proprietary information while simultaneously
respecting the valid intellectual property rights of third parties. Intellectual property laws protect many materials you may use during your course of employment. Copyright
laws protect materials such as computer software, music, artwork, audio, and videotapes, books, presentations, and training materials. Patent laws protect inventions, trade
secret laws protect proprietary information, and trademark laws protect product and services names.
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We value new product and business ideas, concepts, and other information we produce. When we do not identify or otherwise protect this “intellectual property”, the Company
risks losing rights to it and the competitive advantages it offers.

Protect intellectual property from illegal or other misuse by making sure it is affixed with or identified by appropriate trademark, service mark, copyright notice or patent
marking. Disclose to management any innovation developed on company time or using company information or resources, so that the Company can decide whether to seek
formal protection.
Licenses must be obtained to use intellectual property belonging to someone else or we must purchase the outright ownership of the property. In the case of property rights with
an expiration date, such as patents, you must be sure that this date has passed if licensing or outright purchase is not feasible. Avoid infringing on the IP rights of others.
Do not:
●

Disclose non-public intellectual property inappropriately or without approval from the CEO

●

Use company resources or time to create or invent something unrelated to our business

●

Use a previous employer’s intellectual property without that company’s permission

●

Make unauthorized copies of software or licensed information, except as specified in the licensing agreement

●

Photocopy magazine/journal articles or other publications unless you have the authority or license to do so

●

Hire a competitor’s employee to obtain that competitor’s trade secrets

●

Affix the trademark of another company to goods without authorization

●

Fail to remove another’s trademark when the goods or parts are remanufactured

●

Erroneously allege patent infringement or mark a product with an untrue patent notice
Antitrust and Fair Competition

We believe in free and open competition. In addition, in most of the countries where we operate, strict laws are in force similar to antitrust laws in the United States and
competition laws in the European Union prohibiting collusive or unfair business behavior that restricts free competition. United States antitrust and other countries’ competition
laws are quite complicated, and failure to adhere to these laws could result in significant penalties imposed on both Odyssey and the employees who violated the law. There are
almost no circumstances allowed by law to enter agreements with competitors to fix prices, bid rigging, terms of sale, production output, or to divide markets or customers. In
addition, attempts to discriminate in prices or terms of sale among our customers, or to otherwise restrict the freedom of our customers to compete, may sometimes be illegal.
Legal issues may also arise if we refuse to deal with certain customers or competitors.
Honest Advertising and Marketing
It is our responsibility to accurately represent Odyssey and our products in our marketing, advertising, and sales materials. Deliberately misleading messages, omissions of
important facts or false claims about our products, individuals, competitors or their products, services, or employees are inconsistent with our values. Sometimes it is necessary
to make comparisons between our products and our competitors. When we do, we will make factual and accurate statements that can be easily verified or reasonably relied
upon.
Obtain Competitive Information Fairly
Gathering information about our competitors often called competitive intelligence is a legitimate business practice. Doing so helps us stay competitive in the marketplace;
however, we must never use any illegal or unethical means to get information about other companies. Legitimate sources of competitive information include publicly available
information such as news accounts, industry surveys, competitors’ displays at conferences and trade shows, and information publicly available on the Internet. You may also
gain competitive information appropriately from customers and suppliers (unless they are prohibited from sharing the information) and by obtaining a license to use the
information or actually purchasing the ownership of the information. When working with consultants, vendors, and other partners, ensure that they understand and follow
Odyssey policy on gathering competitive information.
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Anti-Money Laundering
Money laundering is a global problem with far-reaching and serious consequences. Money laundering is defined as the process of converting illegal proceeds so that funds are
made to appear legitimate, and it is not limited to cash transactions. Complex commercial transactions may hide financing for criminal activity such as terrorism, illegal
narcotics trade, bribery, and fraud. Involvement in such activities undermines our integrity, damages our reputation and can expose Odyssey and individuals to severe sanctions.
The Company forbids knowingly engaging in transactions that facilitate money laundering or result in unlawful diversion.
We take steps to detect and prevent unacceptable or illegal forms of payment and financial transactions. Anti- money laundering laws of the United States and other countries
and international organizations require transparency of payments and the identity of all parties to transactions. We are committed to full compliance with anti-money laundering
laws throughout the world and will conduct business only with reputable customers involved in legitimate business activities and transactions.
Money laundering is conduct designed to disguise proceeds of criminal activity by which individuals or entities. Our company will not condone, facilitate, or support money
laundering. Two areas that deserve special awareness are unusual ways in which payments may be requested and customers who appear to lack integrity in their operations. Be
alert for:
●

Requests for cash payment, travelers checks or checks from an unknown third party

●

Complex payment patterns

●

Unusual transfers to or from countries not related to the transaction

●

Customers who seem eager to avoid recordkeeping requirements

●

Transactions involving locations previously associated with money laundering or tax evasion

●

Transactions which are inconsistent with usual business practices, or which do not match the customer’s or client’s normal pattern of activity
Selection and Use of Third Parties/Procurement (Fair Purchasing)

We believe in doing business with third parties that embrace and demonstrate high principles of ethical business behavior. We rely on suppliers, contractors, and consultants to
help us accomplish our goals. They are part of the Odyssey team and should be treated according to our values. To create an environment where our suppliers, contractors, and
consultants have an incentive to work with Odyssey, they must be confident that they will be treated in an ethical manner. We offer fair opportunities for prospective third
parties to compete for our business. The manner in which we select our suppliers and the character of the suppliers we select reflect on the way we conduct business.
Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking
Odyssey is committed to preventing forced or indentured labor practices, or human trafficking. Odyssey expects its suppliers to comply with all applicable laws and adhere to
the highest standards of labor and human rights, including elimination of human trafficking and slavery.
Anti-Bribery / Anti-Corruption
The United States and many other countries have laws that prohibit bribery, kickbacks, and other improper payments. No Odyssey employee, officer, agent, or independent
contractor acting on our behalf may offer or provide bribes or other improper benefits in order to obtain business or an unfair advantage. A bribe is defined as directly or
indirectly offering anything of value (e.g., gifts, money, or promises) to influence or induce action, or to secure an improper advantage.
A “bribe” is giving anything of value that would improperly influence or appear to improperly influence the outcome of a transaction. “Anything of value” is very broadly
defined and can include such things as:
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●

Cash

●

Gifts

●

Meals

●

Entertainment

●

Travel and lodging

●

Personal services

●

Charitable donations

●

Business opportunities

●

Favors

●

Offers of employment

Facilitation payments are generally requested in connection with obtaining ordinary licenses, work permits, processing of visas and other similar customary governmental
services. Facilitating payments of a reasonable and customary amount paid to lower-level government officials in foreign countries to perform non- discretionary functions or
services which they are obligated to perform are not illegal under United States law as long as payments are customary in a particular country and are the only feasible way to
obtain government services or action to which Odyssey is legally entitled. However, such facilitating payments may not be legal under local law. Legal advice concerning any
such proposed payment must be sought in advance from, and be approved by, our CEO before any payments are made. All such payments must be accurately reflected on our
books.
Bribery and improper payments can also arise in situations that do not involve a government official. The exchange of appropriate gifts and entertainment is often a way to build
our business relationships. However, you must conduct business with customers, suppliers, and government agencies (including U.S. and non-U.S. governments) without giving
or accepting bribes including (but not limited to) commercial bribery and kickbacks.
●

Commercial bribery involves a situation where something of value is given to a current or prospective business partner with the intent to obtain business or influence
a business decision.

●

Kickbacks are agreements to return a sum of money to another party in exchange for making or arranging a business transaction.

You must avoid participating in commercial bribery and kickbacks, or even the appearance of it, in all of our business dealings. Even in locations where such activity may not,
technically speaking, be illegal, it is absolutely prohibited by our company policy.
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and other U.S. laws prohibit paying, offering, promising to pay (or authorizing to pay or offer) money or anything of value to a
foreign government official, politician or political party, for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of a such person in his or her official capacity, to induce said person
to do or omit any act in violation of his or her lawful duty, to obtain any improper advantage, or to induce said person to use his or her influence improperly to affect any act or
decision. We expect all employees, officers, agents, and independent contractors acting on behalf of Odyssey to strictly abide by these laws.
In essence, no employee shall make or promise to make, directly or indirectly, any payment of money or object of value to any foreign official of a government, political party,
or a candidate for political office for the purpose of inducing or influencing actions in any way to assist our company in obtaining or retaining business for or with Odyssey.
The term “foreign official” refers to any person acting in an official capacity for any of the following:
●

Any foreign government including any department, agency, military branch, court or legislature

●

Any partially or wholly-owned government entity, such as a nationalized corporation or industry

●

Any political party, including party officials or candidates

●

Employees of public international organizations (or any of their departments or agencies) such as The World Bank, the International Finance Corporation or the Red
Cross

●

Any member of a royal family
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Payments to a foreign official are considered corrupt when made for the purpose of influencing a foreign official to misuse his or her official capacity in a way that helps the
Company obtain or retain business or obtain legislation, regulation, or rulings that would benefit our business. Furthermore, the FCPA prohibits acts “in furtherance of” an
improper payments, such as arranging for funds to be available for the improper payment.
The FCPA also applies to payments to retain assets, such as an “under the table” payment to a tax official to settle a tax claim. If Odyssey cannot obtain a contract without
paying a bribe, you should report the matter to your supervisor and our CFO and walk away from the deal. Our reputation for integrity is more important than the profit from
any contract.
You should be alert to a possible FCPA violation if any of the following occur:
●

A request that a commission be paid in cash, in another name, or to an address in another country

●

Unexplained large expenses on a travel & entertainment expense report

●

An agent demanding a higher than normal commission for a transaction

●

Any agent or salesperson who says he or she is working with a government official to give our company the contract

If you have any questions about a payment, potential ownership of companies, or general questions about violations, contact our Head of Human Resources or CEO or Head of
the Audit Committee. If you become aware of any possible violations of this policy, it is your duty to promptly notify the CEO or Head of the Audit Committee or make a report
(can be anonymous) through the Hotline.
To help you, Odyssey has established the following guidelines:
●

Entertainment expenses for government officials must not be extravagant and in any event must not exceed the amount permitted by the customs of the official’s
country. Extraordinary expenses are prohibited without advance written approval from the Audit Committee.

●

Ordinary Odyssey promotional materials may be given to government officials, if this conforms to the customs of the official’s country. Gifts are prohibited without
advance written approval from the Audit Committee.

●

Travel and lodging expenses may be paid for officials who wish to visit an Odyssey corporation facility in the performance of their official duties. When arranging
the visit, you should ask the official, before making travel plans, whether the official’s government will permit payments of these types of expenses. In every case,
you should obtain advance written approval from our Audit Committee for such payment.

●

No contributions of money or services may be made on Odyssey’s behalf to political parties or candidates for public office. This does not prevent employees from
taking part in political activities. However, they may only do so as individuals and not in Odyssey’s name.

●

Before hiring a representative who is expected to have dealings with government official or government-controlled company, the hiring manager must be satisfied
that the representative will not engage in any improper conduct. The hiring manager should consider such factors as the person’s reputation, the reasonableness of his
compensation, the absence of secret partners, and the relationship (if any) between the representative and official. In case of doubt as to the scope of the inquiry, our
Audit Committee will determine what needs to be done.

●

Contracts (written or oral) with representatives should be reviewed in advance with our Audit Committee. In some cases, it may also be appropriate to request
the right to audit the representative’s books to determine compliance with FCPA.

●

In many countries, it is lawful for officials to own private businesses. The policy does not prohibit legitimate relationships by Odyssey with these businesses.
However, great care must be taken to avoid even the appearance of impropriety. Our Audit Committee should be fully informed in advance of any such proposed
relationships.

●

Payments to tax advisors or lawyer for tax settlements must be reviewed in advance by Odyssey’s Chief Financial Officer(or any person performing such duties)
or Chair of the Audit Committee where these payments exceed normal hourly charges.
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The FCPA imposes fines and severe criminal penalties both firms and individuals for violations. Odyssey cannot pay fines imposed on individuals. Finally, a person or firm
found to be in violation of the FCPA may be barred from doing business with the Federal Government.
Gifts and Entertainment
Modest gifts, favors, and entertainment are often used to strengthen business relationships. We believe that no gift, favor, or entertainment should be accepted or provided if it
will obligate, or appear to obligate, the receiver.
The giving or accepting of inappropriate, lavish or repeated gifts, or other benefits is always prohibited, even if acceptable by local custom. Similarly, requesting or soliciting
gifts or services, or requesting contributions from vendors, suppliers or other business partners for yourself or for Odyssey, is prohibited, except with regard to charitable
organizations specifically sanctioned or supported by the Company. The only permitted exception is providing or accepting normal sales promotion items, occasional meals, or
other non-cash items not exceeding US$500.00, provided that the value of the gift is in line with accepted business practices and could not be construed as improperly
influencing good business judgment.
In general, unless you have supervisory approval you should not provide any gift or entertainment to customers, suppliers, or others that you would not be able to accept from a
customer, supplier, or other applicable parties. Our employees, officers, directors, family members, agents or agent’s family member are prohibited to offer, accept, or receive a
gift or entertainment if it:
●

Is in cash

●

Is not consistent with customary business practices

●

Is extravagant in value

●

Is a promise to make or a loan or investment of any kind in connection with a business transaction,

●

Can be construed as a kickback, bribe or payoff in violation of any law, including a bribe to a government official in violation of the FCPA

●

Violates any other laws or regulations

●

Could cause embarrassment to or discredit our company if disclosed

Specific laws apply to interactions with government officials and employees. For example, the U.S. and other countries have strict laws that prevent providing anything,
including food or beverages, to a government employee. When doing business with government agents, employees, or officials be sure you understand applicable laws as well
as local customs and norms. Please discuss with our Chief Financial Officer (or any person performing such duties) or Chair of the Audit Committee any gifts or proposed gifts
that you are not certain are appropriate.
Trade Compliance (Export/Import Control)
We comply with all United States federal import and export laws and regulations. These laws restrict transfers, exports, and sales of products or technical data from the United
States to certain prescribed countries and persons as well as re-export of certain such items from one non-U.S. location to another. Many countries in which we operate have
similar laws and regulations. If you are involved in importing and exporting goods or data, you are responsible for knowing and following import and export compliance laws.
Government Customers/Contracting
When doing business with federal, state, or local governments, we must ensure all statements and representation to government procurement officials are accurate and truthful,
including costs and other financial data. If your assignment directly involves the government or if you are responsible for someone working with the government on behalf of
Odyssey, be alert to the special rules and regulations applicable to our government customers. Additional steps should be taken to understand and comply with these
requirements. Any conduct that could appear improper should be avoided when dealing with government officials and employees.
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Payments, gifts, or other favors given to a government official or employee are strictly prohibited as it may appear to be a means of influence or a bribe. Failure to avoid these
activities may expose the government agency, the government employee, our company, and you to substantial fines and penalties. For these reasons, any sale of our products or
services to any federal, state, or local government entity must be in accordance with our company policy.
Maintain Accurate Financial Records / Internal Accounting Controls
Accurate and reliable records are crucial to our business. We are committed to maintaining accurate company records and accounts in order to ensure legal and ethical business
practices and to prevent fraudulent activities. We are responsible for helping ensure that the information we record, process, and analyze is accurate, and recorded in accordance
with applicable legal or accounting principles. We also need to ensure that it is made secure and readily available to those with a need to know the information on a timely basis.
Company records include booking information, payroll, timecards, travel and expense reports, e-mails, accounting and financial data, measurement and performance records,
electronic data files, and all other records maintained in the ordinary course of our business. All company records must be complete, accurate, and reliable in all material
respects. There is never a reason to make false or misleading entries. Undisclosed or unrecorded funds, payments, or receipts are inconsistent with our business practices and are
prohibited.
Investors count on us to use and provide reliable information so they can make good decisions. The following are examples of activities not allowed:
●

Maintaining undisclosed or unrecorded funds or assets for any purpose

●

Making, or asking others to make, false, misleading, or artificial entries on an expense report, time sheet or any other report

●

Giving false quality or safety results

●

Recording false sales or recording sales outside of the time period they actually occurred

●

Understating or overstating known liabilities and assets

●

Delaying the entry of items that should be current expenses

●

Hiding the true nature of any transaction

●

Providing inaccurate or misleading information for company benefit programs

Employees who contribute to or prepare Odyssey’s financial statements, public filings, submissions or communications should do so in accordance with the following
guidelines:
●

All accounting records, as well as reports produced from those records, must be prepared in accordance with the laws of each applicable jurisdiction

●

All records must fairly reflect the transactions or occurrences to which they relate

●

All records must fairly reflect, in reasonable detail, the Odyssey’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses

●

Odyssey’s accounting records must not contain any false or intentionally misleading entries.

●

All transactions must be supported by documentation in reasonable detail and recorded in the proper account and in the proper accounting period

●

No information should be concealed from independent auditors

●

Compliance with Odyssey’s system of internal accounting controls is required

Business records and communications often become public, and employees should avoid exaggeration, derogatory remarks, guesswork or inappropriate characterizations of
people and companies that can be misunderstood. This applies equally to e-mail, internal memos and formal reports.
Be sure that any document you prepare or sign is correct and truthful.

We must ensure that the accounting and financial records of our company meet the highest standards of accuracy and completeness. Reporting accurate, complete and
understandable information about our business, earnings, and financial condition is an essential responsibility of each employee.
It is also your responsibility as an employee of the Company to make open and full disclosure to, and cooperate fully with, outside accountants in connection with any
audit or review of the Company’s financial statements. If you have reason to believe that any of the Company’s books and records are being maintained in a
materially inaccurate or incomplete manner or that someone has made a misleading, incomplete, or false statement to an accountant, auditor, attorney or
government official in connection with any investigation, audit, examination or filing with any government agency or regulatory body, you are required to report this
immediately to the Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors or to the Hotline.
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Manage Records Properly
Our records are our corporate memory, providing evidence of actions and decisions and containing data and information critical to the continuity of our business. Records
consist of all forms of information created or received by Odyssey, whether originals or copies, regardless of media. Examples of company records include paper documents, email, electronic files stored on disk, tape or any other medium (e.g., CD, DVD, USB data storage devices) that contains information about our company or our business
activities.
All records are the property of Odyssey and should be retained in accordance with our policies or practices. We are responsible for properly labeling and carefully handling
confidential, sensitive, and proprietary information and securing it when not in use.
We do not destroy official company documents or records before the retention time expires, but do destroy documents when they no longer have useful business purpose.
Avoiding Conflicts of Interest
We have an obligation to make sound business decisions in the best interests of Odyssey without the influence of personal interests or gain. The Company requires you to avoid
any conflict, or even the appearance of a conflict, between your personal interests and the interests of the Company. A conflict exists when your interests, duties, obligations or
activities, or those of a family member are, or may be, in conflict or incompatible with the interests of Odyssey. Conflicts of interest expose our personal judgment and that of
the Company to increased scrutiny and criticism and can undermine our credibility and the trust that others place in us.
Should any business or personal conflict of interest arise, or even appear to arise, you should disclose it immediately to our Head of Human Resources or CEO for review. In
some instances, disclosure may not be sufficient and we may require that the conduct be stopped or that actions taken be reversed where possible. As it is impossible to describe
every potential conflict, we rely on you to exercise sound judgment, to seek advice when appropriate, and to adhere to the highest standards of integrity.
Directors and executive officers must seek determinations and prior authorizations or approvals of potential conflicts of interest exclusively from the Audit Committee.
Every employee, officer, and director of the Company is expected to act in the best interests of Odyssey and to protect our reputation from any conflicts. We should also be
sensitive to even the appearance of a conflict. This means that employees, officers, and directors should avoid any investment, interest, association, or activity that may cause
others to doubt their or the Company’s fairness or integrity, or that may interfere with their ability to perform job duties objectively and effectively. Our management is
responsible to ensure that Odyssey’s interests are protected from conflicts of interest.
What are some activities that could represent conflicts of interest?
●

Owning, directly or indirectly, a significant financial interest in any entity that does business, seeks to do business, or competes with our company

●

Holding a second job that interferes with your ability to do your regular job

●

Employing, consulting, or serving on the board of a competitor, customer, supplier, or other service provider

●

Hiring a supplier, distributor, or other agent managed or owned by a relative or close friend

●

Soliciting or accepting any cash, gifts, entertainment, or benefits that are more than modest in value from any competitor, supplier, or customer

●

Taking personal advantage of corporate opportunities
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Loans by the Company to, or guarantees by the Company of obligations of, employees or their family members are of special concern and could constitute improper personal
benefits to the recipients of such loans or guarantees, depending on the facts and circumstances. Loans by the Company to, or guarantees by the Company of obligations of, any
director or executive officer or their family members are expressly prohibited.
Insider Trading
You are prohibited from trading or enabling others to trade Odyssey stock or stock of another company, such as a customer, supplier, competitor, potential acquisition or
alliance while in possession of material nonpublic information (“inside information”) about that company. Please consult our “Insider Trading and Communication Policy” for
information regarding the prohibition against and your obligations with respect to insider trading.
Disclosure
The Company’s periodic reports and other documents filed with the SEC, including all financial statements and other financial information, must comply with applicable federal
securities laws and SEC rules. Each director, officer and employee who contributes in any way to the preparation or verification of the Company’s financial statements and
other financial information must ensure that the Company’s books, records and accounts are accurately maintained. Each director, officer and employee must cooperate fully
with the Company’s accounting and internal audit departments, as well as the Company’s independent public accountants and counsel.
Relationships with Regulators
Given the highly regulated environment in which we operate, we must be vigilant in meeting our responsibilities to comply with relevant laws and regulations. We expect full
cooperation of our employees with our regulators and to respond to their requests for information in an appropriate and timely manner. We should be alert to any changes in the

law or new requirements that may affect our business unit and be aware that new products or services may be subject to special legal and/or regulatory requirements.
If we become aware of any significant regulatory or legal concerns, we must bring them to the attention of our supervisor, manager, or the legal department. We are committed
to maintaining an open, constructive and professional relationship with regulators on matters of regulatory policy, submissions, compliance, and product performance.
Communicating with External Parties
Odyssey employees are not authorized to speak with the media, investors, and analysts on behalf of our company unless authorized by ourCEO.
Environmental Stewardship
We are committed to conducting business in an environmentally responsible manner and strive to improve our performance to benefit our employees, customers, communities,
stockholders, and the environment. We use energy wisely and efficiently and employ technology to minimize any risk of environmental impact. Employees whose work affects
environmental compliance must be completely familiar with the permits, laws, and regulations that apply to their work. All employees are responsible for making sure that
Odyssey business is conducted in compliance with all applicable laws and in a way that is protective of the environment.
Order of Precedence
This Code is intended to be supplemented by Odyssey policies and procedures. In the event of any conflict with such policies and procedures, employees should follow the
Code.
Page 16

EXHIBIT 99.2
ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
(As adopted by the Board of Directors effective as of June 22, 2021)
Purpose
The purpose of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) is
to assist the Board of Directors in its oversight of:
(a)

the integrity of the Company’s financial statements;

(b)

the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c)

the qualification, independence, and performance of the Company’s independent auditors; and

(d)

the performance of the Company’s internal audit function.

Membership
The Committee shall consist of at least two members of the Board of Directors, with the exact number to be determined by the Board of Directors. Committee members shall be
appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors, having given consideration to the recommendations, if any, from the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
(if any). Also having given consideration to the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, if any, the Board of Directors shall designate a
Chairman of the Committee, provided that if the Board of Directors does not so designate a Chairman, the members of the Committee, by a majority vote, may designate a
Chairman. The Chairman (or in his or her absence a member designated by the Chairman) shall preside at all meetings of the Committee.
Committee members may be removed, without cause, by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board of Directors at any time. Any Committee member may resign
effective upon giving oral or written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the Corporate Secretary or the Board of Directors (unless the notice specifies a later time for the
effectiveness of such resignation).
A majority of the members of the Committee shall meet the independence standards established by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Each member of the
Committee shall also meet any additional independence standards that may be established from time to time by the Board of Directors or the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee, if any. The Board of Directors shall endeavor to appoint at least one member to the Committee who is an “audit committee financial expert” as such
term may be defined from time to time by the SEC.

Resources and Authority
The Committee shall have the resources and appropriate authority, without seeking the approval of the Board of Directors, to discharge its responsibilities, including the
authority to retain, at the Company’s expense, outside legal, accounting or other consultants to advise the Committee and to authorize or conduct investigations into any matters
within the scope of its responsibilities and to approve related fees and retention terms. The Committee may request any director, officer or employee of the Company, the
Company’s outside counsel or independent auditors or such other persons as it deems appropriate to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or
consultants to, the Committee. The Committee may also exclude from its meetings any persons it deems appropriate in order to carry out its responsibilities. The Committee
shall have full access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company in connection with the discharge of its responsibilities.
Delegation to Subcommittee
The Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting of one or more members of the Committee when appropriate, including the authority to grant preapprovals of audit and permitted non-audit services, as are provided in the resolutions of the Committee, except to the extent such delegation is limited by applicable law or
listing standard. The actions of any such subcommittee shall be presented to the full Committee at the next scheduled Committee meeting.
Duties and Responsibilities
The following shall be the common recurring duties and responsibilities of the Committee in carrying out its oversight function. These duties and responsibilities are set forth
below as a guide to the Committee with the understanding that the Committee may alter or supplement them as appropriate under the circumstances to the extent permitted by
applicable law, regulation or listing standard:
Independent Auditors
●

Be directly responsible for the appointment, retention, removal, compensation and oversight of the work of the independent auditors (including the resolution of
disagreements between the Company’s management and the independent auditors regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report
or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company. The independent auditors shall report directly to the Committee.

●

Have the sole authority to review in advance and grant any appropriate pre-approvals of all audit services to be provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by the
independent auditors and all permitted non-audit services (including the fees and other terms of engagement) and, if desired, establish policies and procedures for
review and pre- approval by the Committee of such services.
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●

Obtain, review and discuss, at least annually, a report by the independent auditors describing (i) the independent auditors’ internal quality-control procedures and (ii)
any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality control review, or peer review, of the independent auditors, or by any inquiry or investigation by
governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding five years, with respect to one or more independent audits carried out by the independent auditors, and
any steps taken to deal with those issues.

●

Review any report by the independent auditors concerning: (i) all critical accounting policies and practices to be used; (ii) alternative treatments of financial
information within generally accepted accounting principles that have been discussed with management, ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and
treatments, and the treatment preferred by the independent auditors; and (iii) any other material written communications between the independent auditors and the
Company’s management.

●

Review and discuss with the independent auditors, on an annual basis, all relationships the independent auditors have with the Company in order to evaluate the
independent auditors’ continued independence, and receive from the independent auditors on an annual basis a written statement (consistent with applicable PCAOB
requirements for independent accountant communications with the audit committees concerning independence) regarding the auditors’ independence.

●

Evaluate the independent auditor’s qualifications, performance and independence, including the review and evaluation of the lead partner of the independent auditor,
taking into account the opinions of management and whether there should be a rotation of the independent auditors in order to assure ongoing auditor independence.

●

Meet with the independent auditors prior to the audit for each fiscal year to review the planning, staffing and scope of the audit.
Oversight of Company Financial Statements and Internal Controls

●

Review and discuss the Company’s annual audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements with management and the independent auditors, including
the Company’s disclosures under the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s
reports filed with the SEC.

●

As appropriate, the Committee shall review with management and the independent auditors, in separate meetings if the Committee deems it necessary: (i) any analysis
or other written communications prepared by management and/or the independent auditors setting forth significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in
connection with the preparation of the financial statements, including analyses of the effect of alternative GAAP methods on the financial statements; (ii) any major
issues regarding accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including any significant changes in the Company’s selection or application of
accounting principles; and (iii) the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives or actions, as well as off-balance sheet structures, on the financial statements of the
Company.
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●

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditors the Company’s earnings press releases, and discuss generally with management the nature of any
additional financial information or earnings guidance to be provided publicly and/or to ratings agencies.

●

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by various Statements on Auditing Standards relating to the
conduct of the audit, other significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of the Company’s financial statements, and
any other matters communicated to the Committee by the independent auditors.

●

Based on its review and discussions with management and the independent auditors, recommend to the Board of Directors whether the Company’s audited financial
statements should be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

●

Review with the independent auditors any difficulties the independent auditors encountered in the course of its audit, including any restrictions on the scope of the
independent auditors’ activities or on access to requested information, any significant disagreements with management and management’s response.

●

Review with the independent auditors any management letter provided by the independent auditors and the Company’s responses to that letter.

●

Review and discuss with management and the independent auditors the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
(including any significant deficiencies, material weaknesses and significant changes in internal control over financial reporting reported to the Committee by
management and any fraud involving management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and any
special audit steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies) and the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures.

●

Review with the Board of Directors any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s compliance
with legal or regulatory requirements and the performance and independence of the Company’s independent auditors.
With Respect to Other Matters

●

Review disclosures made to the Committee by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer during their certification process for periodic
reports filed with the SEC about (i) any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting or material weaknesses therein,
(ii) any fraud involving management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting or (iii) the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures.

●

Prepare the report of the Audit Committee required by the rules of the SEC to be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement.
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●

Periodically, meet separately with management and with the independent auditors.

●

Discuss with management the Company’s major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures, including the
Company’s policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management.

●

Establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by the Company’s employees of concerns regarding accounting or auditing matters.

●

Establish guidelines for the hiring of employees and former employees of the independent auditors.

●

Review and consider “related person transactions” under, and take other actions contemplated by, the Company’s Related Person Transactions Policy.

●

Review any proposed waiver of the Code of Business Conduct, if any, and make a recommendation to the Board of Directors with respect to the disposition of any
proposed waiver.

●

Make regular reports on the activities of the Committee to the Board of Directors.

Evaluation of the Committee Charter and the Committee
●

Review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed changes to the Board of Directors. The Committee also shall undertake an
annual evaluation assessing its performance with respect to its duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, which evaluation shall be reported to the Board of
Directors. The self-assessment shall be conducted in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate.

●

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, if any, shall also undertake an annual review and reassessment of this Charter and recommend any changes
to the Board of Directors.

Clarification of Audit Committee’s Role
While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, the Committee’s role is one of oversight. It is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct
audits or to determine that the Company’s financial statements and disclosures are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and applicable rules and regulations. These are the responsibilities of management and the independent auditors. In adopting this Charter, the Board of Directors acknowledges
that the Committee members are not providing any expert or special assurance as to the Company’s financial statements or any professional certification as to the independent
auditors’ work or auditing standards. Each member of the Committee is entitled to rely on the integrity of those persons and organizations within and outside the Company that
provide information to the Committee and the accuracy and completeness of the financial and other information provided to the Committee by such persons and organizations
absent actual knowledge to the contrary.
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EXHIBIT 99.3
ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE CHARTER
(As approved by the Board of Directors on February 9th , 2022)
Purpose
The purpose of the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Odyssey Semiconductor Technologies, Inc. (the
“Company”) shall be to assist the Board of Directors in meeting its responsibilities with regard to oversight and determination of executive compensation and to review and
make recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to major compensation plans, policies and programs of the Company.
Membership
Except as otherwise in accordance with Rule 5605(d)(2)(B) and the phased approach set forth in Rule 5615(b)(1) of the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations (“NASDAQ”) Listing Rules, the Committee shall consist of at least two members of the Board of Directors, with the exact number to be determined by the Board of
Directors. Committee members shall be appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors having given consideration to the recommendations, if any, from the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee. Also having given consideration to the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, if any, the Board of
Directors shall designate a Chairman of the Committee, provided that if the Board of Directors does not so designate a Chairman the members of the Committee, by a majority
vote, may designate a Chairman. The Chairman (or in his or her absence a member designated by the Chairman) shall preside at all meetings of the Committee.
Committee members may be removed, without cause, by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board of Directors at any time. Any Committee member may resign
effective upon giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the Corporate Secretary or the Board of Directors (unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness
of such resignation).
Each member of the Committee shall meet the independence standards that may be established from time to time by the NASDAQ, as well as any independence standards that
may be established from time to time by the Board of Directors or the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
Resources and Authority
The Committee shall have the resources and appropriate authority, without seeking the approval of the Board of Directors, to discharge its responsibilities, including the sole
discretionary authority to select, retain or obtain the advice of, terminate and approve, at the Company’s expense, outside compensation, legal, accounting or other consultants
or advisors, with appropriate funding provided by the Company for payment of reasonable compensation to such consultants and advisers and other administrative expenses,
and to authorize or conduct investigations into any matters within the scope of its responsibilities and to approve related fees and retention terms. The Committee may request
any director, officer or employee of the Company, the Company’s outside counsel or independent auditors or such other persons as it deems appropriate to attend a meeting of
the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee. The Committee may also exclude from its meetings any persons it deems appropriate in order
to carry out its responsibilities. The Committee shall have full access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company in connection with the discharge of its
responsibilities.

Delegation to Subcommittee
The Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting of one or more members of the Committee when appropriate, as are provided in the resolutions of
the Committee, except to the extent such delegation is limited by applicable law or listing standard. The actions of any such subcommittee shall be presented to the full
Committee at the next scheduled Committee meeting.
Duties and Responsibilities
The following shall be the common recurring duties and responsibilities of the Committee in carrying out its oversight function. These duties and responsibilities are set forth
below as a guide to the Committee with the understanding that the Committee may alter or supplement them as appropriate under the circumstances to the extent permitted by
applicable law, regulation or listing standard. The Committee shall meet as often as necessary to carry out its responsibilities.
The Committee shall:
●

Review and approve annually the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the other executive
officers.

●

Evaluate the performance of the CEO and the executive officers of the Company in light of such goals and objectives at least annually and communicate the results to
the Board of Directors and to the CEO.

●

Based on the evaluations referred to above, establish the compensation levels for the CEO and the other executive officers of the Company, including, as
applicable, (i) base salary, (ii) bonus, (iii) long-term incentive and equity compensation, and (iv) any other compensation, perquisites, and special or supplemental
benefits. In evaluating and determining compensation of the CEO and other executive officers, the Committee shall consider the results of the most recent
stockholder advisory vote on executive compensation (“Say on Pay Vote”) required by Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchange Act”), if applicable. The CEO cannot be present during any voting or deliberations by the Committee
on his or her compensation.

●

In consultation with the CEO, review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding guidelines for the review of the performance and the
establishment of compensation policies for all other employees of the Company.

●

Establish and modify the terms and conditions of employment of the CEO and other executive officers of the Company, by contract or otherwise.
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●

Be directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any legal, accounting or other consultants or advisers, including
compensation consultants, retained by the Committee.

●

Prior to the retention of any compensation consultant or outside adviser, and from time to time as the Committee deems appropriate, assess the independence of such
consultant or adviser, taking into consideration all factors relevant to such consultant’s or adviser’s independence, including factors specified in by NASDAQ and
assess whether any such consultant or advisor has any conflict of interest in accordance with Item 407(e)(3)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The Committee shall ensure that
any disclosure required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or NASDAQ related to the foregoing is included in the
Company’s proxy statement.

●

Determine, within parameters that may be established by the independent and disinterested members of the entire Board of Directors, the provisions of any contracts
for the CEO and other executive officers of the Company that will govern the situations in which severance payments will be due upon a change in control.

●

Review periodically with the Chairman of the Board and the CEO the succession plan relating to the CEO and the management development plan and make
recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to such plans.

●

Administer the stock and other equity-based compensation plans of the Company (other than with respect to equity awards to members of the Board of Directors,
which shall be considered by the entire Board of Directors) in accordance with the terms of such plans and provide necessary approval in order to qualify the
Company’s equity compensation plans for various exemptions that may be established by the SEC under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

●

Oversee the administration of the Company’s other employee benefit plans.

●

Maintain sole discretionary authority to interpret provisions of the Company’s executive compensation plans.

●

Establish all rules necessary or appropriate for implementing and conducting the Company’s executive compensation plans.

●

Determine, as applicable in connection with the Company’s stock plans, such matters as: eligibility for participation; persons to receive awards; the amount, form and
other terms and conditions of awards; the form of agreements pertaining to such awards; the manner and form of deferral elections; and, when appropriate, the
authorization of the Company’s purchase of its stock for allocation to the accounts of persons to whom awards have been made under such plans. The Committee may
delegate to the CEO or to the executive officers who are members of the Board of Directors the authority to carry out all of the powers of the Committee to grant
equity awards under the Company’s stock plans to employees or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary thereof who are not members of the Board of
Directors, the CEO or executive officers of the Company; provided, that no such grant or award shall exceed the maximum number of shares that may be awarded to
individuals and/or in the aggregate in any fiscal quarter or year as the Committee shall direct from time to time, and all such grants and awards shall be at an exercise
or grant price per share at least equal to fair market value on the date of such grant or award.
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●

Review the Company’s incentive compensation and other equity-based plans and practices and recommend changes in such plans and practices to the Board of
Directors. In reviewing incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans, including whether to adopt, amend or terminate any such plans, the Committee shall
consider the results of the most recent Say on Pay Vote, if applicable.

●

Approve equity compensation plans and the grant of equity awards not subject to stockholder approval under applicable listing standards.

●

Make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the fees and other compensation to be paid to non-employee members of the Board of Directors for
their services as directors and as members of committees of the Board of Directors.

●

Review and consider for recommendation to the Board of Directors stock ownership guidelines applicable to non-employee members of the Board of Directors and
officers, review on an annual basis compliance with any such stock ownership guidelines and make recommendations as appropriate.

●

Review and discuss with management the Company’s Compensation Disclosure and Analysis (“CD&A”), if applicable, and, based on that review and discussion,
recommend to the Board of Directors whether the Company’s CD&A should be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement or annual report on Form 10-K.

●

Prepare the Compensation Committee report as required by rules of the SEC for inclusion in the Company’s annual proxy statement or annual report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC. If applicable, review and recommend to the Board for approval the frequency with which the Company will conduct Say on Pay Votes, taking into
account the results of the most recent stockholder advisory vote on frequency of Say on Pay Votes required by Section 14A of the Exchange Act, and review and
approve the proposals regarding the Say on Pay Vote to be included in the Company’s proxy statement. Evaluate Say on Pay vote outcomes (if applicable) and other
shareholder input on executive compensation pay programs as part of the Committee’s ongoing assessment of executive compensation programs and policies.

Review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed changes to the Board of Directors. The Committee also shall undertake an annual
evaluation assessing its performance with respect to its duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, which evaluation shall be reported to the Board of Directors. The
self-assessment shall be conducted in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate. Make regular reports on the activities of the Committee to the Board of Directors.
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EXHIBIT 99.4
ODYSSEY SEMICONDUCTOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER
(As approved by the Board of Directors February 9 th , 2022)
Purpose
The purpose of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Odyssey Semiconductor
Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) shall be:
(a)

to identify, evaluate, recruit and recommend to the Board of Directors for consideration and approval individuals qualified to be members of the Board
of Directors;

(b)

to develop and recommend to the Board of Directors a set of corporate governance principles applicable to the Company; and

(c)

to oversee matters of corporate governance, including the monitoring of a process to assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors.

Membership and Procedures
Except as otherwise in accordance with Rule 5605(e)(3) and the phased approach set forth in Rule 5615(b)(1) of the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations (the “NASDAQ”) Listing Rules, the Committee shall consist of at least two members of the Board of Directors, with the exact number being determined by the
Board of Directors. Committee members shall be appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors having given consideration to the recommendations, if any, from the
Committee. Also having given consideration to the recommendation, if any, from the Committee, the Board of Directors shall designate a Chairman of the Committee, provided
that if the Board of Directors does not so designate a Chairman, the members of the Committee, by a majority vote, may designate a Chairman. The Chair (or in his or her
absence a member designated by the Chair) shall preside at all meetings of the Committee.
Committee members may be removed, without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors at any time. Any Committee member may resign effective
upon giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the Corporate Secretary or the Board of Directors (unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness of such
resignation).
Each member of the Committee shall meet the independence standards that may be established from time to time by the NASDAQ, as well as any independence standards that
may be established from time to time by the Board of Directors or the Committee.
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Resources and Authority
The Committee shall have the resources and appropriate authority, without seeking the approval of the Board of Directors, to discharge its duties and responsibilities, including
the authority to select, retain, terminate and approve the fees and other retention terms of outside search firms and other consultants or advisors to assist the Committee or a
member of the Committee engaged in conducting the Committee’s duties and responsibilities as it deems appropriate. The Committee may request any director, officer or
employee of the Company, the Company’s outside counsel or independent auditors or such other persons as it deems appropriate to attend a meeting of the Committee or to
meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee.
The Committee may also exclude from its meetings any persons it deems appropriate in order to carry out its responsibilities. The Committee shall have full access to all books,
records, facilities and personnel of the Company in connection with the discharge of its responsibilities.
Delegation to Subcommittee
The Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting of one or more members of the Committee when appropriate, as are provided in the resolutions of
the Committee, except to the extent such delegation is limited by applicable law or listing standard. The actions of any such subcommittee shall be presented to the full
Committee at the next scheduled Committee meeting.
Duties and Responsibilities
The following shall be the common recurring duties and responsibilities of the Committee. These duties and responsibilities are set forth below as a guide to the Committee with
the understanding that the Committee may alter or supplement them as appropriate under the circumstances to the extent permitted by applicable law, regulation or listing
standard.
●

Assume a leadership role for the development of the Company’s approach to corporate governance issues.

●

Develop and recommend to the Board of Directors corporate governance guidelines applicable to the Company and thereafter periodically review and recommend to
the Board of Directors any changes deemed appropriate by the Committee.

●

Evaluate and make recommendations regarding the size and composition of the Board of Directors.

●

Make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the size and composition of committees of the Board of Directors and the chairman for each committee,
with consideration of the desires of individual members of the Board of Directors.

●

Monitor compliance with Board of Directors and Board of Directors committee membership criteria.

●

Evaluate candidates for nomination to the Board of Directors, including those recommended by stockholders.

●

Establish procedures for the submission and consideration of candidates for nomination to the Board of Directors recommended by stockholders.
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●

Identify, evaluate, recruit and recommend to the Board of Directors for consideration and approval the individuals to constitute the nominees of the Board of Directors
for election as directors at the annual meeting of stockholders or to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors.

●

Oversee the self-evaluation process of the Board of Directors and each of its committees.

●

Review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company and the charters of other
committees of the Board of Directors as may then be in effect.

●

Develop and recommend to the Board of Directors the qualification standards for directors and committee members, including defining specific criteria for
independence, and from time to time or as necessary recommend to the Board of Directors any changes deemed appropriate by the Committee.

●

Develop and recommend to the Board of Directors a code of business conduct and a code of ethics applicable to members of the Board of Directors, officers and
employees of the Company that complies with applicable securities laws and regulations and stock market rules, and from time to time or as necessary recommend to
the Board of Directors any revisions to such code that the Committee deems appropriate or to ensure compliance with such laws, regulations and rules.

●

Review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter regularly and recommend any proposed changes to the Board of Directors. The Committee also shall undertake a
regular evaluation assessing its performance with respect to its duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, which evaluation shall be reported to the Board of
Directors. The self-assessment shall be conducted in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate.

●

Review and reassess regularly the Insider Trading and Communications Policy, and any such policies as the Board of Directors shall determine and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board of Directors.

●

Make regular reports on the activities of the Committee to the Board of Directors.

●

Oversee the Company’s strategy on corporate social responsibility and sustainability, including evaluating the impact of Company practices on communities and
individuals, and to develop and recommend to the Board of Directors for approval policies and procedures relating to the Company’s corporate social responsibility and
sustainability activities.
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Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward Securities

Security Type
Equity
Fees to Be
Paid

Equity
Equity

Security
Class
Title(1)

Fee
Proposed
Calculation
Maximum
or Carry
Offering
Forward
Amount
Price
Rule
Registered Per Unit

Shares of
Rule 457(o)
common
stock, par
value $.0001
per share (the
“Common
Stock”) (3)
Underwriter’s Rule 457(g)
Warrants (4)
Shares of
Rule 457(g)
Common
Stock
underlying
Underwriter’s
Warrants (5)

Maximum
Aggregate
Offering Price
Newly Registered Securities

Amount of
Carry
Registration Forward
Fee Rate
Fee
Form Type

$11,500,000.00(2)

$1,066.05

-

-

$632,500.00

$58.63

Filing Fee
Previously Paid
Carry
In Connection
Forward with Unsold
Carry
Initial
Securities
Forward
effective to be Carried
File Number
date
Forward

Fees
Previously
Paid
Carry Forward Securities
Carry
Forward
Securities
Total Offering Amounts
Total Fees Previously Paid
Total Fee Offsets
Net Fee Due

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)

$12,132,500.00

$1,124.68
$1,124.68

Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The securities being registered hereunder include such indeterminate number
of additional shares of common stock as may be issued after the date hereof as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions
Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the amount of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act.
Includes shares of Common Stock which may be issued upon exercise of the underwriter’s 45-day over-allotment option.
We have agreed to issue to the underwriter warrants to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock in the aggregate equal to five percent (5%) of the shares of
Common Stock to be issued and sold in this offering (including any shares of Common Stock sold upon exercise of the over-allotment option). The Underwriter’s
Warrants are exercisable for a price per share equal to 110% of the public offering price. The warrants are exercisable at any time and from time to time, in whole or in
part, during the four-and-a-half-year period commencing six (6) months from the closing of the offering. See “Underwriting.” In accordance with Rule 457(g) under the
Securities Act, no separate registration fee is required with respect to the Underwriter’s Warrants registered hereby.
As estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(g) under the Securities Act, the proposed maximum aggregate offering price of
the Underwriter’s warrants is $632,500, which is equal to 110% of $575,000 (which is 5% of $11,500,000).

